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M E

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
WBEETIIAT HK$ Million 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
kR Shareholders’ funds 19,045 20,445 21817 25,062 25,435
{&lBES Subordinated notes 5,391 5,279 7,146 5,487 5,449
EPHER Deposits from customers 140,916 149,264 152,436 161,082 172,410
BEINERE Certificates of deposit issued 6,10 6,232 6,560 7,184 6,535
Fres Total deposits 147,026 155,496 158,996 168,266 178,945
BEGEBELEER)  Totalliabilties (including subordinated notes) 177,290 186,883 195,555 194,101 205,309
REER(TREESEE)  Advances to customers (excluding trade bills) 105,230 109,625 113,655 119,262 128,628
EEBE Total assets 201,408 212,792 223,243 225,538 237,301
R R (1) Profit attributable to shareholders (Note 1) 1,578 1,634 1,645 1,574 1,915
PERERSE Total dividend distribution 419 442 442 2,664 476
LB HKS
FRERBF (71) Basic earnings per share (Note 1) 4.83 4.88 491 470 5,72
BRRE Dividends per share
— R R R - Interim and proposed final 1.25 1.32 1.32 1.35 1.47
53 - Special - - - 6.60 -
s Note
1. 2017 F 2 A ERIR B REE S TS - 1. The financial information for the year 2017 is from continuing operations.

KIerEBEER AT 2018F F 1R



200,000

180,000

160,000

140,000

120,000

100,000

80,000

60,000

40,000

20,000

0

28,000
26,000
24,000
22,000
20,000
18,000
16,000
14,000
12,000
10,000

8,000

6,000

4,000

2,000

BEFER/ FRAH

Advances to customers / Total deposits

BHEB T HKS Million

0
<
Cl
H B
N -
<<
|||i %
‘i ﬁﬁ
Yo}
14 15 16 17 18

EFER(TRIEEFHRR) - TFk4ags
Total deposits

Advances to customers
(excluding trade bills)

BRES
Shareholders’ funds
BEBIT HK$ Million

14 15 16 17 18

BRES

Shareholders’ funds

B2
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BEEHAE
Total assets
BEB T HKS Million

260,000
240,000

220,000

223,243
225,538
237,301

200,000

212,792

180,000

@
o
~
=
o
1Y

160,000
140,000
120,000
100,000
80,000
60,000
40,000

20,000

0
14 15 16 17 18

- AEME
Total assets

BRELRF / BRRE
(FEFEEFIRE)

Basic earnings per share / Dividends
per share (excluding special dividend)

BT HKS
6
5
4
3
2
1
0
14 15 16 17 18
- BRERE - BREKRREF
Dividends per share Basic earnings per share

DAH SING FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101°
1010100101011100111
0100011010110010711
00111010110000101¢

013100101011100711
0100011010110010111
1001110101100001011

10001011010110070



100111010001001110
1101001170001010100
1011011001110100010
101110101007110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
1011101070011100100
110011011001110100

AH ke 2

CORPORATE INFORMATION

AR EREBERA A
BExg

RS
E
EFEEIERITHARE,
FiRE

FITTIARZ e S BRI 5 R 2B

BUFHTES

SEM
PRBIR
REE
LONEdES

Bk

—

sEE
RE

FHITES

EIESs
KAnfE—
AEE

BERES

—EEF
FNHE—ETEH

BEREEY
2B
B4
PRE R

kRS

RERFHESES

SLEM
T
RRIBER

S S

DNAME

TE#BFcis, FCs

KIerEBEER AT 2018F F 1R

DAH SING FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

David Shou-Yeh Wong
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Managing Director and Chief Executive
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Deputy Chief Executive and
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Independent Non-Executive Directors
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Non-Executive Directors
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John Wai-Wai Chow

Alternate Director
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Alternate to Eiichi Yoshikawa

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Robert Tsai-To Sze
Chairman
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Paul Michael Kennedy
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Chairman

Seiji Nakamura

David Shou-Yeh Wong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Harold Tsu-Hing Wong
Group General Manager
Vice Chairman, Managing Director and Chief Executive of
Dah Sing Bank, Limited

Nicholas John Mayhew
Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive of
Dah Sing Banking Group Limited
Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive and Head of Treasury
and Corporate Finance of Dah Sing Bank, Limited

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants in Hong Kong

SOLICITORS

Herbert Smith Freehills

REGISTERED OFFICE

36th Floor, Everbright Centre

108 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong
Tel: 2507 8866

Fax: 2598 5052

S.W.I.LF.T.: DSBAHKHH

Website: http://www.dahsing.com

SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
SHARE LISTING AND STOCK CODE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 440

DAH SING FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101°
1010100101011100111
0100011010110010711
00111010110000101¢

013100101011100711
0100011010110010111
1001110101100001011

10001011010110070



100111010001001110
1101001170001010100
1011011001110100010
101110101007110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
1011101070011100100
110011011001110100

6

SEEkEREEEAB™N

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

Exg

EFEEE
B

THRE 785 M1BTHFELZEREARF X
& o WITRARFRITEBBER DR ([ RFRITE
B D RERITER AR (RHRT )~ HEPT
BRI BR AR - K¥{Rl: (1976) BIR A
B ORFMIRBRBRNARRARSZHE AR ZIRE -
BARRRE ~ KIRITEERARFRITIRE R H
MEEEKE - TAERBERIBAGLES
LREBRITEGEIG R - BIFHMEE TSk #
ETRESLEMNEABSFRITLERE
&5 - WRARREEBLIETHELEZR
e

EEMREE
BUIFHTEF

SO 785% - M1997T R R T AR A RIE Y IE
WITEE - BHAKHBRITERARA R ([XH
RITEE ) - KERITAR AR ([ RFRTL)
RFRIT (P E) BRA R RAFIRE (1976) BR
NAIZBILIEAITESE - BAKRQT - KIRTT
FERKRRITEZZEGER  A2AIRER
FMZE B ERARKIIRITER R AFIRITIR
ZRFMEZEGKE - [REN200568 %2017
FAMBEEATRTEBIEERTNEZES
FFE o LEARAEREEBEREBR AT - BF
SEERAFERFEEZCRIERBERARZ
BIYFATESE  RYERBEEEARAF (R
2018 4 AGHE) RABHIREFREEFR LA
(MR 201810 ABHE) 2 B IEHITES » £5&
ERERERBERASTT g Ag REEGT
MAGEREE - KA HBERGHMITZAE
BN REITHERBA 204 -

KIerEBEER AT 2018F F 1R

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. David Shou-Yeh Wong
Chairman

Mr. Wong, aged 78, was appointed as the Chairman of the Company
in 1987. He is also the Chairman of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited
(“DSBG”), Dah Sing Bank, Limited (“DSB”), Banco Comercial de
Macau, S.A., Dah Sing Insurance Company (1976) Limited, Macau
Insurance Company Limited and various other companies. He serves
as a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the
Company, DSBG and DSB. Mr. Wong is the Honorary President of
Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors and a Vice President of
The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers. He holds a Bachelor of Science
degree in Electrical Engineering from Massachusetts Institute of
Technology and has over 55 years of experience in banking and
finance. He is the father of Mr. Harold Tsu-Hing Wong, the Group
General Manager of the Company.

Mr. Robert Tsai-To Sze
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Sze, aged 78, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in 1997. He is also an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited (“DSBG”),
Dah Sing Bank, Limited (“DSB”), Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited
and Dah Sing Insurance Company (1976) Limited. He serves as
the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company, DSBG and
DSB, the Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
(“NRC”) of the Company and a member of the NRC of DSBG and
DSB. He was the Chairman of the NRC of DSBG from August 2005
to August 2017. Mr. Sze is an Independent Non-Executive Director
of Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited, Nanyang Holdings Limited and
Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited. He was an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Min Xin Holdings Limited (resigned in April
2018) and China Travel International Investment Hong Kong Limited
(resigned in October 2018). Mr. Sze is a Fellow of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was a former partner of
an international firm of accountants with which he practised for over
20 years.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cContinued)

Mr. Seiji Nakamura
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Nakamura, aged 76, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director and a member of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee of the Company in June 2012. He was
appointed as a member of the Audit Committee of the Company
in December 2017. He served as an Alternate Director to two Non-
Executive Directors of the Company during 1998 to 2003. Mr.
Nakamura served as an External Director of Kurita Water Industries
Ltd. which is listed in Tokyo Stock Exchange from June 2013 to June
2017. Mr. Nakamura has over 50 years of extensive experience in
the shipping industry, in addition to the 5 years’ financial sector and
regulatory experience as a member of the Policy Board of the Bank of
Japan during April 2007 to April 2012.

Mr. Andrew Kwan-Yuen Leung
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Leung, aged 68, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company with effect from 20 December 2017. He
was an Independent Non-Executive Director of Dah Sing Banking
Group Limited (“DSBG”) from 11 June 2004 to 20 December 2017
and Dah Sing Bank, Limited from 29 May 2006 to 19 December
2017 respectively. Mr. Leung was a member of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee of DSBG from 16 August 2005 to
20 December 2017. Mr. Leung is the President of the Sixth Legislative
Council of Hong Kong and a member of the Industrial (First) Functional
Constituency of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong. He is also a
member of The National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, the honorary president of the Federation
of Hong Kong Industries, the honorary chairman of Textile Council of
Hong Kong Limited and a fellow member of the Textiles Institute and
the Clothing and Footwear Institute. He was a council member of the
Hong Kong Trade Development Council and a director of The Hong
Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited. Mr. Leung is an Independent
Non-Executive Director of China South City Holdings Limited, Wharf
Real Estate Investment Company Limited and CN Innovations
Holdings Limited. He was an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Harbour Centre Development Limited (retired on 4 May 2018).
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Paul Michael Kennedy
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Kennedy, aged 61, was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company in December 2018. He is also an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Dah Sing Bank, Limited and an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Octopus Holdings Limited and Octopus
Cards Limited. He was a financial services partner of KPMG Hong
Kong from 1991 to 2006 and Managing Partner of KPMG’s Shanghai
office from 2000 to 2005. Mr. Kennedy was chief operating officer and
executive director of the Securities and Futures Commission during
the period from 2006 to 2010 and he subsequently took up the role as
a Managing Director of HSBC Hong Kong’s Global Banking Division
from 2010 to 2012. Mr. Kennedy was appointed as Special Advisor
to the Chief Executive of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
(“HKEX”) in January 2013 and subsequently served as the Group
Chief Financial Officer of HKEX from May 2013 to December 2017.
He continued to serve as Senior Advisor of HKEX until July 2018. Mr.
Kennedy is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. He holds a Bachelor of Arts in Accounting
and Financial Administration from the University of Bangor in the
United Kingdom and has over 35 years of experience in the financial
services industry encompassing auditing and professional advisory
services, regulation, risk management, banking and listed company
management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. David Wai-Hung Tam
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Tam, aged 69, was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in December 2018. He is also
an Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of the Risk
Management and Compliance Committee of Dah Sing Bank, Limited.
He started his career with The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited in 1968 and held various senior positions
until February 1999. In March 1999, Mr. Tam joined Hang Seng
Bank Limited and was a Deputy General Manager and a Head of
Commercial Banking during 2003 to 2008 and the Chief Risk Officer
from 2008 until his retirement in 2012. He was also a director of Yantai
Bank, a city commercial bank in Yantai, from December 2012 to June
2017. He is currently an Independent Non-Executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee of Xinyi Glass Holdings Limited and
a Non-Executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee of
Nameson Holdings Limited. Mr. Tam is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Bankers and the Chartered Institute of Bankers in the
UK and an associate of the Institute of Bankers. He holds a master’s
degree in Business Administration from the University of Toronto,
Canada. Mr. Tam has more than 45 years of experience in commercial
banking industry in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Eiichi Yoshikawa
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Yoshikawa, aged 62, was re-designated as a Non-Executive
Director of the Company in August 2016 after serving as an Alternate
Director of the Company from 2014 to 2016. He was also a Non-
Executive Director of the Company from 2007 to 2010. Mr. Yoshikawa
is currently a Member of the Board of Directors, Deputy President,
Chief Executive of Global Commercial Banking Business Unit and
Chief Operating Officer — International (COO-l) of MUFG Bank, Ltd.
(“MUFG Bank”, formerly known as The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ,
Ltd., a substantial shareholder of the Company as defined under the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited), a wholly-owned commercial banking subsidiary
of Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc. He is also the Senior Managing
Corporate Executive, Group Head of the Global Commercial Banking
Business Group and Group COO-I of Mitsubishi UFJ Financial
Group, Inc. and Senior Managing Executive Officer of Mitsubishi
UFJ Securities Holdings Co., Ltd. Mr. Yoshikawa graduated with a
Bachelor Degree of Law from The University of Tokyo in 1981 and
then joined The Bank of Tokyo, Ltd. (now known as MUFG Bank).
From 2007 to 2010, Mr. Yoshikawa was General Manager of MUFG
Bank Hong Kong Branch. From 2010 to 2014, he served as President
of Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ (China), Ltd. Mr. Yoshikawa was
the Deputy Chief Executive of the Global Business Unit and Chief
Executive Officer for East Asia of MUFG Bank from 2014 to 2016,
during the period, he also assumed the position of Managing
Executive Officer and subsequently the Senior Managing Executive
Officer. Mr. Yoshikawa has over 30 years of extensive experience in
corporate banking, treasury and corporate planning as well.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Kenichi Yamato
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Yamato, aged 50, was appointed as a Non-Executive Director
of the Company in September 2017. He served as a Non-Executive
Director of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited from August 2016 to
September 2017. He is currently the Executive Officer, Regional Head
for Hong Kong and General Manager of MUFG Bank, Ltd. (“MUFG
Bank”, formerly known as The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., a
substantial shareholder of the Company as defined under the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited) Hong Kong Branch as well as a director of MUFG
Nominees (HK) Limited (formerly known as BTMU Nominees (HK)
Limited) and MUFG Securities Asia Limited. Mr. Yamato graduated
with a Bachelor Degree in Economics from The University of Tokyo in
1991 and joined The Bank of Tokyo, Ltd. (now known as MUFG Bank)
immediately after graduation. Mr. Yamato possesses 27 years of
extensive experience in various areas in the banking industry. He had
assumed various positions in corporate banking, investment banking
and corporate planning areas before his appointment as Chief
Manager, Mitsubishi UFJ Securities in 2004. He was subsequently
appointed as Chief Manager, Structured Finance Division in 2009 and
Chief Manager, Financial Planning Division of Mitsubishi UFJ Financial
Group, Inc. (the holding company of MUFG Bank) in 2011. Mr. Yamato
took up the role as Deputy General Manager, Global Planning Division
in 2014 and was appointed as Deputy General Manager of MUFG
Bank Hong Kong Branch in 2016.

Mr. John Wai-Wai Chow
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Chow, aged 69, was appointed as a Director in 1994 and is
currently a Non-Executive Director of the Company. He served as a
member of Audit Committee of the Company from May 2011 to June
2013. Mr. Chow is currently the Managing Director of Winsor Industrial
Corporation Limited, Executive Director of Wing Tai Properties
Limited and Non-Executive Director of ARA Trust Management
(Suntec) Limited (manager of the Singapore-listed Suntec Real Estate
Investment Trust). Mr. Chow has over 40 years of experience in
property investment and management business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cContinued)

Mr. Hon-Hing Wong (Derek Wong)
Managing Director and Chief Executive

Mr. Wong, aged 66, was appointed as a Director of the Company in
1993 and promoted as the Managing Director in January 2002. He
joined Dah Sing Bank, Limited (“DSB”), a key operating subsidiary
of the Company’s banking group, in 1977 and has served and
managed various departments before appointed as a Director in
1989, promoted to Managing Director in 2000 and then appointed as
Vice Chairman of DSB in April 2011. He is Vice Chairman, Managing
Director and Chief Executive of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited,
Chairman of Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited and a director of various
major subsidiaries of the Group. He is also a Non-Executive Director
and Vice Chairman of Bank of Chongqging Co., Ltd. (listed in Hong
Kong) in which the Group has a 14.66% equity interest. Mr. Wong
is an Associate of The Institute of Bankers (U.K.) and a Founder
Member of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers and The International
Retail Banking Council of the U.K. He holds a Higher Diploma in
Business Studies from the Hong Kong Polytechnic College (now
known as Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and has over 40 years of
experience in banking.

Mr. Gary Pak-Ling Wang
Deputy Chief Executive and Group Chief Financial and Operating
Officer

Mr. Wang, aged 58, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in 2001 and as Deputy Chief Executive and Group Chief
Financial and Operating Officer of the Company in June 2017.
Mr. Wang joined Dah Sing Bank, Limited (“DSB”), a key operating
subsidiary of the Company, as the Group Financial Controller in
1995 and was promoted as a Director in 1997, responsible for
the overall financial management and control, operations and IT
functions of the Group for a number of years. He was promoted as
the Managing Director and Chief Executive of DSB in May 2011 and
was re-designated as the Deputy Chief Executive and Alternate Chief
Executive of DSB in August 2017. He is also a Director of Dah Sing
Banking Group Limited (“DSBG”), Banco Comercial de Macau, S.A.
and Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited and the Group Chief Financial
and Operating Officer of DSBG and DSB. Mr. Wang is a qualified
accountant, a Fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants of the U.K. and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor of Social Science
degree from The University of Hong Kong and has over 30 years of

experience in financial management and banking.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cContinued)

Mr. Takayoshi Futae
Alternate Director to Mr. Eiichi Yoshikawa

Mr. Futae, aged 58, was appointed as an Alternate Director to Mr.
Eiichi Yoshikawa, a Non-Executive Director of the Company, in
August 2018. He is currently the Senior Managing Executive Officer,
Regional Executive of MUFG Bank, Ltd. (“MUFG Bank”, a substantial
shareholder of the Company as defined under the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited) for Asia region. He is also the Managing Executive Officer and
Regional Executive for Asia of Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group Inc., the
holding company of MUFG Bank. Mr. Futae began his career in 1983
at The Sanwa Bank, Ltd. which was a predecessor of MUFG Bank. He
worked in the United States for more than 10 years in MUFG Bank’s
Chicago and New York branches and assumed various senior roles
in structured finance, project and asset based finance and corporate
restructuring before his appointment as Managing Executive Officer
and Chief Executive Officer of MUFG Bank Asia & Oceania region
in May 2016. In 2018, he was promoted to his current position,
overseeing 18 markets in Asia. Also in November 2018, Mr. Futae
was appointed as a Commissioner on the Board of Bank Danamon
Indonesia (listed on the Jakarta Stock Exchange) after MUFG took
on a strategic investment in the bank. He is also a Board Director of
the Asian Bankers Association. He served as a Director of Security
Bank Corporation (listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange) from April
2016 to May 2018 and was the Vice Chairman of the Board of Bank
of Ayudhya Plc (Krungsri) (listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand)
from May 2016 to June 2018. Mr. Futae holds a Bachelor Degree in
Economics from Osaka University and a Master Degree in Business
Administration from the Booth School of Business, University of
Chicago.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Harold Tsu-Hing Wong

Group General Manager

Vice Chairman, Managing Director and Chief Executive of Dah Sing
Bank, Limited

Mr. Wong, aged 49, joined Dah Sing Bank, Limited (“DSB”), a key
operating subsidiary of the Company, in 2000 and was appointed as
an Executive Director in 2005 and a Vice Chairman in March 2010. Mr.
Wong was appointed as the Managing Director and Chief Executive
of DSB in August 2017. He is also a Director of Dah Sing Bank (China)
Limited, Banco Comercial de Macau, S.A., Dah Sing Insurance
Company (1976) Limited and Macau Insurance Company Limited.
Mr. Wong is currently a member of The EFAC Financial Infrastructure
and Market Development Sub-Committee, a sub-committee under
the Exchange Fund Advisory Committee (“EFAC”) of the Hong
Kong Monetary Authority, and a member of the Industry Advisory
Committee on Long Term Business established by the Insurance
Authority. Mr. Wong holds a Master of Business Administration
degree from Harvard University, U.S.A. and a Bachelor of Laws
(Honours) degree from King’s College, London, and is a qualified
solicitor in England and Wales and in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is a son
of Mr. David Shou-Yeh Wong, the Chairman of the Boards of the
Company, Dah Sing Banking Group Limited and DSB.

Mr. Nicholas John Mayhew

Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive of Dah Sing Banking
Group Limited

Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive and Head of Treasury and
Corporate Finance of Dah Sing Bank, Limited

Mr. Mayhew, aged 51, was appointed as an Executive Director and
the Deputy Chief Executive of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, in June 2017. He is currently a Director
of Dah Sing Bank, Limited (“DSB”), Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited,
Dah Sing Insurance Company (1976) Limited and Macau Insurance
Company Limited. Mr. Mayhew was an Executive Director of the
Company during the period from August 2004 to May 2017. Mr.
Mayhew also serves as the Deputy Chief Executive of DSB and Head
of Treasury and Corporate Finance of DSB, responsible for its treasury
and corporate finance activities. Mr. Mayhew holds a Bachelor of
Arts degree (Hons) (in Chinese and Economics) from the University of
London. He has over 25 years of experience in financial services both
in the U.K. and Hong Kong.
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TRMES
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Despite a slowdown in market conditions, and worsening sentiment
towards the year end, | am pleased to report that our performance
for the year was strong, with an increase in operating profit after
impairment charges of 18% to HK$2,860 million for the year.

In 2017, a very substantial gain was reported on the sale of our life
assurance businesses, which was not repeated in 2018, leading
to a decrease in our net profit attributable to shareholders of 65%
from HK$5.4 billion to HK$1.9 billion. If we exclude the gain on the
sale of our life assurance businesses and on the basis of profit from
continuing operations, the profit attributable to shareholders was up
by 22% to HK$1,915 million.

The strong operating performance was driven largely by our core
banking business where our main segments performed well over the
course of the year.

BANKING BUSINESS

The operating performance of our banking business was strong, with
most core units reporting improved profitability. Net interest income
grew by 7% mainly due to asset growth with moderate loan growth
experienced in both our retail and commercial banking businesses.
With robust market conditions in the first half of the year, our fee
and commission income grew strongly, driven by improvements
in our wealth management business. Weaker conditions in the
second half resulted in somewhat lower revenues from areas such
as investment fund distribution, but we continued to see progress in
other areas such as foreign exchange in the second half of the year.
Bancassurance operations continued to perform strongly under our
new bancassurance agreement.

Operating expenses were kept well under control during the year, with
the increase of 7.5% running substantially below growth in revenues
of 12%, resulting in continued positive “Jaws” for the business. Credit
performance was generally satisfactory. Despite our more cautious
outlook and some increase in credit impairment charge in the second
half of the year, and notwithstanding the change to an expected credit
loss basis under the new accounting standard effective 1 January
2018, the overall credit impairment charge was lower than the prior
year. The performance of our associate, Bank of Chongqing, was
satisfactory, with a modest improvement in its contribution. However,
due to a reduction in the valuation of this associate company in
relation to its carrying value in our financial statements, we made a
provision to reflect that, albeit at a lower level to that made in the prior
year. It should be noted that the provision made relating to Bank of
Chongging is non-cash and does not affect our capital adequacy.
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INSURANCE BUSINESS

Due to the disposal of our life assurance businesses in 2017, as
mentioned above, the performance of our current insurance segment
is not directly comparable. We currently operate general insurance
businesses in Hong Kong and Macau, and a pension fund business
in Macau. Our general insurance and pension fund management
business as a whole recorded higher premium written and net
profit in the year, although higher claims and reserving cost, and a
lower investment performance due to the weak market conditions
in the second half of the year had depressed the performance and
profitability of this line of business in 2018.

CAPITAL AND REGULATION

As at 31 December 2018, the consolidated Common Equity Tier 1
ratio of Dah Sing Bank, Limited (“DSB”) was 13.1%, slightly lower than
13.4% at the end of 2017. Taking into account DSB’s outstanding Tier
2 subordinated debts, DSB’s consolidated capital adequacy level at
the year end was 18.1%, slightly lower than the prior year, due partly
to the amortization of the capital eligibility of certain previously issued
Tier 2 subordinated debts. We continued to operate well above the
minimum Liquidity Maintenance Ratio of 25%, reporting an average
level of 46% during the year. We believe that our capital and liquidity
ratios are maintained at levels within the market range for both peer
banks in Hong Kong, and indeed for banks internationally.

CHANGES OF THE BOARD DURING THE YEAR

On 21 August 2018, Mr. Hidekazu Horikoshi ceased to act as an
Alternate Director to Mr. Eiichi Yoshikawa due to his retirement
from MUFG Bank, Ltd. On the same date, Mr. Takayoshi Futae was
appointed as an Alternate Director to Mr. Eiichi Yoshikawa.

On 4 December 2018, Mr. Paul Michael Kennedy was appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of the
Audit Committee of the Company, and Mr. David Wai-Hung Tam
was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company.

On 31 December 2018, Mr. Lon Dounn resigned as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company and ceased to act as a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company on the same date.



FREESEH @)

BRI L  BEERER _EZHFRENEA
BEENERAFR I EERFEEEABEHN ]

EEgENANBLMELE  BEER_EELE
MBEEFEE  YHERERBREENEREAR
RAFNHEZ BN REETBBIARORER

“Directors’ and Senior Management'’s Profile” in this Annual Report.

to the Board during their tenure of service with the Company.

38.700 38.750

RATERIT

DahSing Banking
13.820 13.940

2018 F R — AR ZF AR RMERBERAR (K

PR - 440) RAFTRITEB AR AT (RO AR -
2356) 2 WK -

Closing prices of Dah Sing Financial Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 440) and Dah Sing Banking
Group Limited (Stock code: 2356) on the last
trading day in 2018.
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CHANGES OF THE BOARD DURING THE YEAR (Continued)

The brief biographical details of Messrs. Paul Michael Kennedy, David
Wai-Hung Tam and Takayoshi Futae are set out in the section headed

The Board extends a warm welcome to Mr. Kennedy, Mr. Tam and Mr.
Futae for joining the Board, and expresses its sincere appreciation to
Mr. Dounn and Mr. Horikoshi for their valuable effort and contributions

HANG SENG INDEX

25845.70
£ 341.50

2018 F&iE — X 5 HE B2 Wi RER
Closing price of Hang Seng Index on the last
trading day in 2018.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

We entered 2019 with a number of uncertainties, notably, the
possible impact of a trade war, and particularly the impact of higher
tariffs and restrictions on trade with the Mainland by the US. These
developments, amongst others, unsettled equity investors in Hong
Kong, resulting in a much weaker equity market in Hong Kong in
late 2018 and early 2019. Moreover, it is also difficult to gauge the
implications of Brexit on the global economy.

All of this makes us somewhat more cautious on the outlook for 2019.
However, currently our overall business conditions remain relatively
stable, so we are not at this stage unduly pessimistic, and we expect
to continue to see at least modest loan growth in 2019. The potential
impact of a Sino-US trade war has made us somewhat less positive
about the credit outlook, particularly for our commercial banking
business, although there are currently some signs that the trade war
may be downplayed or even resolved before too long. However, we
have taken into account this uncertain and less favourable outlook in
the credit impairment provisions made at the end of 2018. Impairment
charges, barring exceptional market developments, are expected to
be manageable.

Expectations for US interest rate rises have moderated, and this is
likely to mean that Hong Kong interest rates also remain somewhat
lower than initially expected. However, the current substantial
differential in rates between US dollars and HK dollars may put some
pressure on our asset yields, and this could have some impact on our
net interest margin for the year. Pressure on expenses is expected
to remain manageable, although investments in our IT systems and
infrastructure are becoming more demanding.

Our capital adequacy remains robust, and after the new issuance
of US$225 million of Basel Ill compliant Tier 2 subordinated debt
in January, we expect our capital position to remain adequate for
the remaining part of 2019. Liquidity in the Hong Kong market also
remains generally robust, and our funding base, mainly comprising
domestic Hong Kong deposits is also expected to remain stable.

Our general insurance business is expected to continue to report
steady progress in terms of premium income as we scale up our
business scope and operations. The investment performance of our
insurance businesses, as well as other financial investments made by
the group will be dependent in part on market conditions, although
a substantial part of these investments comprises of fixed income
investments and cash which are less likely to suffer from significant
volatility.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS (Continued)

Whilst we are still somewhat cautious over the outlook in 2019, we
continue to believe that there are opportunities to continue to grow
our businesses, and to provide a greater range and depth of products
and services to our retail and commercial customers. We are excited
by the developments in the Greater Bay Area, where we will strive
to grow with our customers to capture new and increasing business
and market opportunities, with our presence in Hong Kong, Macau,
Shenzhen and Guangzhou, the key cities in the region.

Finally, | would like to thank my fellow directors for their valuable
contribution and extend, on behalf of the Board, our appreciation to
all of our colleagues for their hard work and dedication over the past
year, and also our appreciation of the support from our customers and
shareholders.

David Shou-Yeh Wong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2019
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s REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

HBEE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

RNEESKEGZEUBRIBIBERIINATE ¢ The highlights of the Group’s consolidated financial performance for
the year are summarised in the table below:

2018 £ 20174 k)
2018 2017 Variance
BEATT HK$ Million
BB EBER 2 &85! Operating profit before impairment losses 3,093.5 2,687.1 15.1%
MR EEER CEERN Operating profit after impairment losses * 2,860.5 2,416.2 18.4%
R Al e A Profit before taxation 2,983.4 2,551.0 16.9%
[ 5R P A e A Profit attributable to shareholders 1,915.2 5,404.8 -64.6%
— A - Continuing operations 1,915.2 1,574.0 21.7%
—ORIFARE R - Discontinued operations - 3,830.8 -100.0%
BEAGT Total assets 237,301 225,538 5.2%
BEAR Total liabilities 205,309 194,101 5.8%
RERE S Shareholders’ funds 25,435 25,062 1.5%
FR BB Net interest income/operating income * 71.4% 74.0%
RS ST B 2R 1 Cost to income ratio ! 47.6% 49.5%
B EERRS Return on average total assets "3 1.1% 0.9%
FH@EERR - SHEN2 Return on average total assets, adjusted 23 1.4% 1.3%
FHRFESERS Return on average shareholders’ funds "2 7.6% 6.7%
FHRRESER L2 Return on average shareholders’ funds, 9.5% 9.3%
adjusted 23
e Notes:
1. 2018 % N 2017 F M 15 E KL R B 75 b R I ik 335 1. The financial information and financial ratios for both 2018 and 2017
IERIR SR HUE o reflect the performance and results of continuing operations.
2. 2017 E 22018 % 7 B Ffe H bt KR BB 35 2. The profitability ratios for 2017 and 2018 are adjusted to exclude the
FRPEEE N BIRE 2R ERE - impairment charge on the investment in an associate during the year.
3. 2017 F 2 th R 212 2018 FHEF - 3. 2017 ratios were restated to be in line with 2018 computation basis.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overall, whilst growth slowed somewhat in 2018, it was still generally
a good year for the Hong Kong economy. GDP growth was 3.0%,
down from 3.8% in 2017, but still above the trend growth averaging
at 2.8% over the past 10 years. Imports and exports both grew during
the year, albeit at a slightly slower pace than in 2017, and overall trade
growth was a respectable 7.9% for the year. The performance of retail
sales was particularly strong, with growth of 8.8%, much stronger
than the 2.2% reported in 2017, and due in part to the increase in
visitor numbers from 58.5 million to 65.1 million. Unemployment
remained very low at 2.8%, whilst inflation increased from 1.5% to
2.4% year on year.

Globally, conditions were steady, with the IMF forecasting global GDP
growth for 2018 of 3.7%, the same as in 2017. Economic growth in
the Mainland slowed from 6.9% in 2017 to 6.6% for the year, and
the RMB weakened during the year, particularly in the first half. The
US economy continued to recover, with GDP growth of 2.9% for the
year, compared with 2.3% in the prior year. Employment figures also
improved, with unemployment falling to 3.9% by the year end, from
4.1% at the beginning of the year. The European Union’s economic
growth slowed during the year, falling to 1.4% in the fourth quarter of
the year.

The US Federal Reserve raised the Fed Funds rate four times in
2018, and market interest rates generally followed suit, although
towards the year end, expectations for further rate increases in 2019
began to moderate. Hong Kong market interest rates were volatile,
generally remaining below US interest rates, reflecting continued
strong liquidity in the Hong Kong domestic market, and from time to
time trading significantly below US dollar interest rates, resulting in
the Hong Kong Monetary Authority having to intervene in the market
as the Hong Kong dollar exchange rate reached the weak end of the
range of the linked exchange rate mechanism of 7.85 to the US dollar.

With satisfactory market conditions, albeit with a slowing economy
particularly in the second half of the year, our operating profit after
credit impairment losses increased by 18.4% to HK$2,860 million.
Due to the write-down of our investment in Bank of Chongqing
(“BOCQ”) by HK$633 million in total in 2018 as a result of a lower
Value in Use (see below), our net profit from continuing operations
was up by 19.6% to HK$2,550 million, excluding the gain on disposal
of our life assurance business as well the profits of that business
accruing up to disposal, recorded in 2017.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Despite the more difficult conditions in the second half of the year, our
Banking Group continued to perform well, with operating profit after
impairment losses up by 19.1% to HK$2,796 million. Key revenue
lines all improved, with net interest income up by 7.0% to HK$4,164
million, mainly due to volume growth, with our net interest margin at
2.01%. Net fee and commission income grew by 10.3% to HK$1,161
million due mainly to the growth in our wealth management business
during the year. Despite the adoption of a new accounting standard,
HKFRS 9, relating to credit impairment starting January 2018, credit
impairment losses dropped slightly during the year to HK$233 million.

The Value in Use of our investment in BOCQ was again below the
carrying value of the investment as at 31 December 2018, resulting
in the need for a further impairment charge of HK$230 million at the
year end, which together with the impairment charge of HK$403
million made at the mid-year, resulted in a total impairment charge
for the year of HK$633 million, lower than 2017 by HK$182 million,
or 22%. Despite the need for an impairment charge to reduce the
carrying value of the investment, the operating performance of BOCQ
remained satisfactory, and our share of its profit was HK$660 million
for the year, around 5% higher than the prior year. Dah Sing Bank’s
wholly owned subsidiaries, Banco Comercial de Macau and Dah Sing
Bank (China), continued to deliver a steady performance.

As mentioned above, credit costs overall were down slightly for
the year, led mainly by decreases in loan impairments in our Hong
Kong and Mainland based commercial banking businesses. Credit
impairment charges were, however, higher in the second half of
the year. The credit quality in our retail banking business remained
satisfactory throughout the year, although reported some increase in
credit impairment charges due mainly to volume increases.

Measuring on the net profit from continuing operations and excluding
the impairment charge on BOCAQ, the underlying return on assets
of 1.4% and return of shareholders’ funds of 9.5% were slightly
higher than 2017. Our cost to income ratio on continuing operations
improved from 49.5% to 47.6% during the year, a result of stronger
rate of growth in operating income and continued efforts on cost
control.
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MITER BANKING BUSINESS

2018 F 2017 F k)

2018 2017 Variance
FEE Net interest margin 2.01% 1.98%
BEET HK$ Million
ZiBIA Operating income 5,729.9 5,132.4 11.6%
BB EEER 2 & &R Operating profit before impairment losses 3,029.6 2,619.5 15.7%
HBRREEBRE 2 2ERT Operating profit after impairment losses 2,796.2 2,348.6 19.1%
R AT a1 Profit before taxation 2,907.4 2,600.5 11.8%
FEHF Profit for the year 2,479.7 2,186.2 13.4%
TEIEREE R EIRE 2 Fk Profit attributable to shareholders excluding  3,112.7 3,001.2 3.7%
AR IR B R T the exceptional impairment charge on
the investment in an associate
EFEX Advances to customers 128,628 119,262 7.9%
BEEER Customers’ deposits 172,967 162,460 6.5%
BT FRE Certificates of deposit issued 6,535 7,184 -9.0%
FRas Total deposits 179,502 169,643 5.8%
BEER Subordinated notes 5,449 5,487 -0.7%
BRI BIEESRE) HFR Loan (excluding trade bills) 71.7% 70.3%
(BEEBBITHENRE) X to deposit (including certificates
of deposit issued) ratio

B AR UL H 2 Cost to income ratio 47.1% 49.0%

SLSELIRN SN E TN SN IR o -
TR IARE R SERAEIE - AKENR
THISE 2018 M B DR 1812 BB RFIR
BRIEE -

FRUFFBURAEINT% - BIF 8 =SBk E I
RSB EELZN LEREFPERAMERA
Bo2018F 2F FHFEER2.01%  BRR
2017 £ #91.98% °

REERAEBRABRSARE  2F% K
10.3% - Z AR XHEFZIER - EFRERTR
BIHE MONE B R R RTTEB R B WA G N
£ MY EEEEFWARIZ2018F T HFIK55
MIREARAEMTE BEAEREBEAEPH
HE T B0 RO BAGE ) EE R A AR TS - NEFRRBAUR A KK
HE - FRRREBMINTERITER - FEW
ANBEEEF11.6% ©

The Group’s banking business recorded a strong increase in
operating profit after credit impairment losses in 2018, driven by
higher net interest income and non-interest income, and lower credit
impairment charges whilst operating costs were managed closely.

Net interest income grew by 7% in the year, a result of a slightly
improved net interest margin, as well as increase in our interest
earning assets, particularly on the growth in customer loans. Full year
2018 average net interest margin was 2.01%, slightly higher than
1.98% for 2017.

Growth in fee and commission income was satisfactory, increasing by
10.3% in the year. A number of factors drove this increase, including
stronger bancassurance sales and fees from our commercial banking
business, whilst wealth management business income was affected
by the weaker investment sentiment in the second half of 2018.
Foreign exchange related income was much improved, particularly
coming from our retail banking business, as we continued to roll out
new and improved products and services for our customers. Total
operating income rose 11.6%.
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BANKING BUSINESS (continued)

Operating expense growth was relatively modest in the year, up 7.5%
on 2017, and a positive JAW was achieved. Expense increase was
brought by higher staff expenses, business promotion and volume
related costs, and higher IT expenses, as we continued to invest in our
businesses, IT platform and applications.

Dah Sing Bank’s wholly-owned banking subsidiaries in Macau
and China generated a slightly lower net profit when compared
with 2017, due to the more intense market competition in the year,
and exceptional securities disposal gains booked in 2017. The
contribution from our associate company, BOCQ, improved year-on-
year at the operating level, although we again made an impairment
charge against its Value in Use (see below) during 2018, further to the
initial impairment provision made at the end of 2017.

Credit quality remained benign during the year, with a net impairment
charge of HK$233 million, 13.8% lower than 2017. However, it should
be noted that the credit impairment charge in 2018 was calculated
under the new accounting standard, HKFRS 9, which requires forward
looking estimation of credit impairment as expected credit losses,
effective from January 2018, and the corresponding impairment
charge in 2017, calculated under the prior accounting standard, had
not been restated. Asset quality had improved during the course of
2018 across both our retail and commercial banking businesses, and
was stable at the end of 2018.

In addition, following a periodic review of the Value in Use of our
investment in BOCQ, we made an extra impairment charge at HK$230
million against this investment at the end of 2018, further to HK$403
million impairment charge provided in the first half of 2018, making
the 2018 full year charge at HK$633 million, compared with HK$815
million impairment charged in 2017. The calculation of BOCQ Value in
Use has included consideration of BOCQ’s 2018 performance, market
valuation including its share price performance, and estimation
of its future performance in the medium term, and likely market
development.

Return on assets of 1.1% and ROE of 9.8% of our Banking Group
were higher than 2017. If the non-cash impairment charge on BOCQ
is excluded, our adjusted return on assets and ROE in the year would
be 1.4% and 12.3% respectively, similar to the 2017 level of 1.4% and
12.5%. The cost to income ratio of the Banking Group improved from
49.0% to 47.1% during the year, a result of stronger rate of growth in
operating income and continued efforts on cost control.
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BANKING BUSINESS (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the consolidated Common Equity Tier
1 ratio and Tier 1 capital ratios of Dah Sing Bank, Limited (“DSB”)
was 13.1% and 13.7% respectively, compared with 13.4% and
14.0% at the end of 2017. Taking into account DSB’s outstanding
Tier 2 subordinated debts, DSB’s overall capital adequacy level at
the year end was a robust 18.1%. We continued to comply with the
Liquidity Maintenance Ratio, which was maintained at an average
level of approximately 46% during the year, well above the regulatory
minimum level of 25%.

HIGHLIGHT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
Personal Banking

Our Personal Banking business, serving the Retail Banking, VIP
banking and Private Banking market segments, consumer finance
and vehicle finance of Hong Kong, continued to deliver broad based
growth. Despite the slowdown of economic growth globally and the
lingering concern on the trade war, the execution of our segment
based strategy, together with the progress in launching various
innovative digital services, contributed to bring in new customers and
further deepen relationship with existing ones.

With the upgraded VIP service platform offering multi-channel and
personalized wealth management services, the wealth management
fee income increased by 16% year on year. The income from
customer foreign exchange trading was particularly strong, with over
40% increase over 2017. The brokerage fee income from securities
business and insurance commission and fee income recorded a 28%

growth over 2017.

We also received multiple recognitions on our wealth management
services, including “Excellent Brand of Mobile Securities Services
- Banking Service” by Metro Finance, “Silver Award” & “Top
Nomination Award” under The 12th HKIB Outstanding Financial
Management Planner Awards by the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers,
and “Excellence Award for High-end Financial Management” by Sky
Post.

In the year, our Personal Banking achieved steady growth in loan
and deposit balances when compared with 2017. Retail Banking and
Private Banking were the key sectors recording solid growth in loans
and deposits in 2018.
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HIGHLIGHT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (Continued)

Personal Banking (Continued)

Our “YOU Banking” service continued to attract the young customer

segment via different financial platforms. We also actively promoted

our YOU Banking with attractive outreach activities and built market

awareness via various event sponsorship. YOU Banking achieved 25%

year on year increase in customer number. The service gained market

recognition, with the CAPITAL magazine awarding us with the “Merits

of New Generation Banking Service” award in four consecutive years.

We actively promoted our personal loan products throughout the year
and launched the new Personal Loan Campaign “A#TH) = e KK #) 5~
including television advertising to increase the market awareness and

position Dah Sing Bank as a leading player of personal loan service
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Launching ceremony of e-Express Application
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in the local market. We also introduced
the “e-Express Application” in which
customers can apply for personal loan
via our digital application channels.
Biometric identity verification can be
done instantly to enable convenient and
speedy application. With increasing
market awareness and improved sales
performance, overall personal loan
balance attained 9% year on year
growth. Our services gained good
market recognition with the award of
“Excellent Brand of Personal Loan
Service — Banking Service” by Metro
Finance.

To stay competitive in the credit card market, we continued to be

proactive and innovative in enhancing customer experience and

value proposition via usage, acquisition and co-brand partnership
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Hong Kong’s first brand new Dah Sing Autotoll E-Serve Credit Card

KIerEBEER AT 2018F F 1R

programs. We launched the brand
new Dah Sing Autotoll E-Serve Credit
Card, the first credit card in Hong Kong
supporting Unitoll function, enabling
cardholders to travel through toll
roads in China. Cardholders also enjoy
QuickPass function and cross-border
spending privileges. We are pleased to
receive the awards of “Excellent Brand of
Co-Branded Credit Cards — Banking
Service” by Metro Finance and “Best
Airline Co-Branded Card Program
Launched” by Mastercard.
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HIGHLIGHT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)
Personal Banking (Continued)

Various digitalization initiatives were launched to enhance customers’
digital experience and strengthen cybersecurity in the year. Our digital
users continued to grow and with deeper levels of engagement.
“Dah Sing IPAY Payment Platform” provided customers with a
comprehensive variety of mobile payments and IPAY payment
transactions doubled in the year. “e-Express” card application was
rolled out in 2018, and the application via digital channels grew
to over 40% of total card applications, of which majority (around
75%) were new-to-bank customers. Faster Payment System (FPS)
was set up and launched in the year. This new digital development
enables instant customer funds transfer across banks, and marks the
milestone to us. In the year, we also rolled out digital initiatives such
as FX pre-set trading instructions, and biometric authentication which
enables fingerprint and facial ID log-on, and authorizes higher-risk
transactions. Our efforts in digitalization gained market recognition,
with the award of “Outstanding Digital Banking Service” by the
CAPITAL magazine and “Platinum Award in Retail Banking” under
Hong Kong FinTech Impetus Awards by Metro Finance.

The asset quality of our retail lending portfolio remained benign, with
the loan delinquency rate and loan loss rate staying at relatively low
levels.

In 2018, in order to improve banking experience for our customers and
to achieve greater efficiency, we continued to allocate our resources
in upgrading and relocating our branches. As of December 2018, Dah
Sing Bank has a total number of 45 retail branches in Hong Kong.
Within the branch network, there are 25 VIP Banking centers and 36
securities trading centres.

Commercial Banking

Our Commercial Banking business achieved satisfactory growth in a
number of areas in 2018, continuing its record of steady growth in the
past few years. Profit was up on the back of balance sheet growth and
lower credit impairment. Against the keen market competition in the
year, a less favourable market sentiment and weaker credit demand in
the second half of 2018, our Commercial Banking business properly
executed its business strategy and delivered meaningful growth in
loans and deposits in 2018.

DAH SING FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101°
1010100101011100111
0100011010110010711
00111010110000101¢

013100101011100711
0100011010110010111
1001110101100001011

10001011010110070

27



100111010001001110
1101001170001010100
1011011001110100010
101110101007110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
1011101070011100100
110011011001110100

28

ESLIE)
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

ERREBE @
BERT @

BRTITRRARBBHERTNEZEMRBR
BP - REXHERT (PR)NEEZAE A%
EEEREMNERER - BREREBTABHR
BEURREMNFRER  UREBERPELED
BREEPEBTRSELIIERZRE -

BREMYUEIREMSNTHERER - BHRIR
HERISBMER - 2018 F B R EHH T ¥
% RABIMERS RERERERRIER
ANEERSNZERE  MRBEBIEK AN
EEEIMEXEBKEEN—EH o

FREBEREE —RALSER - AEENRESE
ENEGEE-TEEENRS NI EZEP
BBAFRITETRE RMIRR S - DS-Direct
Fa(AEENETFE) BRI - HEREY
BRIRE - [HHR ] REZNTEAKLSMS —
REBBENNEE  BEPRERY - AEBEHEE
RESRMBREREAMKRIAR  APRES
KSENXHEE N RAXEPHNRE - A RF M
5 OAXBEBE-SHOER -

&= 0B R A7 RS BR A0 1E 0 K 3 B R Es A
FHRRANBNHERT - FHERAR2017FE
P E7t o JERMBUAIEIN - TBHEZEE RIS
EXZERBAZRME KAEE-BHEAE
B RLE  HPFEEES NBEHIEREN
RITEED - WEINREARFAEERM R E
ARHREATE - R EFER -

FA - BERTEBHEELEZARNS  BF
201841 A1 H R RIEFT @ A AEEEE
BIEATTEER  EEREZHE2017FAK -
BEZ2018F L FMEAE - REIBEREAL
RS FR I - REBHEEREIHEER
BEEFEHTTERRE B ENHE R LB LR
ER R -

KIerSEBEER AT 2018FF 1R

HIGHLIGHT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)
Commercial Banking (Continued)

A solid loan growth was achieved, driven by our focus on growing
our key commercial banking products and target customer segment,
and also closer cooperation with Dah Sing Bank (China). The cross-
border lending also helped generate a more stable deposit base
and additional foreign exchange transaction flow from cross-border
customers operating in Hong Kong and China.

Trade and factoring businesses recorded a moderate growth despite
the uncertainties in the trade finance market. Our growth in 2018
was the result of our business focus, further progress in making
enhancement in our trade finance system, processing flow, and added
effort in growing the factoring portfolio, which has become a more
meaningful part of our trade finance business.

Deposits generally grew in parallel with our loan growth. Our cash
management reengineering program further improved the turnaround
time of remittance to attract more customer cash and payment
transactions being channeled to or through Dah Sing Bank. DS-Direct
platform, our e-channel, was upgraded with the new features
of biometric authentication, Faster Payment System solution,
and SMS one-time password. Favorable feedback was received
from customers. We continued to make investment in Fintech
development and new technology initiatives, which will help elevate
our transactional capabilities and services to commercial customers,
and support further growth in our business in the medium term.

On the back of higher loan and deposit balances, and the efforts
to manage loan yields and deposit cost, net interest income was
up on 2017. Non-interest income improved, mainly contributed
by the growth of trade finance and foreign exchange fees. Cost
management is our ongoing focus, which requires our continuing
effort to streamline workflow to deliver productivity gains whilst more
investments are made to upgrade our technology platform and IT
applications, and to improve customer experience.

The asset quality of our Commercial Banking loan portfolio improved
during the year and notwithstanding the change to an expected
credit loss basis under the new accounting standard effective
1 January 2018, credit impairment charge was lower than 2017. With
appreciation of property values in the first half of 2018, credit impairment
charge and the impaired loan balance benefited from recoveries and
write-back in impairment provision for some of the defaulted loans, in
addition to lower amount of problem loan downgrade.
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HIGHLIGHT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)
Commercial Banking (Continued)

For risk management, our Commercial Banking business continued
to enhance our credit risk control, and operational controls on
customer due diligence, AML risk assessment, as well as compliance
awareness.

During the year, our Commercial Banking business received 8 awards
from the media, namely:

o Hong Kong General Chamber of Small and Medium Business —
Best SME’s Partner Award

° CAPITAL magazine — Internet Banking Services Award
o CAPITAL magazine and CAPITAL WEEKLY - 8th Corporate
Social Responsibility Award

° Metro Prosperity — Best Commercial Banking under Metro
Awards for Banking & Finance Corporations 2018

° Metro Daily and Metro Prosperity — Best Commercial Banking
under Metro Awards for Brand Excellence

o Quamnet — Outstanding Enterprise Transaction Banking
Services

o Etnet — Outstanding SME Online Virtual Banking Service Centre

° Sky Post — Best Corporate Transaction Banking Service Award

_—
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RIRITRBERED/ NG REFSRER N EERENER
DSB received Best SME s Partner Award from Hong Kong General Chamber
of Small and Medium Business
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HIGHLIGHT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)
Commercial Banking (Continued)

In order to further enhance our SME brand awareness and customer
preference, we participated in various industry association events and
sponsorship programs in 2018, which are highlighted below:

° We continued to cooperate with the Hong Kong General
Chamber of Small and Medium Business by holding various
seminars for the SME community.

o For the sixth consecutive years, we sponsored and participated
in the annual SME event at the World SME Summit held by the
Hong Kong Trade Development Council and the Hong Kong
General Chamber of Small and Medium Business.

° We sponsored for the first time the “HK SZ SME Innovation
Award 2018”. The award was organized by SME Global Alliance
together with the Hong Kong Trade Development Council, Hong
Kong Productivity Council and the Shenzhen Futian District
Municipal Government. The award aimed at encouraging SMEs
to make use of technologies and innovation to expand the
market in the Greater Bay Area.

° We also sponsored the “Dialogue with the Future: Lead the City”
organized by Junior Chamber International (JCI) Peninsula. It
was a summer training program for young people for enhancing
and enriching their individual development potential, and to
provide guidance for developing a right attitude to life.

The global economic outlook for 2019 generally remains uncertain. A
slower growth rate in the economies of Hong Kong, Macau and China
is expected. Our Commercial Banking business will pursue further
business growth in the coming year with proper balance against the
risk of higher credit losses and market uncertainties.

In line with the central government and Hong Kong government
development plan for the Greater Bay Area and the increasing
integration of the Hong Kong economy with that of China and the
Greater Bay Area in particular, we will continue to provide help
and services to Hong Kong SMEs to support their development
and business growth in the fast changing market environment. The
commercial business teams in Hong Kong, Macau and China will
make extra effort to support the cross-border customers in this
region, particularly in the Greater Bay Area, and other customers to
capture new business opportunities and to grow with our customers.
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HIGHLIGHT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)
Treasury

Our Treasury division reported lower profit in 2018 with a reduction
in attributable profit by approximately 17% to HK$327 million.
Core business performance was improved over the prior year, with
an increase in net interest income by 4% to HK$626 million and
an increase in overall operating income by 5% to HK$555 million.
Operating expenses were well under control, increasing by only
3% year on year. We made good progress in our customer facing
business, and the results of our customer FX business were much
improved, with revenues increasing by 14% to HK$94 million. This
was largely a result of improved business collaboration and promotion
of FX products to retail customers in conjunction with our Personal
Banking business.

The major reason for the lower attributable profit for the year was
the much lower gains on disposal of securities. Whilst in 2017 we
generated gains of more than HK$100 million, in 2018 this dropped
to only HK$2 million. The wide gap between HK dollar and US dollar
rates, and the corresponding funding swap losses also slightly
depressed the core operating profit of our Treasury in 2018.

Liquidity was prudently managed with the average Liquidity
Maintenance Ratio for the year being maintained at 46%, similar to
the prior year. We continued to grow our high quality liquid assets
portfolio — the portfolio of government and other high quality securities
that are available to Dah Sing Bank for liquidity purposes in times of
need.

Interest rates continued to rise during the year, and in anticipation
of the rate rises, Dah Sing Bank continued to take a relatively
conservative position in terms of interest rate risk, and therefore
did not suffer any material negative impact. Our new investments
continued to be in high quality securities of relatively short duration,
with a mix of fixed and floating rate investments. We continued
to hedge a portion of the investments that we made in fixed rate
securities via the use of interest rate swaps.
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HIGHLIGHT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)
Banco Comercial de Macau

Banco Comercial de Macau, S.A. (“BCM”) provides a comprehensive
range of commercial and retail banking and bancassurance products
and services to local customers in Macau. As of the end of 2018, BCM
operated a total of 14 branches in Macau.

Macau gaming sector recorded a growth of 14% in the gaming
revenue in 2018, continuing the upward trend and the steady recovery
in the prior 3 years. The stable pick-up in the gaming revenues,
together with the increased number of visitors and higher tourist
spending, had contributed to sustain the growth of the Macau
economy, which was up 4.7% on 2017.

BCM continued executing its medium term strategy in the year,
producing a steady growth of its banking business in 2018, measured
by the growth in loans and deposits. Due to the non-recurrent
disposal gain on investment securities booked in 2017, BCM’s 2018
net profit was comparatively lower. Financial performance metrics
remained stable and healthy, including asset quality. Average net
interest margin, however, narrowed from 1.96% in 2017 to 1.83% in
2018, a result of keen market competition in the year and higher cost
of deposits. Fee and commission income was however strong, driven
by increases in the sales of wealth management products and higher
bancassurance fees and distribution of insurance products, higher
client trading in stocks listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and
higher credit fees related to lending. Operating expenses were well
contained. Cost to income ratio ended the year at 43.5%, lower than
the ratio at 44.9% in 2017.

BCM'’s total assets grew by 6.6% compared to the end of 2017. Loan
balance and customer deposits, relative to the end of 2017, were up
11.6% and 7.7% respectively. The growth in the loan portfolio was
largely driven by mortgage loan, commercial loan and working capital
finance. Deposit growth was steady and broadly diversified.
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HIGHLIGHT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)
Banco Comercial de Macau (Continued)

BCM has continued to upgrade its digital banking capability in order
to provide a convenient, speedy and safe transaction platform for
customers and meet their banking needs. Additional investment
is being put on the development of biometric authentication on
digital platforms to ensure the provision of simple and more secure
banking services. Wealth management is enriched with health related
and wealth protection insurance products, and a wide variety of
investment funds. VIP Banking customers and investment portfolio
have kept on growing. BCM will continue to execute its strategy to
target at growing its personal and commercial banking businesses
and customer base in Macau, uphold its benign asset quality and
sound risk management, and explore new business development
to ride on the opportunities brought by the new development in the
Greater Bay Area.

Dah Sing Bank (China)

Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited (“DSB China”) is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Dah Sing Bank and was locally incorporated in China
in 2008. Its operations and operating results, however, remain very
small. DSB China’s main business focuses are commercial banking
and retail banking business in selected cities in China.

DSB China’s loans and deposits recorded a contraction in the year,
due to keen market competition and lending on a more selective
basis. Tight control on credit underwriting and risk management was
maintained. Its asset quality further improved during the year.

The collaboration with the Commercial Banking Division of Dah Sing
Bank Hong Kong to support cross-border transactions of commercial
customers continued to deepen, which had brought to DSB China
more customers, transactions and revenue growth.

DAH SING FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101°
1010100101011100111
0100011010110010711
00111010110000101¢

013100101011100711
0100011010110010111
1001110101100001011

10001011010110070

33



100111010001001110
1101001170001010100
1011011001110100010
101110101007110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
1011101070011100100
110011011001110100

34

EyAC1)
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

ERREBE @
KEFRT (PE) @

RFRIT(PE) EERTE 6 X B 2E
RERNRI > DITRRLEE -BE BT &
N (BRI RA — 1T RARYIATE AT - RPE
EFRATABRRITEHRENTPREHRE
BRNBERZERTER  FREMEBRITE
RS - BEIBURR A E R 2R AT 8] K% & %
KEE B - RETIRTT (R ED) RAREEHA
EBMEBHBRELZRE  NBZFFERF T
BBIR A o

EERT

BEERITBROHDAEBRRBA(EERT) REE™
ZEERTAEERT c EERTEABRAZH
- #EEEI3TFIESAL  URPRI4EEEN
IERERzEEN 2 — BERITHLENH140K
DITRIAT - PITATREBRRAE - B R
PR ZDITRAT °

SERITN2018FHEB R LM B ERER
FE - 82018 FRRIZER B ISIRE F 9REE
2% BHRFAREHEEFESEANELRE
EREEEEEILI - 2018 F 2 IR R EEHEFE
2017F EA1.2% - FAFHRFEESEBHRE A
12.8% * BE{ER2017FH)13.2% © ERRIFRSD
BIE2017 F K 19.6% K% 7.4% * 2018 F R E
F(BERBEHER)HEHLEE82.9% - 20184
KOTRER LT E1.36% R TREREBEER
5226% + 82017 FHIHFTRE -

KierEBER AT 2018F F 1R

HIGHLIGHT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)
Dah Sing Bank (China) (Continued)

DSB China continues to operate in 6 major cities in China, with a
network comprising the Shenzhen headquarters, and branches in
Shanghai, Nanchang, Zhenjiang, Guangzhou (with a sub-branch
in Foshan) and a sub-branch in Shenzhen Qianhai, offering a wide
range of commercial and retail banking lending, deposits and
related banking services to our customers in China and customers
that have China-Hong Kong cross-border banking needs. Riding
on the government plan on the Greater Bay Area development and
increasing economic integration in the region, DSB China together
with other business units of the Group will explore ways to capture
increasing business opportunities arising from such development.

Bank of Chongging

Bank of Chongging Co., Ltd. (“BOCQ”) is the leading city commercial
bank in Chongging. Chonggqing is the largest city in Western China
with a population of over 33 million people, and is one of the 4 leading
municipalities in China reporting directly to Beijing. BOCQ operates a
branch network of around 140 branches and sub-branches, including
branches and sub-branches in Chengdu, Guiyang and Xian.

BOCQ’s business performance and financial results generally
improved in 2018. Reporting on IFRS 9 basis starting 2018, its 2018
profit attributable to shareholders was up 1.2% on 2017, as a higher
provision for credit impairment losses, on expected credit loss
accounting standard, was made in the year. Its return on average
shareholders’ funds was 12.8% in the year, slightly lower than
13.2% recorded in 2017. Loans and deposits grew 19.6% and 7.4%
respectively on 2017, with its loan (including trade bills) to deposit
ratio standing at 82.9% at the end of 2018. Non-performing loan ratio
was 1.36% at the end of 2018, and non-performing loan coverage
ratio at 226%, both had improved when compared with 2017.
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HIGHLIGHT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)
Bank of Chongging (Continued)

Our share of BOCQ net profit continued to be recognized on the
equity accounting basis, which amounted to HK$660 million in 2018.
Due to a further lowering in the Value in Use on our investment
in BOCQ assessed at June and also at the end of 2018, a total
impairment charge on this investment, at HK$633 million, was
recognized and included in our 2018 consolidated results, further to
the first impairment provision at HK$815 million recognized at the
end of 2017. Total impairment allowance on this investment made
by the Group amounted to HK$1,448 million as of the end of 2018.
The carrying value of our investment in BOCQ, net of the impairment
allowance, was reduced to HK$3,621 million, which was lower than
the carrying value of HK$4,135 million as at 31 December 2017.

INSURANCE BUSINESS

After the completion of the disposal of the Group’s life insurance
business in 2017, the Group’s insurance business is focused
on general insurance, which is operated by Dah Sing Insurance
Company (1976) Limited (“DSI”) in Hong Kong, and by Macau
Insurance Company Limited (“MIC”) in Macau. A local pension fund
management business under MIC is operated by Macau Pension
Fund Management Company Limited (“MPFM”), a Macau subsidiary
established under MIC in 2017, which had taken up the pension fund
management business from the previous life insurance subsidiary in

Macau (the sales of which by the Group was completed in 2017).

To support the growth and development of the Group’s general
insurance business in the medium and longer term, Dah Sing Financial
Holdings Limited (“DSFH”) injected a total of approximately HK$1.45
billion of new capital to its two general insurance subsidiaries, during
late 2017 and early 2018.
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INSURANCE BUSINESS (Continued)

The following provides a summary of the profit and loss of our
general insurance business, including the results of the pension
fund management business in Macau, but excluding discontinued
operations and exceptional gain or loss:

20184 2017 4
BEERT HK$ Million 2018 2017
FREBREMKA (BIEREE R Net insurance premium and 365 262
iR ON) other income including fee and

commission income
REBRERIHFE Net insurance claims and expenses (260) (195)
W& RIEERA Investment and related income
FLEMA Interest income 28 16
FEE (BR) WA Net trading (loss)/income (10) 24
REME 2 AT EFHEFWE Net gain on fair value adjustment on 4 4

investment properties
HAb g @I Other operating income 29 25
NEt Sub total 51 69
LB REMKA Operating expenses and other costs (118) (103)
B P45 A5 A A Profit before income tax 38 33
FriS®t Income tax 3) (3)
JF o ) Net profit 35 30
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On the back of the higher level of capital and the very high solvency
ratio, our general insurance business expanded the volume of
business underwritten in the year by executing the approved growth
strategy, which had resulted in a significant increase in gross premium
written and net premium earned vs 2017, largely produced by DSI.
Against the higher volume of insurance business written and the
higher premium income, a much higher amount of insurance claims
and commission expenses were incurred in the year. The very severe
typhoon Mangkhut hitting Hong Kong and some natural disasters
having affected some neighbouring countries in 2018 had caused
higher than normal level of claims and reserves required on property
damages, and a lower than expected net underwriting performance in
the year.
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INSURANCE BUSINESS (Continued)

In building up the scale and enhancing functional capabilities of our
general insurance business, we incurred higher staffing and marketing
costs, and made continued investment in our IT platform and systems
to broaden product offering. The operating expenses of our general
insurance business were up by 15% on 2017.

Driven mainly by the higher amount of capital provided to our general
insurance subsidiaries, investment in bonds and equities gradually
increased during 2018, and the amount of bank placements steadily
reduced when compared with the end of 2017. As a whole, the returns
from the investment portfolios of our general insurance business
improved relative to 2017, mainly coming from increases in interest
and bond coupon income, and dividends from equity investments,
despite lower fair value of some of the investments coming to the end
of 2018, reflecting the less favourable market valuations of bonds
and equities in general in late 2018. To mitigate against large earning
variability arising from valuation changes in the investment portfolios
of our general insurance subsidiaries, a large proportion of the
equity investments held were carried on the fair value through other
comprehensive income accounting classification.

The following provides a summary of the net asset value of our general
insurance business and the respective solvency ratios of DSI and MIC
in 2018 and 2017:

20184 20174
BEEBT HK$ Million 2018 2017
BEFE Net asset value 2,269 2,243
AETRE 2 EfT8E Solvency ratio of DSI 1483% 3160%
SEPIRBE 2 B8 Solvency ratio of MIC 883% 835%

RIERN 2017 FRAFREITER - KRB
R2018FEREBERIEEHE - HFEHR2018
FREMENLETR - BHERNEEREK
o BSRFRM AT E AT R E AR ¥ 75
AR o

Subsequent to the capital injection by DSFH to DSI in 2017, DSI
expanded the volume of its business and also investment portfolio
during the course of 2018, which had led to a reduction in its solvency
ratio by the end of 2018, though it was well above regulatory minimum
level, and will allow DSI to continue to expand its business scale with
sufficient capital.
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INSURANCE BUSINESS (Continued)

For MIC, in addition to the booking of the exceptional gain on the
disposal of Macau Life Insurance Company Limited (“MLIC”) in late
2017 contributing to an increase in MIC’s capitalization, MIC’s capital
position was further boosted in early 2018, after the completion of
new equity injection. The robust solvency ratio of MIC will provide a
strong support for growing our general insurance in Macau.

DSI continued to distribute commercial and personal insurance
products through DSB to the valuable banking customers. A number
of new personal and medical insurance products were launched
for distribution through DSB. To strengthen the ability to reach
more customers and accelerate the growth of business volume,
DSI recruited additional agents and brokers to expand its sales. To
enhance digital distribution capabilities, DSI commenced a corporate
website revamp project in 2017 and the new consumer website
was launched in September 2018. Further product and functional
upgrades in the website, product offering and customer services via
digital channel are undergoing development, with significant progress
in 2019 expected per our plan.

DSI was assigned by A.M. Best, for the first time in 2018, a Financial
Strength Rating of “A-" (Excellent) and a Long-Term Issuer Credit
Rating of “a-”, with stable rating outlook.

In 2018, DSI was award the “Outstanding Insurance Company
(General Insurance) 2018” by Quamnet per its Outstanding Enterprise
Awards program, which is a recognition of the excellent performance
of DSI in the general insurance industry in Hong Kong. Besides, DSI
was given the “Caring Company” award by the Hong Kong Council of
Social Service in recognition of DSI’s performance and commitment
in corporate social responsibility and community work.

Our Macau general insurance and pension fund businesses recorded
a set of stable and better results than 2017, normalized for the
exceptional disposal gain booked on the completion of the sale of
MLIC in 2017, as reflected in MIC’s higher gross premium written and
higher underwriting profit in 2018, as well as its strong solvency ratio.
In the year, MIC’s “A-" (Excellent) Financial Strength Rating and Long-
Term Issuer Credit Rating of “a-” were affirmed by A.M. Best.
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INSURANCE BUSINESS (Continued)

For the Macau pension management business, MPFM recorded
steady growth in assets under management in 2018. The development
of the new non-mandatory Central Provident Fund business had
progressed in 2018, which is expected to offer further growth
potential to MPFM in the years ahead.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has implemented a Risk Governance Framework which
comprises of a Risk Appetite Framework setting out high level risk
management directions and tolerance, as well as a Risk Management
Framework with policies and procedures developed to define the risk
measurement, monitoring, reporting and control processes on an
enterprise-wide basis to make sure that business development and
operations of the Group are in line with the risk appetite statement as
well as applicable regulatory requirements.

Risk limits or tolerances are set for the major risks inherent in the
Group’s operations, including both quantifiable risks such as credit
risk, market risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk, as well as less-
quantifiable risks, which include operational risk, technology risk,
reputation risk, etc. These limits and tolerances are monitored
regularly by management and reported to the Board level Risk
Management and Compliance Committee for oversight.

The risk profile of the banking business of the Group was broadly
stable in 2018. The main asset quality metrics improved when
compared with 2017.

In line with the implementation of the accounting standard HKFRS 9
starting 1 January 2018, DSB had implemented a set of Expected
Credit Loss (“ECL”) models to assess the amount of impairment
provision required for the credit portfolios, taking into account
macroeconomic factors, characteristics of the portfolios, as well
as forward looking elements during the ECL calculation process.
Risk management processes had been enhanced with regular
reviews conducted to assess the possible developments of the
macroeconomic environments to make sure that major issues that
could affect credit losses in future are properly incorporated in the
forward looking assessment.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Moreover, to prepare for the implementation of the Banking (Exposure
Limits) Rule and the revised Supervisory Policy Manual (“SPM”)
Modules IR-1 on “Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book” in July 2019
as well as the revised SPM Modules CR-G-13 on “Counterparty Credit
Risk Management” in 2020, we have taken actions, and are making
further upgrade, to strengthen our risk management and control
processes and complete the necessary system enhancements such
that the Group will be well prepared for the implementation of these
revised risk measurements and regulatory standards by the respective
effective dates.

Cybersecurity and effectively mitigating cyber threats are a
continuous and increasing focus of the Group, which is closely
monitored by Management and regularly reviewed at the Board level
as a part of our risk governance, and to ensure that our cybersecurity
objectives and defence are commensurate with our business needs,
protection of customer data and market developments. The Group
follows the requirement and implementation as mapped out by the
Cybersecurity Fortification Initiative of HKMA, and has implemented
various cybersecurity resilience measures, controls and defences to
safeguard against system attack as well as data breach, including a
multi-layer security infrastructure and various defence and prevention
system tools. The Group has engaged qualified professionals to
conduct assessments as well as simulated attacks to ensure the
robustness of the Group’s cyber defences, and to enable us to keep
abreast of sound market practices.

On the anti-money laundering (“AML”) front, we had continued to
strengthen our AML risk management framework including policy
and procedures, operational processes covering customer risk
assessment, customer due diligence, and transaction monitoring.
Continued effort was made to implement new risk control measures
and AML technology upgrade to sustain the effectiveness of our AML
control.
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BEXRRBEE CAPITAL AND LIQUIDITY
20184 2017 F
RITEE Banking Group 2018 2017
TBIRTT 2 BEAREM apital base of banking subsidiaries
MR TT < B AR A C I'b f bank bsid
(LA &&Tat) (HK$ Million)
®12 A31H At 31 December
—EEE & - Common Equity Tier 1 19,747 18,900
——& - Tier 1 20,646 19,799
— M - Tier 2 6,529 6,556
HRig 2 BRER AL Total capital base after deductions 27,175 26,354
BARFT L& Capital adequacy ratio*
—EERE R - Common Equity Tier 1 13.1% 13.4%
——& —Tier 1 13.7% 14.0%
— BB — Total 18.1% 18.7%
TREN M AR R Liquidity maintenance ratio 45.6% 44.0%

(FEF1H)

* 201812 A31 A K20174F12A31HZ EA R R
Ee R Ty R SRATRO AR B R (BRI R R1T
RAFIRIT (P E)) RIRERCRITR (BA) RAD
R EBIRTE || BRI ERMRE LR - Zira
BARLERNFED EBAITSRARIIRER

%

BB MM L R THIRARIRTT (R IERFIRE
RITRAFRIT (FE)) R BFE12AARE
BRZFHGEERBEERBNRITECORS
) RADFHE -

BEMF - AEBERBEITIE KR MRITEER
g”'*%ﬁE'J(ﬁ/ﬁj%ﬁézlitt?ﬁﬁﬁ??; ) EH
EHUNABROAR  #RFRENEATREL

= o

-

RARZABDEEHCBESERRDEE (N
BRINERSRBRES) RERBITERX
BT URFASERERERABESHEN
BEZESD  ROKSERBFAGKRR RSN
MERFLLR -

(average for the year)

The capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December
2017 represents the consolidated position of DSB (covering BCM and
DSB China) computed on Basel lll basis in accordance with to the
Banking (Capital) Rules. This consolidated capital adequacy ratio takes
into account market risk and operational risk.

The liquidity maintenance ratio is calculated as the simple average of
each calendar month’s average consolidated liquidity maintenance ratio
of DSB (covering BCM and DSB China) for the 12 months of the financial
year, computed in accordance with the Banking (Liquidity) Rules.

The Group’s banking business maintained healthy capital adequacy
ratios over the past two years whilst the Group pursued its growth
strategy and positions to meet new regulatory rules that will have
bearing on the Banking Group’s regulatory capital ratio.

Our Banking Group continued to maintain throughout the year a high
liquidity maintenance ratio backed by a strong pool of liquid assets
including high quality liquid assets (such as Hong Kong Exchange
Fund bills and notes), cash and placements with banks, and other
diversified marketable securities held for investment and liquidity

purposes.
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CAPITAL AND LIQUIDITY (Continued)

Stress testing on our capital and liquidity positions is a regular and
ongoing exercise conducted by our risk management function, with
the results reviewed by Management on a periodic basis, and high-
level reporting to the Board-level Risk Management and Compliance
Committee, and to the Board.

HUMAN RESOURCES

We continued to make efforts to reinforce the Group’s guiding
principles and values and uphold our employees’ conduct. Our
remuneration policy has been enhanced to emphasize the importance
of non-financial performance factors. In addition, staff’s positive
behaviours are recognized through various programs. We have rolled
out the “Dah Sing Star Awards” since 2016 to recognize colleagues
who have exemplified the Group’s guiding principles and values
in their daily work. Recognitions were also given to those staff
members who made special contributions to improvement in business
performance, productivity and effectiveness of our operations. A
culture and conduct related dashboard is prepared on a regular basis
to facilitate tracking of relevant indicators and analysis.

Growing with employees through mutual commitment is a part of the
Group’s corporate value. In 2018, some of our training programmes
were enhanced to better support the development and training need
of both managerial and general staff, and to align with the Group’s
business and development needs. To facilitate career progression of
staff, career road maps have been developed for some job families.

We furthered our efforts in fostering a caring culture throughout the
organization. In 2018, we enhanced our annual leave, maternity leave
and staff mortgage loan, extended group medical insurance coverage
to dependents of more employees, introduced flexi work arrangement
in summer and continued to implement initiatives to promote staff
wellness, such as Work-Life Balance Week and Healthy Week.
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HUMAN RESOURCES (continued)

Dah Sing Banking Group Limited was presented with “The Employer
of Choice Award” by JobMarket for the third consecutive year. The
award is a recognition of the Group’s commitment and achievement
across different areas including recruitment and retention strategy,
training and development, reward, organizational culture and work-life
balance. The Group was also recognized with “Manpower Developer”
award by the Employees Retraining Board in 2018. This designation
recognizes the Group’s achievements in training and development,
and in fostering an organizational culture which is conducive to life-

long learning.

The Group is honoured to receive the “15+ Years Caring Company”
award from the Hong Kong Council of Social Service in recognition
of our commitment to corporate social responsibility. In addition, we
were also granted the “Good MPF Employer”, and “e-Contribution
Award” and “Support for MPF Management Award” by the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority as a recognition of the Group’s
efforts in enhancing the retirement benefits of employees. The Group
is also proud to receive the “Family-Friendly Employers” award and
“Awards for Breastfeeding Support” in the 2017/18 Family-Friendly
Employers Award Scheme jointly organized by the Home Affairs
Bureau and the Family Council. In recognition of our receiving the
“Family-Friendly Employers” award thrice since 2011, we were also
given a “Special Mention (Gold)” award. These awards recognize the
Group’s continued efforts to enhance family-friendly policies and
practices.

To cope with business growth covering the Hong Kong, Macau and
China markets, and the increasing demand for human resources
to strengthen our capabilities in both business units and support
functions, the Group’s headcount increased in 2018, with the total
number of employees of our Group increasing from 2,949 at the end
of 2017 to 3,027 at the end of 2018.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the Management of Dah Sing
Financial Holdings Limited (“Company” or “Group”) are committed to
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices within
the Group and devote considerable effort to identify and formalize
best practices. We believe that sound and effective corporate
governance practices are essential for delivering sustainable value,
enhancing a culture of business integrity and maintaining investors’
confidence. Good corporate governance promotes and safeguards
the interests of shareholders and other stakeholders, thereby
enhancing the credibility and reputation of the Group.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has
applied the principles and complied with all code provisions as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) under Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) with the exception of
code provision A.4.1 and E.1.2 as explained in the following relevant
sections. This Corporate Governance Report has been prepared
in accordance with the requirements set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules, and explains how the Company applies the principles of
the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company so as to promote its success and continued growth.
The Board is also responsible for ensuring that the Company has
sound systems of risk management, internal control and regulatory
compliance. The Directors, collectively and individually, have a duty to
act in good faith, and to take decisions objectively in the interests of
the Group. The Board sets the business objectives for the Company,
and monitors the execution of those objectives by the Management of
the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Board (Continued)

The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility of running

the Group to the Management, and has delegated responsibility for

certain matters to a number of committees, which are described

more fully in the following sections. As defined in the Board’s

terms of reference, there are a number of matters which require

the deliberation of the full Board, and may not be delegated to the

committees of the Board or the Management. These reserved matters

include:

setting and overseeing the objectives and strategies of the
Group

approving annual budget and business plan, and monitoring
performance and execution of plan

establishing and overseeing risk governance

appointment and oversight of senior management, and ensuring
competent management is in place

setting corporate values and standards

ensuring a suitable and transparent corporate structure

ensuring effective audit function and internal control

ensuring an appropriate level of effectiveness in respect of the
structure, operation and risk management

matters involving conflict of interest of substantial shareholders
or any Director

material acquisition or disposal of assets (not in the ordinary
business or operation of the Company), investments and

business reorganization

appointment of Directors and also appointment of individual
Directors as the chairman or members of Board Committees

corporate governance functions in respect of the development
and review of policies and practices on corporate governance
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
The Board (Continued)

- overseeing management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems

- evaluating and determining the Company’s ESG-related
risks, and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk
management and internal control systems are in place

Board Composition

As at 31 December 2018, the Board comprised 11 Directors and 1
Alternate Director, namely Messrs. David Shou-Yeh Wong (Chairman),
Hon-Hing Wong (Derek Wong) (Managing Director and Chief Executive)
and Gary Pak-Ling Wang (Deputy Chief Executive and Group Chief
Financial and Operating Officer) as Executive Directors (“EDs”), Messrs.
Eiichi Yoshikawa, (Mr. Takayoshi Futae as alternate), Kenichi Yamato
and John Wai-Wai Chow as Non-Executive Directors (“NEDs”), and
Messrs. Robert Tsai-To Sze, Seiji Nakamura, Andrew Kwan-Yuen Leung,
Paul Michael Kennedy and David Wai-Hung Tam as Independent Non-
Executive Directors (“INEDs”). There is a strong independent element
in the Board to ensure the independence and objectivity of the Board’s
decision-making process as well as the thoroughness and impartiality of
the Board’s oversight of the Management.

The Board possesses appropriate experience, competencies and
personal qualities to discharge its responsibilities adequately and
effectively. In addition, the Board collectively has adequate knowledge
and expertise relevant to the business activities of the Company in
order to ensure effective governance and oversight. Brief biographical
particulars of the Directors are set out in the “Directors’ and Senior
Management’s Profile” of this Annual Report. The Company has
maintained on the respective websites of Dah Sing Bank and Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEX”) an updated list
of its Directors including their roles and functions and whether
they are INEDs. INEDs are also identified as such in all corporate
communications that disclose the names of the Company’s Directors.

The independence of the INEDs has been assessed in accordance
with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Following such assessment, the Board considers all the INEDs to be
independent. Further, the Company has also received from each of
the INEDs an annual confirmation of his independence.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Composition (Continued)

The Company issues appointment letters to each of the NEDs
(including INEDs), setting out the terms and conditions of their
appointment.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The Company acknowledges that there are two key aspects of its
management — the management of the Board and the day-to-day
management of its business, and that there should be a clear division
of these responsibilities at the Board level to ensure a balance
of power and authority, so that no single individual should have
unfettered powers of decision.

The posts of the Chairman and the Chief Executive are held separately
by Mr. David Shou-Yeh Wong and Mr. Hon-Hing Wong (Derek Wong)
respectively. This segregation ensures a clear distinction between
the Chairman’s responsibility to manage the Board and the Chief
Executive’s responsibility to manage the Company’s business and
a balance of power and authority. The Chairman mainly provides
leadership for the Board to ensure that the Board discharges its
responsibilities effectively, and that all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner. The Chairman possesses
the requisite experience, competencies and personal qualities to fulfill
these responsibilities. The Chief Executive is responsible for the day-
to-day management of the Company to provide business direction
and operational leadership for the benefit of the Group’s businesses,

enhance shareholder value and ensure sound internal control.

NEDs (including INEDs)

The Company has 3 NEDs and 5 INEDs. Each of the INEDs has
provided to the Company confirmation of his independence as
required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with Rule 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A with sufficient number
of INEDs who possess the appropriate professional qualifications and
experience.

Pursuant to code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, NEDs should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. The NEDs of
the Company are not appointed for a specific term, but are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings
in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Articles of
Association.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
NEDs (including INEDSs) (Continued)

NEDs, as equal Board members, give the Board and any committees
on which they serve the benefit of their skills, expertise and varied
backgrounds and qualifications through regular attendance and active
participation. They attend regular and special Board meetings, and
are encouraged to attend the general or extraordinary general meeting
of the shareholders of the Company. The NEDs make valuable
contribution to the development of the Company’s strategy and
policies through independent, constructive and informed comments
and suggestions.

Board Process

Board meetings are held at least 4 times each year at approximately
quarterly intervals, and additional board meetings are held as
necessary. Details of Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings
and the annual general meeting in 2018 are set out in the section on
Attendance Records of this Corporate Governance Report.

Notice of at least 14 days is given of regular Board meetings to give
all Directors an opportunity to attend. For all other Board meetings,
reasonable notice is given in advance. Directors may submit to
the Company Secretary, in writing, and at least 7 days in advance,
matters that they would like to include in the agenda for regular
Board meetings. Minutes of the Board and committees of the Board
are kept by the Company Secretary or the secretary of the relevant
committees, and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

Other than regular Board meetings, the Chairman also meets with the
NEDs (including INEDs), without the presence of the EDs and other
Management staff, to facilitate open and frank discussion on issues
relating to the Company.

Directors may, upon reasonable request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense. In circumstances where Directors believe that independent
advice is needed, they should approach the Company Secretary or
the Chief Executive in the first instance with their request. No such
request will be unreasonably denied, and the Company Secretary
or the Chief Executive will endeavor to identify and engage an
appropriate professional adviser at the expense of the Company. The
Company maintains appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal
action against its Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Corporate Governance Functions
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The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance

duties including:

to develop and review the Group’s policy and practices on
corporate governance

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management

to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report

The following is a summary of the matters relating to the above

BEZFEMENT : corporate governance duties reviewed and discussed by the Board in
2018:
- 2017 EEBAWE -  Corporate Governance Report of 2017

2017 FIR%E « (L2 REAWRE

ERENEESRHEAREERRERE N
WEBEE R 2 A RERR

EXe EXEREQNEZEE

EHRCEBEATAIREBLETRANZEE
CHPALE S S

RERMBOTBERATNARAZHER
A ZEEMEETZEERTARRE
HahEhzmETE LEREBES

ERRERE AT REEEARE KE
B MR ZAERT ML 2 ZE DT R AR
fE1TE)

Environmental, Social and Governance Report of 2017

Management’s confirmation on effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems of the Group

Changes of the composition of the Board/Board Committee

Review of a brief update on the key amendments to the
Corporate Governance Code and related Listing Rules

Delegation of authority regarding Environmental, Social and
Governance reporting to the Corporate Social Responsibility
Committee of Dah Sing Bank, Limited (a subsidiary of the
Company) and endorsed the Terms of Reference of such

committee
Review of the gap analysis and action items on the revised

Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
and related Listing Rules
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted its own code for directors’ securities
transactions (“Directors’ Dealing Code”) on terms no less exacting
than the prevailing required standard set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”)
under Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Following specific enquiry,
the Directors of the Company confirmed that they had complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code and the Directors’
Dealing Code during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

A director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to
election by shareholders at the first general meeting after his/her
appointment. Pursuant to code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. All
new Directors are subject to election by shareholders of the Company
at the next annual general meeting after their appointments have
become effective. All other Directors of the Company are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Delegation by the Board

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the Audit
Committee were set up under the authority of the Board, to assist the
Board in carrying out its responsibilities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Delegation by the Board (Continued)

The current composition of the Board, the Nomination and

Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee is as follows:

BEEg Board
HITEE EDs
FFEERE) David Shou-Yeh Wong (Chairman)
=R (EERCTRRITHAER) Hon-Hing Wong (Derek Wong) (Managing Director and Chief Executive)
FIRZ (RITBBH R S B & Gary Pak-Ling Wang (Deputy Chief Executive and Group Chief Financial
LB and Operating Officer)
FUITES NEDs
ELE S Eiichi Yoshikawa
AME— Kenichi Yamato
AER John Wai-Wai Chow
3 TE INEDs
s EM Robert Tsai-To Sze
FARNEIR Seiji Nakamura
REE Andrew Kwan-Yuen Leung
NS Paul Michael Kennedy
E(E David Wai-Hung Tam
BEREE Alternate Director
—EEH(FIR—2Z2BEES) Takayoshi Futae (Alternate to Eiichi Yoshikawa)

Nomination and
EEZRFMZEE Remuneration Committee ERZEER Audit Committee
SN IEHITE INEDs BYFHTES INEDs
B (ERE) Robert Tsai-To Sze (Chairman) B (ERF) Robert Tsai-To Sze (Chairman)
RRBIX Seiji Nakamura FRAE IR Seiji Nakamura
et Paul Michael Kennedy
HITES ED
FE=rE David Shou-Yeh Wong
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Induction and Training for Directors

A newly appointed Director is provided with a Director’s induction
handbook and materials relevant to the Company and briefed by the
Management to ensure that the Director has a proper understanding
of the operations and business of the Group and that he or she
is aware of his or her responsibilities under the relevant laws and
regulations. The Company also organized continuous professional
development and training to its Directors to ensure that they are
fully aware of their responsibilities under the applicable laws and
regulations.

Directors participated in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. During the year, the
Company has organized board briefings for Directors. All Directors
provided to the Company Secretary a record of the training they
received in 2018.

The Directors received trainings on the following areas during the
year:

&3 she
Training Areas
TtEER/ KEXB RBEE/
EERTE REE £%/ 0%
Corporate Group’s Macroeconomics/
Governance/ Business and Business/
B Directors Regulatory Management Financial
BYFBITEE INEDs
&M Robert Tsai-To Sze v v v
FFER Seiji Nakamura = v v
REE Andrew Kwan-Yuen Leung v v v
A Paul Michael Kennedy v v -
(R20184 12 4 HIEZ(E)  (appointed on 4 December 2018)
EEU David Wai-Hung Tam 7 v =
(R2018F 124 HEZ(E)  (appointed on 4 December 2018)
FEHITEE NEDs
B Eiichi Yoshikawa v v v
RFnfE— Kenichi Yamato v v v
AR John Wai-Wai Chow v v v
HiTEE EDs
FrE David Shou-Yeh Wong - v v
EEH Hon-Hing Wong (Derek Wong) v v v
ER(=h Gary Pak-Ling Wang v v v
BHEE Alternate Director
—EE Takayoshi Futae v v v
(BNE—ZBEES) (Alternate to Eiichi Yoshikawa)
(R20184F8 /21 HEZ(E)  (appointed on 21 August 2018)

KIerSEBEER AT 2018FF 1R
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BOARD COMMITTEE - NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

Nomination of Directors

The terms of reference of the Board sets out the requirement for a
formal, considered and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new directors to the Board. The terms of reference also explicitly
prohibit the delegation of decisions regarding the appointment of
new directors to sub-committees of the Board or to the management
of the Company, and require that such appointments are made after
deliberation by the full Board.

Remuneration of Directors

The Remuneration Committee was established by the Company in
August 2005 with specific written terms of reference setting out its
roles and responsibilities. The Committee was reconstituted as the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) of the Company in
August 2006 with a set of updated terms of reference. The NRC has
the following roles and responsibilities:

- To review and endorse the nomination of directors and senior
management

- To assist the Board in discharging its responsibility for the
design and operation of the Company’s remuneration system

- To review and make recommendation to the Board in respect of
the Company’s remuneration policy and practices

- To determine the specific remuneration packages of directors
and senior management

- To ensure that regular review of the Company’s remuneration
system and its operation is conducted
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BOARD COMMITTEE - NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE (Continued)

Corporate Governance Duties

The NRC also performs the following duties:

- To review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and also its committees at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board

- To regularly review the efficiency and effectiveness of the
functioning of the Board and also its committees, particularly in
respect of the composition of Board and committee members

- To review the Board Diversity Policy, the related measurable
objectives and the progress on achieving these objectives

- To advise and assist the Board in discharging its culture reform
and related responsibilities

The NRC is chaired by an INED and the majority of the members are
INEDs. The current members of the NRC are Mr. Robert Tsai-To Sze
(Chairman), Mr. Seiji Nakamura and Mr. David Shou-Yeh Wong. The
terms of reference for the NRC are available on the websites of Dah
Sing Bank and HKEX.

The NRC held 3 meetings in 2018. The attendance record of the NRC
members at NRC meetings held in 2018 is set out in the section on
Attendance Records of this Corporate Governance Report.

The work of the NRC during 2018 included:

- Determining and approving the remuneration levels for
executive directors and senior management

- Reviewing and endorsing the nomination of directors to the
Board

- Reviewing and endorsing the change in Board composition and
the membership of Audit Committee

- Reviewing and endorsing the terms of reference of NRC

- Reviewing and endorsing the Group’s remuneration policy and
related systems and practices
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BOARD COMMITTEE - NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE (Continued)

Corporate Governance Duties (Continued)
- Reviewing the disclosure on the Company’s remuneration

systems and practices

- Reviewing the Board governance of the Company and Dah Sing
Bank

- Reviewing the 2017 performance evaluation of individual INEDs
and the Board evaluation of Dah Sing Bank

- Reviewing and endorsing the succession plan for the Chief
Executive and Division Head positions of Dah Sing Bank

- Reviewing the culture enhancement initiatives pursued by the
Group

The Group’s Remuneration Policy

The Group’s policy on remuneration is to maintain fair and competitive
packages for its employees, which are commensurate with market
terms, and are based on business needs, expertise and quality of
the individuals, and with proper reference to industry practice and
regulatory guidelines.

For determining the level of fees paid to members of the Board of
Directors, market rates and factors such as each director’s workload
and required commitment will be taken into account. The following
factors are considered when determining the remuneration packages
of EDs:

- Business needs and performance

- The economy and business conditions in general

- Each individual’s contributions to the Group

- Risk related performance

- Reference to market pay level commensurate with the
individual’s responsibility

- Consideration of regulatory guidelines

- Retention considerations and each individual’s potential
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BOARD COMMITTEE - NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Group’s Remuneration Policy (Continued)

During the process of consideration, no individual director will be

involved in decisions relating to his/her own remuneration.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy (the “Policy”) on

3 December 2013. The key terms of this Policy are set out as follows:

1.

Purpose

This Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Company’s Board in order to enhance the quality of
its performance which in turn benefits the Company and its
business as a whole.

Policy statement

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board in supporting the attainment of its sustainable
development. Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
ethnicity, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the factors on personal attributes outlined above, expectation
on contribution to the Board, and the benefit of diversity of the
Board.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, ethnicity,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge, independence and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Monitoring and Reporting

The NRC will review and report annually, in the corporate
governance report to the Board, a summary of the Policy, the
measurable objectives to implement the Policy and progress
made towards achieving those objectives.
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BOARD COMMITTEE - NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

5. Review of the Policy

The NRC will review the Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of the Policy and discuss and recommend any
revisions that may be required to the Board for consideration
and approval.

BOARD COMMITTEE - AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee (“AC”), established by the Board of the
Company, is responsible for ensuring the objectivity and credibility
of financial reporting, reviewing the internal control system and
compliance with regulatory requirements, and approving audit
plans and reviewing findings and reports of the internal and external
auditors, and that in presenting results to the shareholders, the
Directors have exercised the care, diligence and skills prescribed
by laws, and that appropriate accounting and financial reporting
standards are followed.

The AC makes recommendations to the Board regarding the
appointment of the head of internal audit and reviews the
effectiveness of the internal audit function.

The AC makes recommendation to the Board on the selection,
oversight and remuneration of external auditors. The AC reviews and
monitors the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards.

The AC reviews and monitors the integrity of the Company’s annual
and interim financial statements, including significant financial
reporting judgments used in producing the financial statements.

The AC reviews the Company’s internal controls and reports its major
findings and comments to the Board. Descriptions of the Company’s
internal control system are set out below, whilst for risk management,
these are shown in the Supplementary Financial Information
under Risk Management and described with appropriate financial
quantification in the Financial Risk Management sections as notes to
the annual financial statements.

The terms of reference for the AC are available on the websites of Dah
Sing Bank and the HKEX.
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BOARD COMMITTEE - AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The current members of the AC are Mr. Robert Tsai-To Sze
(Chairman), Mr. Seiji Nakamura and Mr. Paul Michael Kennedy. All
of the members of the AC are INEDs with extensive experience in
banking, finance and business management. The AC’s chairman, Mr.
Sze, is a qualified accountant and was a partner of a predecessor
firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers up to June 1996. None of the other
committee members are employed by or otherwise affiliated with the
former or existing external auditors of the Company.

The AC members meet at least 3 times a year with the Company’s
senior Management, the head of internal audit and the external
auditors. In 2018, a total of 4 meetings were held.

The attendance record of AC members at the AC meetings held in
2018 is set out in the section on Attendance Records of this Corporate
Governance Report.

To enable Directors to be informed of the discussions and decisions of
the AC, members of the AC who also attend meetings of the Board will
advise on matters of significance relating to the financial statements
and the internal control system of the Group discussed in the AC.

The following is a summary of the work of the AC during 2018 in
discharging its responsibilities:

a. Review of, and providing advice and recommendations to the
Board for the approval of the 2017 results announcements and
audited financial statements of the Group, and the 2018 interim
results and interim report;

b. Review of external auditors’ findings and comments, and
management’s reports on major accounting and financial
disclosure matters in respect of 2017 audit and financial
statements;

C. Review of the Corporate Governance Report of 2017 for
inclusion in the Company’s 2017 annual report and the key
changes to the Corporate Governance Code of the Listing
Rules;

d. Approval of the reports to the Board providing a summary of the
issues, focuses and discussion reviewed and dealt with by the
AC in the second half of 2017 and the first half of 2018;
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BOARD COMMITTEE - AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

e. Review of connected party transactions and disclosure;

f. Review and approval of the appointment and remuneration of

external auditors;

g. Review and approval of the external auditors’ audit plan;

h. Review and approval of internal audit plan;

i Review of the internal audit’s work, findings and recommendations;

j- Review of updates from the Compliance Division of the
Group on the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (“HKMA?”)
examinations and regulatory concerns, management’s actions
in implementing the HKMA’s recommendations;

k. Review of the highlights of major new accounting and financial
reporting standards and guidance issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and impact to the

Group on their adoption; and

l. Review of significant accounting treatments for the preparation
of 2018 financial statements.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The attendance of individual Directors at the Board meetings, Audit
Committee meetings, Nomination and Remuneration Committee
meetings and the 2018 Annual General Meeting held in 2018 are as

follows:

e/ REKHE #2018 F
Attended/eligible to attend RREAFAE
RERFM Attended
ZEg 2018
EHZZEE  Nomination and Annual
Ezg Audit  Remuneration General
BE Directors Board Committee Committee Meeting
BUFHTEE INEDs
B Robert Tsai-To Sze 4/4 4/4 3/3 v
e 4 Lon Dounn 4/4 3/4 N/A v
(R20184 12 5 31 HEHE) (resigned on 31 December 2018)
RRER Seiji Nakamura 3/4 3/4 3/3 -
REE Andrew Kwan-Yuen Leung 3/4 N/A N/A -
A Paul Michael Kennedy 11 N/A N/A N/A
(R20184F 12 54 HEZ(E) (appointed on 4 December 2018)
EEU David Wai-Hung Tam 11 N/A N/A N/A
(R20184F 12 54 HEZT) (appointed on 4 December 2018)
FHITEE NEDs
S Eiichi Yoshikawa 1/4 N/A N/A -
AR —BEES Alternate to Eiichi Yoshikawa
— BHE— - Hidekazu Horikoshi 2/3 N/A N/A -
(R20184 8 A 21 HFHE) (resigned on 21 August 2018)
- ZEZf - Takayoshi Futae 0/1 N/A N/A N/A
(R20184F 8421 HEZ(F) (appointed on 21 August 2018)
RFnfg— Kenichi Yamato 4/4 N/A N/A v
AR John Wai-Wai Chow 3/4 N/A N/A -
HiTEE EDs
FrE(2) David Shou-Yeh Wong (Note) 3/4 N/A 3/3 -
EEH Hon-Hing Wong (Derek Wong) 4/4 N/A N/A v
B (203 Gary Pak-Ling Wang 4/4 N/A N/A v/

o BEMEERTFHZTFANEEEI2GHRE -
EFESEFRLERREFAE -EFESEXFET
STEEERGEBBERELFER2018F5A25A
BITZAQR 2018 FRAEBF AR ([2018 F %
REFARE]) c AARIEFBCIERITHRBHS
BEEEAET 2018 FRBBFAGZERF -

Note:

KIerSEBEER AT 2018FF 1R

Pursuant to code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the
board should attend the annual general meeting. Mr. David Shou-Yeh
Wong, the Chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the 2018 Annual
General Meeting (the “2018 AGM”) of the Company held on 25 May 2018
due to a minor physical indisposition. Mr. Hon-Hing Wong (Derek Wong),
Managing Director and Chief Executive of the Company, took the chair
of the 2018 AGM.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

It is the responsibility of the Board to present a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance, position
and prospects.

Management is responsible for providing sufficient explanation and
information to the Board to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other information put before the
Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. As at 31 December 2018, the
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors have prepared
the financial statements of the Group on a going-concern basis.
The responsibility of the Group’s external auditor on the financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report attached to
the Group’s financial statements.

The Board is also responsible for providing a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment to annual and interim reports, other
price-sensitive announcements and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules, as well as to information required to
be disclosed pursuant to statutory or regulatory requirements.

Internal Controls

The Board has delegated to management the responsibility to
develop and maintain a sound internal control system. The internal
control system, operating through a framework of management and
operational controls, and risk management systems, is intended to
allow the Board to monitor the Group’s business performance and
financial positions, to control and adjust risk exposures, to adopt
sound business practices, to obtain reasonable assurance on controls
against fraud and errors, to ensure compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, and to exercise oversight on and provide guidance
to management in achieving the Company’s objectives. However, it
should be recognized that the Group’s internal control procedures
can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance against material
errors, losses or fraud.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)

Internal Controls (Continued)

The key procedures that the Group has established to maintain an

effective internal control system are as follows:

A clear management organizational structure is set up with well-
defined lines of authority, accountability and responsibilities.

Specialized committees are formed to oversee and control
significant risk factors, such as credit risk, liquidity and interest
rate risks, operational risk and compliance risk.

Regular reporting of the performance of the Company’s businesses
to senior management and management committees. Actual
performance results against budgets are closely monitored. The
Board reviews the Group’s business and financial performance
on a quarterly basis.

Written policies and procedures are established to facilitate
proper assessment of customers, services to customers,
segregation of duties, accuracy and completeness of
transaction processing, safeguarding of assets, credit control
and risk monitoring, control of business exposures, compliance
control and monitoring (including anti-money laundering
(“AML”)), staff training, IT development, IT governance and
information security, business continuity planning, financial
control (including accounting, regulatory reporting, financial
reporting to comply with regulatory and financial reporting
standards, management accounting and budget control,
reconciliation of accounts), and system of management
oversight including the operations of various functional
committees.

The independent internal audit function monitors compliance
with management policies and procedures, and regulatory
requirements; and will conduct a wide variety of internal
control reviews and audit activities such as compliance audits
and operations and systems reviews to ensure the integrity,
efficiency and effectiveness of the systems of control. The
Head of Internal Audit reports functionally to the AC and
administratively to the Chief Executive with direct access to the
Executive Committee.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
Internal Controls (Continued)

- The independent group risk function monitors and reports the
Group’s risk positions and analysis to senior management, Risk
Management and Compliance Committee and the Board, and
operates to sustain a sound asset quality and risk control in the
portfolio of the Group’s businesses with due consideration of a
proper risk and return balance.

- The Group continues its ongoing upgrade of risk management
framework and capabilities to strengthen its risk control and
effectiveness, which are key to the maintenance of sound
internal control process of the Group.

- The Group Compliance Committee at the management level
serves to uphold a high level of awareness and accountability
of compliance requirements and is responsible for overseeing
and guiding the development, maintenance and enhancement
of compliance system, policies and practices to ensure
compliance with all statutory requirements and regulatory
guidelines. The Group Compliance Division performs an
independent on-going monitoring and advisory role on the
Group’s compliance with relevant rules and regulations, while
the AML and Financial Crime Risk Department manages and
oversees AML and financial crime risk of the Group.

Assessment of Internal Control System

In assessing the effectiveness of the internal control system, the
Board has considered reviews performed by the Audit Committee and
Management, and the findings of both internal and external auditors.

Under the direction of the Audit Committee, the Group’s Internal Audit
conducted an assessment covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
practices. The 2018 reviews included an annual assessment of
internal control system with reference to the comments made by both
internal and external auditors, policies and procedures of the Group,
regulatory guidelines and the CG Code regarding internal controls.
The Group will continue to work to enhance its internal control system
and processes.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

It is the responsibility of the Board to evaluate and determine the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group establishes
and maintains appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems. The Board is also responsible for overseeing
Management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems. Management has to
provide a confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of these
systems.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. Such
systems comprise a well-established organizational structure and
comprehensive policies and standards. Areas of responsibilities
for each business and functional unit are clearly defined to ensure
effective checks and balances.

Procedures have been designed for safeguarding assets against
unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining proper accounting
records; and for ensuring the reliability of financial information used
within the business or for publication. The procedures provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material errors, losses
or fraud. Procedures have also been designed to ensure compliance
with applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Systems and procedures are in place in the Group to identify,
control and report on the major types of risks the Group encounters.
Business and functional units are responsible for the assessment of
individual types of risk arising under their areas of responsibilities,
the management of the risks in accordance with risk management
procedures and the reporting on risk management. The Group
maintains an effective risk management framework through the
setting up of specialised management committees for the oversight
and monitoring of major risk areas and the establishment of risk
management departments for relevant functions of the Group.

Risk management reports are submitted to the relevant committees
and ultimately to the Board or its delegated Board committee for
oversight and monitoring of various types of risk associated with the
Group’s businesses and operations. The Group’s risk management
policies and major control limits are approved by the Board or
its delegated Board committee. Operating and risk performance
are monitored and reviewed against relevant risk limits regularly
according to established policies and procedures.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)
Annual Assessment

The Group has implemented control self-assessment process on
risk management and internal control systems with reference to the
requirements of the CG Code of the Listing Rules covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls
as well as risk management functions. The self-assessments on the
setup and effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems included assessment conducted by Management and risk
control departments, review and endorsement performed by Internal
Audit function, and review and confirmation by senior management of
the Group.

The results of the 2018 review, which have been reported to the AC
and the Board, concluded that the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems were effective and appropriate.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Group has established an Internal Audit function. The primary role
of the Internal Audit function is to help the Board and Management
to protect the assets, reputation and sustainability of the Group. The
Internal Audit function provides independent and objective assurance
as to whether the design and operational effectiveness of the Group’s
framework of risk management, control and governance processes,
as designed and represented by the Management, is adequate.

Results of audit work together with an assessment of the overall risk
management and control framework are reported to the AC or the
Board as appropriate and at least annually. The Internal Audit function
also reviews the Management’s action plans in relation to audit
findings and verifies the adequacy and effectiveness of the mitigating
controls before formally closing the issue.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE AND
REMUNERATION

The Company has reviewed and is satisfied with the independence of
the Company’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”),
for performing the audit of the Group’s financial statements.

The Company will use the non-audit services of PwC only when
the Company can benefit in a cost-effective manner and the
independence and objectivity of PwC as the Company’s external
auditors can be maintained. Otherwise, professional services from
other firms are used.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE AND
REMUNERATION (Continued)

In addition to audit related services, PwC, based on agreed-upon
procedures, provided the Group non-audit services during 2018
including review of tax returns and computation, tax advisory
services, review of the Group’s interim financial disclosure, and review
of the update on the offering circular of Dah Sing Bank, Limited’s
US$2 Billion Euro Medium Term Note Programme, and independent
assessments of certain operational processes, risk management and
internal control of the Group.

The remuneration paid/payable to PwC in respect of audit services
and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set

out as follows:

exft Bz EA
BN ARMEREE Services rendered for the Company Fee paid/payable
(F#7T)
(HK$°000)
EZRTS Audit services 10,705
FEZLAINRTE Non-audit services:
o HHELKEFHBMNTISFEZEEZI([5F o Review of the updated Euro Medium Term 270
g]) RRFIRITIERT & N BITHREGER Note Programme (the “Programme”) and
MEFETE professional work on new subordinated note
issue of Dah Sing Bank under the Programme
o WREBEMEIR  RIREKEIE - &l e Compliance reviews and independent 3,016
REIE B SRS REM B T Z assessments on operational risk management,
technology risk management, new IT system
projects etc.
o HRREEERZ HMEBINTIEEM o Tax compliance review on taxation computation 1,470
ARG 2 MIBERES and advisory service on compliance with new
tax regulations relevant to the Group
o EHfth e Others 2,484
e Total 17,945
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Effective Communication

The Board attaches great importance to communication with
shareholders. The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) provides a
useful forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board.
The Chairman of the Board and all Directors make a strong effort to
attend. The Chairmen of the Board Committees and a representative
of the external auditors also attend the AGM to take shareholders’
questions.

The Management holds group meetings with analysts in connection
with the Company’s annual and interim results. Apart from the
above, designated senior executives maintain regular dialogue with
institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the
Company’s development, subject to compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations.

Moreover, the website of Dah Sing Bank (www.dahsing.com)
offers shareholders convenient access to the Company’s financial
information, announcements/circulars and information on the
Company’s corporate governance structure and practices, in addition
to business and corporate social responsibility activities of the Group.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Shareholder(s) holding not less than 5% of the total voting rights of
the Company may put forth requisition to convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting of the Company.

The requisition must (i) state the objectives of the meeting, (ii) be
signed by the requisitionist(s) and (iii) be deposited at the Company’s
registered office at 36th Floor, Everbright Centre, 108 Gloucester
Road, Hong Kong or in electronic form. It may also consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more requisitionist(s).

The requisition must also state (i) the name(s) of the requisitionist(s),
(i) the contact details of the requisitionists(s) and (iii) the number of
ordinary shares of the Company held by the requisitionist(s).

The Directors must proceed to convene an Extraordinary General
Meeting within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition.
Such meeting should be held on a date not more than 28 days after
the date on which the notice convening the meeting is given.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)
Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting (Continued)

If the Directors fail to convene the Extraordinary General Meeting
as aforesaid, the requisitionist(s), or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene the meeting. Any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of 3 months from the date of the deposit of the
requisition.

A meeting so convened by the requisitionist(s) shall be convened in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are
to be convened by the Directors.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) by reason of
the failure of the Directors to duly convene a meeting shall be repaid
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders representing not less than 2.5% of the total voting rights
of all shareholders, or not less than 50 shareholders, who are entitled
to vote on a resolution at a general meeting, may:

- put forward a proposal at a general meeting

- circulate to other shareholders a written statement with respect
to matters to be dealt with at a general meeting

Shareholders may refer to section 580 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for further details on
the shareholder qualifications and the procedures and timeline in
connection with the above.

Submission of enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board’s attention
to the Company Secretary at the Company’s registered office at
36th Floor, Everbright Centre, 108 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong.
Questions about the procedures for convening or putting forward
proposals at an Annual General Meeting or Extraordinary General
Meeting may also be put to the Company Secretary.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)
Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholders Communication Policy
which sets out the Company’s practices in relation to communication
with shareholders and the investment community. The Policy is
available on the website of Dah Sing Bank (www.dahsing.com).

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

A Guideline on the Control and Disclosure of Inside Information is in
place, which sets out the guiding principles, procedures and internal
controls for the handling of confidential inside information, and
dissemination of inside information in a timely manner so as to allow
all stakeholders to be aware of the latest positions or price sensitive
information of the Group and its subsidiaries.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has not changed its constitutional documents in 2018.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for ensuring that
Board procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently
and effectively conducted. These objectives are achieved through
adherence to proper Board processes and the timely preparation
and dissemination to Directors comprehensive Board meeting
agendas and papers. Minutes of all meetings of the Board and Board
Committees are prepared and maintained to record in sufficient
details the matters considered and decisions reached by the Board or
Board Committees, including any concerns raised or dissenting views
voiced by any Director. All draft and final minutes of Board meetings
and meetings of Board Committees are sent to Directors or Board
Committee members as appropriate for comments, approval and
records. Board records are available for inspection by any Director
upon request.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who possesses the relevant qualifications and experience
pursuant to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. She has
taken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update
her skills and knowledge during the financial year ended 31 December
2018.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Being a sustainability committed financial institution, Dah Sing
Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company” or the “Group” or “Dah
Sing Group”) first published its Corporate Social Responsibility
(“CSR?”) report for the financial year ended 31 December 2014, before
the requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide under Appendix 27 of
the Main Board Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited becoming effective.

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report aims to
provide an annual update on the Group’s sustainability performance
and a balanced presentation of the Group’s material ESG matters and
initiatives. The Group’s core operations in banking and insurance at
its key markets, namely Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China, are
covered.

This ESG Report supplements the Corporate Governance Report and is
included as part of the Group’s 2018 Annual Report. This report is also
accessible via the website of Dah Sing Bank at www.dahsing.com.

Our Philosophy in ESG

The ESG philosophy of the Dah Sing Group is embedded in our
day-to-day operations. It is about striving to reach a balance
between economic and company growth, community interest and
environmental protection, and treating sustainability both strategically
and operationally on importance, and for the long-term development
of the Group.

Our sustainable development direction is overseen by the Corporate
Social Responsibility Committee (“CSR Committee”), which
comprises members of senior management and certain heads
of Business and Support functions of the Group. The nature and
extent of ESG related risks are evaluated and reviewed whenever
appropriate. Risk management and internal control systems are in
place to manage and control the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. A standard riding on our Guiding Principles and Values,
and thus embodying our sustainability commitment in our daily
business operations, was in place. The CSR Policy had also been
established to provide guidance to the Group in aligning the strategy
development between CSR and business operations.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (continued)
Our Philosophy in ESG (Continued)

ESG related initiatives and activities implemented by our local
business units are reviewed, approved, supervised and monitored by
the CSR Committee. Our ESG performance is analyzed and reported
on a regular basis to raise awareness and encourage improvement.
This year, we have taken further steps to increase the transparency
in disclosure by including the comparative data of environmental
key performance indicators (KPIs) in this report, which provides
a quantitative picture to facilitate performance management and

review.

Viewing sustainability as a shared responsibility for all our business
units and stakeholders, we work towards a brighter future by
progressing and prospering with our communities, customers,
employees and the environment as a whole.

Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality Assessment

Addressing our ESG priorities requires close communication with
our stakeholders including our employees, customers, shareholders,
suppliers, regulators and the wider communities. In 2018, we continue
to maintain an open dialogue with our stakeholders to review and
update the key areas identified as important to our business. This
helps our sustainability priorities and alignment with our business
strategy.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (continued)
Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality Assessment (Continued)

The table below outlines our various dialogue channels for different
types of stakeholders:

Key Stakeholders Engagement Channels

8T I Employees e Performance management
o I EBEERENES e Training, seminars and briefing sessions
e RH#%&FUN CLUB e Dah Sing Staff Club

o [EBIEBEE
e EBIER

e Employee Assistance Program

e  Staff communication

o BIBuh/NEE *  People portal/intranet

o RERETEE

e Recreational and volunteer activities

BP s EPBAFRKEFD Customers e Relationship manager visits

o XM
o EPRBER

e  Corporate website
e  Customer service hotline

s BRREHERERFESR e Service Quality unit to respond to customers’
opinions
e EPRITEWMEERE LM e Customer and industry association talks
B and seminars
AR e WEBFARAERHMBRR Shareholders e Annual General Meeting and other general
N meetings
o REENHBMERENE e Investor and press conferences and briefings

o (BEMEU

o DEEH 2EA

e  Corporate website

&K - e Corporate communications including

Fh TR R R announcements, circulars, interim and
annual reports
HrER o THEKER Suppliers e Meetings and communications
o HIHEREITE R e Regular supplier reviews

o HEmER
EEHE o TEHERINER
o EiER
o ARWE
o o ETIEH
o EBKRBHE
s HEZH

e  Supplier management

Regulators * Regular meetings and communications
e  On-site review

e  Compliance reports

Communities e Volunteer activities
e Sponsorship and donations
e Community outreach

B2 AHSENEBREENIRIE Ha ke The ESG aspects considered as most critical to our stakeholders are
CAEEMMA AT E R EBE R KA RRE A outlined in the materiality matrix below and addressed in further detail

THE— M -
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in the rest of this report.
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Importance to Stakeholders

ABOUT THIS REPORT (continued)
Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality Assessment (Continued)

RFNEXRZBEIER
Dah Sing Materiality Matrix

@
®

)
®

Gk

Marketplace

1. BEANERRERS
Responsible Products and
Services

2. {HEEER
Supply Chain Management

3. EFERLE

Customer Data Privacy

4. EEERT REBRRES
Ethical behaviour/
Anti-money Laundering and
Anti-corruption

HAMEBERNESM

Importance to Dah Sing’s Business Success

EZERH
Material matters
THRE HE Bi%
Workplace Community Environment
5 R 10. XFEFIEE 15. BURRREREHMER
Employment Supporting SMEs Energy and Greenhouse Gas
Emission Management
6. RBERZZ 1. BRELF 16. L REKED
Health and Safety Nurturing the Youth Waste Reduction and
Recycling
7. BIIRER 12. SEBERIREREAL 17. B4
Training and Development Promoting Sports and Going Paperless
Supporting Those in Need
8. SR TERE 13. BR 18. REMKE
Diversity and Equal Environmental Conservation Reducing Water Use
Opportunity
9. ST 14. SRER 19. XFRESR
Labour Standards Financial Inclusion Supporting Green Finance
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (continued)
Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality Assessment (Continued)

This year we saw more emphasis and stakeholder expectation on
responsible products and services, data privacy and protection,
ethical behaviour, anti-money laundering and anti-corruption. These
key considerations, aligned with the Group’s Guiding Principles and
Values, encompassing Marketplace, Workplace, Community and
Environment, have been further addressed in this report.

MARKETPLACE

Setting foot in Asia, we strive to build up trust with customers and
to be a financial services provider with a personal touch. To achieve
this, we are committed to creating excellent customer experience
while safeguarding data privacy, as well as upholding high integrity
and ethical standards, and with continuous strengthening in IT system
security.

Product Responsibility and Customer Commitment
Responsible Products and Services

Providing quality products and excellent service to our customers, as
well as clear and unbiased information to help them make informed
decisions form a key part of our values and principles.

We have a Group Risk Policy — Product Policy and Approval in
place to provide guidelines on assessing customer risks and
risk mitigation when launching new products and services. We
encourage employees to know our customers and their needs through
day-to-day interactions, with the aim of providing excellent client
service. To ensure our frontline employees are equipped with knowledge
and soft skills essential to delivering quality customer service,
on-the-job training is provided to employees throughout the year.

To encourage customer feedback, we have provided multiple
communication channels, including branch representatives, customer
hotline, e-mail and corporate web page. Designated employees
are tasked to follow up on customer complaint handling in line
with procedures and protocols, and to provide timely customer
support. Furthermore, we aim at providing acknowledgement for
verbal and written complaint within 1 and 2 workings day(s) upon
receipt respectively and a final reply within 30 calendar days to the
complainant. Customers’ feedback and complaint cases serve as an
input and point of reference in our product and service enhancement
process.
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MARKETPLACE (continued)
Product Responsibility and Customer Commitment (Continued)
Responsible Products and Services (Continued)

With the increase in popularity for e-banking products and
services, such as internet banking or credit card services for
online transactions, we continue striving to provide the most
secure channels available in the current technological landscape
to protect our customers from possible online crime or fraud. Our
e-banking products and services are

'i%'§£ continually updated with the latest

N u security measures. For example,
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online and mobile banking products.

All products and services went

through a development and
product approval cycle where
essential checks on compliance
with laws and regulations were
undertaken before they are offered
to customers. For example, our
existing online commercial banking
system, DS-Direct, went through
rigorous checking and testing by our
Information Technology Division and

B4 Eigs user teams.
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DSB iSME and DS-Direct promotion

We follow laws and regulations,
and industry guidelines to make
sure all product documentation, communication with customers
and marketing materials are clear and accurate to protect customer
interests. Only licensed staff members are permitted to perform
wealth management product selling, and only fair information
is presented to customers for decision making in line with their
investment need and risk appetite.

Supply Chain Management

We work with suppliers that act in an environmentally, socially and
ethically responsible manner. The Group takes the initiative to interact
with suppliers to raise their awareness on sustainability and evaluate
suppliers’ performance through screening and on-going monitoring.
Suppliers are expected to adhere to our ESG standards as outlined in
respective request for proposal documents.
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MARKETPLACE (Continued)
Product Responsibility and Customer Commitment (Continued)
Supply Chain Management (Continued)

Guidelines are established and implemented to manage
environmental and social risks within the Group’s procurement
process. Vendors’ track record in sustainability is a key part of the
evaluation criteria in the procurement process. Tenderers are required
to provide relevant information such as environmental certifications
obtained such as ISO 14001, achievements, standards on the 3R
(“Reduce”, “Reuse” and “Recycle”), and policies on avoidance of
hazardous materials to support their proposals. For example, in 2018,
more than 23 key service providers for Dah Sing Bank are certified
with ISO14001 or by Forest Stewardship Council.

Customer Data Privacy

The Group has a strong compliance culture and is committed
to adhering to data privacy laws and regulations to safeguard
customers’ personal data and sensitive information. Customer data
protection policies and procedures in compliance with Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong are in place. Guidelines on data
collection, usage and retention are clearly set out in the policies and
procedures. These policies and procedures are reviewed and updated
on a regular basis to reflect the evolving business needs, regulatory
guidance, and emerging threats.

Our customer data is protected by a number of physical, electronic
and procedural safeguards that are either in line with, or go beyond
the regulatory requirements. Data protection requirements are
communicated to all employees through various channels, such as
induction programmes and annual refresher training sessions.

In 2018, the Group held 12 briefings or seminars that aimed to
enhance the knowledge of the Group’s staff members on laws and
regulations that relate to their duties, including but not limited to,
general compliance, cybersecurity, money laundering, customer due
diligence and general integrity.

All employees are required to observe customer data privacy in their
daily work including the collection, use, retention and security of
customers’ personal data. Such requirement is clearly stipulated in
their employment contact as well as the Code of Conduct for Staff
distributed to them upon joining.

Access to customer data is strictly limited to authorized personnel
on a need-to-know basis. Customers are notified and are given
choices regarding how their information may be used. Leveraging
the megatrend of digitalization and development of technologies, the
Group has been exploring opportunities in streamlining processes and
enhancing customer experience, whilst protecting customers from
cybercrimes.
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MARKETPLACE (Continued)
Product Responsibility and Customer Commitment (Continued)
Ethical behaviour/Anti-money Laundering and Anti-corruption

In growing with our customers, the Group always conducts its
business in a fair manner and has adopted measures to fight against
any form of financial crime, corruption and money laundering.

We have adopted a risk governance framework with well-defined
goals and responsibilities. We cultivate our business unit workforce

with a strong compliance culture and risk management awareness.

Our first line of defence is formed based on a combination of our
workforce’s efforts and existing internal control measures. Our
risk control and compliance functions, supervised by our various
management-level risk committees, Anti-money Laundering
Committee, Group Compliance Committee, Operational Risk and
Internal Control Committee, Management Committee, and the
Board-level Risk Management and Compliance Committee, operate
as the second line of defence. The Group’s internal audit function
serves as the third line of defence by providing an independent
assurance through assessing the effectiveness of governance, risk

management, compliance and internal controls in place.

To better educate employees on ethical behavior, the Group shared
with its employees the e-newsletter regarding “Bank on Integrity,”
published by the Hong Kong Independent Commission Against
Corruption, in July 2018, providing updates on corruption cases and
corruption prevention tips.

It is one of our guiding principles and values that our employees shall
do what is right, even when no one is looking. We have established a
Code of Conduct for staff which sets out our ethical values and staff
conduct standard to support and guide our employees to live up to
these expectations.

Our businesses are required to meet high ethical standards.
Anti-corruption policies, standards and procedures are well
communicated to all employees in the Code of Conduct to provide
a guide to curbing corruption in all forms, including extortion and
bribery.
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MARKETPLACE (Continued)
Product Responsibility and Customer Commitment (Continued)
Ethical behaviour/Anti-money Laundering and Anti-corruption (Continued)

Whistle-blowing channels and policies are set up for our employees or
other stakeholders to report any suspected case of non-compliance
in a confidential manner. Cases reported will be investigated by
the compliance or internal audit departments in a timely manner.
Confirmed cases are reported to the Audit Committee to ensure
adequate remedial actions have been taken.

All employees are required to fully comply with the Code of Conduct
and familiarize themselves with the relevant requirements. Employees
who breach the Code of Conduct may be subject to internal
disciplinary procedures.

The Group-wide anti-money laundering and counter-financing of
terrorism (“AML/CFT”) policies and procedures are in place to allow
the Group to comply with relevant local and international AML/CFT
regulatory frameworks and standards. These policies require
all employees to take ownership in detecting and reporting any
suspicious transactions and irregularities.

We understand that our people play a crucial role in combating
financial crimes and any forms of malpractice, and therefore have
been taking steps to raise employees’ awareness. These include
organizing regular training, seminars and quizzes. Staff members
are required to complete the annual refresher training on “Code of
Conduct for Staff”.

Our employees are required to undertake rigorous due diligence
procedures in their daily work to mitigate the risks of internal and
external financial frauds or malpractices. All staff are expected at all
times to observe an exemplary standard of personal conduct and
integrity and to act in the best interests of the Group.

For more information regarding our corporate governance practices,
please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report” in this Annual
Report.
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WORKPLACE

The Group’s business success is attributable to the hard work
and endeavours of its workforce, comprising more than 3,000
employees. We are dedicated to grow with our people through mutual
commitment, fostering a cohesive workplace, promoting health,
safety and wellbeing at work, and providing opportunities for talent
development and career progression.

Employment

We believe that our employees are our key success factor in delivering
quality products and services to our customers, as well as driving
continued business success. We strive to improve our human
resources management and build an engaged and knowledgeable
workforce and a friendly work environment.

The Group is committed to complying with relevant laws and
regulations. The Group has established policies and procedures
to govern hiring, promotion, compensation, working hours,
equal opportunity, dismissal, employee welfare and other talent
management activities.

In 2018, we continued to source talents from various universities for
our Graduate Trainee Programme. The programme helped us attract
suitable young people and support them in developing a long-term
rewarding career with the Group.

The Group continues to enhance our
employee benefits and remuneration.
“Pay for performance” is our guiding
principle for employee remuneration.
We aim to pay variable remuneration
from market median to upper quartile
level to differentiate and reward
good performance. Allowance is
offered to eligible employees who
perform duties that require specific
skills, work beyond normal hours
for business needs, or work under
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special arrangements. In 2018, the
Group had demonstrated its care
for its employees by enhancing
annual leave and maternity leave entitlements, staff housing loan and
extending group medical insurance coverage to more employees.
Other benefits available include retirement benefits and staff deposit
accounts with preferential rates.
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WORKPLACE (Continued)
Employment (Continued)

In support of employees to balance their personal and family
commitments with work, the Group is flexible in accommodating
special requests raised by individual employees such as conversion
from full-time to part-time work arrangement. Additionally, we
currently have two lactation support facilities. This has affirmed the
Group’s employee care endeavours and aligned with our “Say Yes to
Breastfeeding” Campaign.

To further cater to our employees’ work-life balance, the Group has
launched the Summer Flexi arrangement in 2018, allowing employees
to re-schedule their working hours and rest time based on their
personal needs, especially during summer period, if they require more
time to take care of their children or attend to other family needs.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to creating a safe, healthy and comfortable
working environment for its employees. The “Guidelines on
Occupational Safety and Health” was established to inform
employees of potential health and safety hazards in the workplace,
and the corresponding preventative measures.

The Group also has other policies relating to health and safety
covering areas such as employee wellness and work-life balance,
safety risks assessment and management, and employee health
benefits provision, which are developed and operated to reflect the
Group’s commitment on creating a safe and healthy work life for
employees in the day-to-day operations.

After renovation or office restacking, a risk assessment of
workstations will be performed to make sure that workstations are
set up in line with ergonomic principles and relevant regulatory
requirements. For example, we performed a risk assessment in
compliance with the provisions of the Occupational Safety and Health
(Display Screen Equipment) regulation after renovation and restacking

work was completed.

We put great emphasis on the security of Group premises and strictly
prohibit smoking, use of alcohol and drugs in our office and branch
premises.

Across different business locations, a contingency plan has been set
up to set out the procedures that employees should undertake to
maintain business continuity in the event of an infectious disease or
pandemic outbreak.
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WORKPLACE (Continued)
Health and Safety (Continued)

As a bridge between employees and management, a working group
on health and safety has been formed to consolidate feedback
gathered from our people to drive improvement of health and safety
management. The working group holds regular meetings to review
health and safety initiatives rolled out, and draw up proposals for
upcoming programmes. The working group allowed the Group to get
feedback from its staff and drive befitting and enriching events for the

workforce.

The Group understands the
importance of mental health.
Since 2001,
offered the Employee Assistance

the Group has

Programme to help employees
identify and resolve their personal
issues or concerns at work.
The programme provides all
employees with free access
to independent professional
counselling in a confidential
environment.

To promote the awareness
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of a healthy lifestyle amongst

employees, we continued to
organize a series of activities including “Healthy week”, “Work-Life
Balance Week” and health talks in 2018. Dah Sing Bank (China)
Limited (“DSB China”) in Mainland China organized sports events for
staff members on regular basis.

Training and Development

Training and development of our people and providing them with
upward mobility form an important part of our human capital
management strategy.

Our training programmes are tailored to suit the needs of our
employees and support our business development. All new joiners
will join a one-day face-to-face induction programme, which is aimed
to equip them with foundational knowledge about the Group, its
people, business functions and the Group’s Vision, Mission, Guiding
Principles and Values through highly interactive game and exercises.
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WORKPLACE (Continued)
Training and Development (Continued)

As part of the Value Building Initiative, Dah Sing Bank (“DSB”)
continues to launch the annual “Dah Sing Star Awards” to encourage
staff development and award excellence. Since the inception of the
project in 2016, over 280 awards had been presented to individuals
and teams from different divisions to recognize their superior and
excellent performance and contribution.

The e-learning platform enables employees from different business
locations to attend training sessions and access learning materials
anytime. Our courses cover a wide range of topics, including
products, business processes, internal control and regulatory
compliance. During the year, over 40% of training hours were
delivered via e-learning channel.

Apart from business knowledge and skills, we also equip our people
with the necessary skills to prepare for the evolving challenges and
risks under the changing business environment. Eligible employees
are required to undertake online risk management training courses
and obtain relevant qualifications. The course, consisting of 3 levels,
encompasses 20 modules covering business lending, financial
accounting and commercial loans.

The Group’s Professional Award Scheme offers award to staff
members who attain recognized professional qualifications or
membership, such as Chartered Certified Accountant, Certified
Financial Planner and Chartered Financial Analyst, as a recognition of

achievement in their profession.

ARTERITRTREE 12 B R = EIRA A5

Employees of DSB won the 12th Outstanding Financial Management Planner Award
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WORKPLACE (Continued)
Training and Development (Continued)

Aiming to empower our managers at all levels and equip them with
necessary knowledge and leadership skills, we had revamped the
Dah Sing Manager Programme Series by introducing a new program
“Leadership Foundation” in 2018 to prepare employees with the
potential to take up managerial role in the near future, on top of the
existing core and advanced manager training programmes.

The Group is honored to have received the “The Employer of Choice
Award” from JobMarket for three consecutive years since 2016, and
the “Manpower Developer” Award by the Employees Retraining Board
in 2018.

Diversity and Equal Opportunity

The Group is dedicated to removing any barrier to inclusion and
creating an inclusive environment for its employees. In line with
relevant laws and regulations, our policies have zero tolerance
for discrimination, harassment, victimization or vilification on any
grounds including gender, marital status, pregnancy, disability, family
status or race.

All decisions made with respect to recruiting, hiring, transferring
and promotion are made based on the individual’s qualifications
and merits. We encourage open communication and have set up
grievance mechanisms for employees to express their concerns and
make sure that their voices are heard.

Labour Standards

The Group operates in strict compliance with labour laws and
regulations and prohibits the use of child labour or forced labour.
Monitoring and preventive measures are in place. Any potential
breach will be investigated and followed up in a timely manner.

COMMUNITY

With a vision to progress and prosper with our community, we are
committed to giving back by contributing to a stronger and more
inclusive society. We encourage and facilitate our employees to
participate in volunteer services and charitable activities.

In 2018, the Group continued to collaborate with a number of
organizations to support the development of small and medium
enterprises (“SMEs”), youth education, sports and charity,
environmental protection and promotion of financial literacy in the

region.
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COMMUNITY (Continued)

Supporting SMEs
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SMEs are important contributors to the economy and one of the key
drivers for innovation and technological advancement, in addition
to creating job opportunities. Helping SMEs participate in the
mainstream economy not only comprises a part of our business ethos,

but also helps enhance the competitiveness of the local economy,

which in turn creates more business opportunities for us.

&
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A/ NEBIRREE - /B Our group joined World SME Summit
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During 2018, we continued to support the SME
communities in Hong Kong and the Pearl River
Delta region by helping them build capacity
through training, information sharing, and
financial support. For the sixth time, the Group
sponsored the World SME Summit, organized
by the Hong Kong General Chamber of Small
and Medium Business (“HKGCSMB”) and
the Hong Kong Trade Development Council.
We also partnered with Trade and Industry
Department and HKGCSMB for a seminar to
share the latest development of the Greater
Bay Area initiative and the foreseeable potential
opportunities for SMEs in Hong Kong.

Furthermore, DSB has also sponsored for the
first time the “HK SZ SME Innovation Award
2018” organized by SME Global Alliance,

Hong Kong Trade Development Council and Hong Kong Productivity
Council. The award aims not only to encourage innovation among
SMEs but also to create a closer and cooperative relationship

between Hong Kong and Shenzhen.

HK INT'L
FRANCHISING
SHOW 2018

(DB) "HK SZ SME Innovation Award 2018"
4 Award Presentation Cg r

AFERITS N AR/ NERIFTALE 2018 fAEEHE

DSB participated in the Award Presentation Ceremony of the “HK SZ SME Innovation Award 2018”

R rSEBER AT 2018FF 1R



RIE - g REARE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

HERBFHHERRNEROLERE - AEH—F
HEMPHERBAE  IHFTLFER - R
MEBERREES P FRARLEM MESEN
EXFEEBBENEGLEEE -

AEBEE2INRAFSRBERMNARZLETIE
F a8l RRPIS BRI EIT B AN EAM o

REBITEBRSEABRETEHI RN ELER
BHOLR2018F 2 ARPNRLES - RREX
FREEMES  HERENTF - RMEIRTE
—KRBESEEESHN/ I ARBERERDE
MEESEY - BB —RIIBEEREE - EIA
PARERIEEAEFTEALTHEEZN  WEEF
Bt E L e Rk -

BREYEFTFHEEIE  2MEHMSFEIF
B [EARRYEFE e RMER ] - ZEBEEA/K
BARE—ETeRESIRRSEERRERET
[ o BB S ERERRE  FEEEBEREK
RARRIEEEM o RITRITREBZA BN ],
PMERE RS BEF —ERE D ZLR

COMMUNITY (Continued)
Nurturing the Youth

We view education as the foundation for maintaining the growth
and development of our communities. In an effort to support youth
development, the Group has collaborated with academic and social
institutions. It is our goal to support the youth to be outstanding
leaders and, more importantly, lifelong learners who embrace positive

social values.

The Group continued the Job Shadowing Programme for University
Students organized by Macau Institute of Financial Services, to help
cultivate future leaders for the financial services industry in Macau.

DSB sponsored and participated in a volunteer event held in February
2018 organized by Aberdeen Kai-fong Welfare Association Social
Service to share warm and caring moments with the elderly and to
celebrate the Year of Dog together. Dah Sing volunteers led a group
of children from InspiringHK Sports Foundation to serve the elderly
and share the joy of the seasons. Through a series of games and
programmes, all the children experienced the importance of extending
care to those in need and cultivated the spirit of generously giving
back to the community.

In cooperation with Junior Chamber International (JCI) Peninsula,
we participated in the summer youth program of “Dialogue with the
Future: Lead the City” The objective of the event was to provide
a platform and guidance for the university students to think about
the person they would like to be in the future. Through this guided
thinking process, the program aimed to better prepare the students
to be the future leaders of society. DSB sponsored the program with
our management participated in one of the workshops for experience
sharing.
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COMMUNITY (Continued)
Nurturing the Youth (Continued)

In May and October 2018, DSB together with YMCA (Chai Wan
Centre) jointly organized two “STEAM with Kids Workshop” with a
total of 120 participants including underprivileged children and Dah
Sing Volunteer team. The 1st workshop included a robot making
workshop and computer programming lessons. The 2nd workshop
was to build their “Dream Playground” with colourful luminous blocks.
The workshops helped to improve the participants’ concentration and
logical thinking skills. The hands-on activities encouraged the children
to learn in a fun, relaxed atmosphere and stimulated children’s interest
in science and technology.

KFTRITREEPEREBERFFIMALRNMS [ STEAM with Kids T1E3 )
DSB together with YMCA jointly organized two “STEAM with Kids Workshop”
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In 2018, Dah Sing Insurance (“DSI”) continued to support the
“Young lllustrator Programme”. With an aim to nurturing the younger
generation, DSI has cooperated with Grace Training and Development
Centre (“GTDC”) of Evangelical Lutheran Church of Hong Kong
(“ELCHK?”) to provide working opportunity for young illustrators.
One of the graduates of the training course organized by GTDC was
later commissioned by DSI to design calendar cards and red packet
envelopes, which are well received by our customers. Going forward,
we hope to collaborate with more of the illustrators in innovative ways.
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COMMUNITY (Continued)
Nurturing the Youth (Continued)

DSI sponsored two teams formed by our staff members and one
team formed by low income families to participate in the Hong Kong
Mine Challenge 2018, the first mine-themed charitable race in Hong
Kong orgranized by ELCHK, in February 2018. This fund-raising
activity supports revitalisation of the abandoned Ma On Shan Iron
Mine and Mine Village. It was our pleasure to support this meaningful
activity to raise staff members’ and public’s awareness on cultural
conservation. Team members could also appreciate Ma On Shan’s
natural landscape and the cultural heritage while working together on
the assigned tasks.

Besides partnering with ELCHK, we extended our community reach
to the new emigrants from Mainland China, ethnic minorities, and
the disadvantaged in Hong Kong, DSI continues sponsoring the
Outstanding Youth Awards Programme 2018 organized by the New
Home Association (“NHA”). 24 secondary school students in Western
Kowloon under the service area of NHA were awarded with the
Excellence in Conduct and Academy Award and The Outstanding
Academic Performance Award. The programme aims at recognizing
the secondary school students who have outstanding achievement
or good progress in academic performance or conduct, as well as
encouraging the awardees to integrate into the community and show
their care and concern to others. All the awardees are also required to
participate in 20 hours social service during the summer vacation and
during the academic year of 2018-2019.

LT N i
CaD DA SNCINSURANCE
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DSl sponsored the “Outstanding Youth Awards Programme 2018”
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COMMUNITY (Continued)
Promoting Sports and Supporting Those in Need

In February 2018, DSI made its debut in the Green Power Hike
2018 — HKFI Cup (10KM) with a satisfactory result. This fund-raising
activity supports Green Power’s environmental education efforts.

Dah ;t'ng Charfty
SCORE CHALLENGE 2018
o ARFESEIT T

AERE R TS BT 2018

The Group organized “Dah Sing Charity Score Challenge 2018”
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Furthermore, DSB supported Operation Santa Claus (“OSC”) by
hosting a basketball event with friendly match and challenge games
to raise funds for Hong Kong charities and the underprivileged in
November 2018. The event engaged around 150 staff members and
50 children from low income families. As one of the major donors of
OSC, DSB made donation to the OSC.

To promote the benefits of sports in the community, Banco Comercial
de Macau, S.A. (“BCM”) continued to hold the “BE-1 BCM Relay
Running Race” in 2018 at the campus of University of Macau.
Over 500 people participated in the event, including 360 runners
comprising 60 teams. The registration fee of all the participants was
donated to the Special Olympics.

Besides making monetary donation, BCM in Macau collected clothes
from staff members, their relatives and friends in June 2018 to donate
to the Salvation Army. The initiative was successful with a total of
over 300 pieces of clothing donated and hence from November 2018
onwards, clothes donation has become a regular activity for the
Macau branches.

Moreover, BCM launched the Oxfam Macau Credit card in September
2018. The card provides a fund raising feature for Oxfam in Macau. A
card launching ceremony, “Cocoa Farming”, was organized at Macau
Tower with a focus of introducing poverty issue and fair trade concept
to 80 participants through parent-kid workshop.
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COMMUNITY (Continued)
Promoting Sports and Supporting Those in Need (Continued)

DSB China also held a series of social welfare activities. For example,
the Zhenjiang and Shenzhen branches donated more than 300 books
for left-behind children and teenagers in Mainland China; and the
Guangzhou, Foshan and Shanghai branches arranged visits to an
elderly nursing home and a special education centre for children
suffering from cerebral palsy in order to raise awareness about the
needs of these communities.

Environmental Conservation

This year, we formed 6 corporate teams and continued to join the
Konica Minolta Green Concert cum Grand Cycle Challenge Prix
with an aim to raise public awareness on environmental protection
by challenging contestants’ physical limits and raising funds for a
charitable organization.
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The Group joined the “Konica Minolta Green Concert cum Grand Cycle Challenge Prix”
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Separately, in addition to corporate tree planting and staff education
programme to facilitate awareness of low carbon living and effectively
communicate the “green” message to the public, the Group leveraged
social media by posting articles and holding interactive games on
platforms such as Facebook.

The Group leveraged social networking platforms to spread the
green messages. Our staff members wrote blogposts on Facebook to
highlight environmental issues we are facing and suggestions on how
households can contribute in waste reduction. Moreover, a Facebook
Wall Game was held to improve public awareness on low carbon living
and energy saving. For instance, to show our support and concerns
on environmental protection, DSI has promoted green messages via
Dah Sing Insurance Facebook, in form of newsfeeds and Wall Game.
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COMMUNITY (Continued)
Environmental Conservation (Continued)

Besides, in order to promote the environmental and health benefits of
a vegetarian diet, DSI invited vegetarian cookbook writer, Ms. Cathy
Lee, and young local artists, to compile six vegetarian recipes and
recipe images. From June 2018 to November 2018, we named the
second week of each month “Go Green Week”. 6 vegetarian recipes
with illustrations were posted on Facebook and intranet. The recipes
were also distributed to the members of the ELCHK who jointly
organized a vegetarian cooking competition with DSI held in August
2018. The competition aimed to inform the younger generation of the
health and environmental benefits of a vegetarian diet. 16 teams of
young participants, aged 6 to 10, worked with their mothers to design
a menu, shop for ingredients and prepare a meal in 40 minutes. It
encouraged children to work with their parents and introduce the
importance of budgeting.

Financial Inclusion

Dah Sing Group supports disadvantaged customers, such as the
elderly, minors, low-income groups and physically or mentally
challenged customers, by providing waivers for low-balance
maintenance and dormant account fees. The Group also participates
in the “Treat Customers Fairly Charter” run by the Hong Kong
Monetary Authority.

ENVIRONMENT

Environmental sustainability is a key part of the Group’s social
responsibility effort. Guided by our Corporate Social Responsibility
Policy, we work to manage our direct and indirect impacts to the
environment through containing our energy consumption and waste
generation, and advocating green finance.

Energy and Greenhouse Gas Emission Management

Energy-efficient electronic appliances and equipment are preferred
in our business. The Group has been progressively replacing existing
fluorescent tubes and downlights in offices with LED lights. For
example, in 2018, BCM in Macau replaced 238 pieces of fluorescent
tubes with LED tubes. By using LED tubes, the power consumption for
lighting was reduced by around 40%.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Energy and Greenhouse Gas Emission Management (Continued)

To reduce energy consumption and associated greenhouse gas
emissions, we have opted for the “Reduce at Source” approach.
For example, we encourage our staff members and their family to
take walking as an option when considering taking transportation.
Dah Sing Group under the Green WALK mobile application was
recommended to our staff members and their families. Since the
launch of the Dah Sing Group under Green WALK mobile application,
Dah Sing Group has recorded a total of 5,725,737 steps as of the end
of October 2018, which is equivalent to reducing 1,073 kilogram of
carbon emission.

DSB sponsored “Green WALK Hong Kong 2018” to promote
environmental protection and energy saving via encouraging
City-Walking and also nurture the youth to have this mindset. Around
1,000 entrants (including 200 Dah Sing staff members and 150 kids
and their family members from less privilege family) participated in the
City Orienteering Competition in October 2018.
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DSB sponsored the “Green WALK Hong Kong 2018”
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DSB China encourages employees to make use of public
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transportation or even go to office on foot instead of driving. We
encourage employees to use shared bicycles if the travel distance is
within 2 km from the office. We also suggest employees to use public
transportation if they need to travel across the provinces and they
must use public transportation if the travel time is over 4 hours.
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ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Waste Reduction and Recycling

The Group endeavours to reduce waste generation and encourage
recycling. Recycling bins have been installed in our premises to
facilitate responsible waste management.

We advocate double-sided printing at work where paper materials are
to be prepared. Our business cards and the Bank’s letterhead are also
printed on eco-friendly recycled paper to affirm our commitment to
waste reduction and recycling.

In 2018, the Group carried out a stock take exercise on IT equipments
in order to remove obsolete equipments which could be reused
or recycled in other ways. In addition, certain branches in Macau
disposed of a large amount of facilities and equipments due to
damages caused by typhoon Mangkhut which has caused an
exceptional hike in the amount of wastes disposed during the year.
On the other hand, we collected and sent recyclable materials to non-
governmental organizations for recycling purpose. For instance, more
than 472kg red packets envelopes and 511 books were respectively
sent to the Greener’s Action and the Salvation Army for reuse and
recycling in 2018.

We continued to receive the “Wastewi$e Certificate — Excellent Level”
issued by the Environmental Campaign Committee in recognition of
our responsible waste management practices.

Going Paperless

Going paperless is an important step that we have taken to reduce our
environmental footprint. The Group invests in and adopts paperless
processes where possible. We continue to upgrade our internet
banking platforms, through which customers can get access to bank
statements, advice and bank alerts electronically. E-receipts continue
to be adopted to reduce paper consumption at ATMs.
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ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Going Paperless (Continued)

As of the end of 2018, we had migrated a total of more than 100,000
customers, mainly of our retail banking segment, to e-statement. In
addition, we also encourage our shareholders to receive our corporate
communication via electronic channel. Over 90% of our shareholders
have opted for e-communication services and it represents an
approximately 320 thousand pages saving. At the workplace, we
have replaced paper-based reports with electronic copies and
widely adopted e-forms and e-fax in our business for administrative
document sharing and transfer. 200 scanning devices have been
deployed at our offices and branches to facilitate digitization of
records and engage our customer in saving paper and paper
products. This represents a 5% increase in the number of scanning
devices installed compared to last year.

In 2018, BCM also joined the recycling of red packets and moon
cake boxes event organized by Environmental Protection Bureau of
Macau in February and September 2018. The events were successful
with over 10,000 new and old red packets, and around 70 moon cake
boxes, collected for recycling.

Macau Insurance Company Limited (“MIC”) has launched electronic
insurance policy (“ePolicy”) for Travel Insurance and Household
Insurance applications. Customers are able to buy the said insurances
online and such electronic policies will be sent to customers upon
completion of the transactions. In this process, MIC and customers
can choose not to print the policies and thus minimize the use of

paper.

Reducing Water Use

Water is a vital resource. The Group advocates water conservation
and has launched practical water-efficiency measures in its premises.
Employees are reminded to save water and reduce wastage. Certified
water-efficient faucets and taps have been installed to effectively
reduce daily water usage.

Supporting Green Finance

Dah Sing Group supports the transition to a green, low-emission
global economy with a smaller environmental footprint. DSB China
has further enhanced credit assessment and approval criteria.
Lending requirements have been specified to reject loan application
from energy-intensive and polluting industry players without a full
remediation plan. We are supportive of projects that produce greener
energy, eco-friendly products and innovative sustainable solutions.
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REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Group is committed to ensuring its businesses are operated in
compliance with relevant local and international laws and regulations.
In particular, our Group Compliance Division takes steps to stay close
to the regulatory changes relevant to the Group. Group Compliance
Division also conducts a wide variety of compliance reviews, and
offers advice and recommendations to business and support
units to enhance their internal control and regulatory compliance
effectiveness. The Group has established a comprehensive set
of policies and procedures to guide our operations, which are
designed to achieve an effective control environment and regulatory
compliance. Trainings are conducted where necessary to assist
our people to keep up-to-date of the understanding of the Group’s
operations and regulatory expectations. Dah Sing Group understands
the significance of governance, risks and compliance covering all
of our businesses and operations in Hong Kong and the overseas
markets. Our Group’s risk function oversees our overall risk positions,
including risk measurement, monitoring and control, to serve our
business purposes and to ensure that our risk exposures are managed
in line with our business and risk management strategies, and risk
appetite framework, and also in compliance with regulatory standards
and expectation. Our Internal Audit provides an independent
assurance function to review our compliance and risk management
operations, in addition to reviewing all aspects of the Group’s internal
control mechanism covering both business, control and support
functions, and to assess control effectiveness.

The progress and results of our business, operational, risk
management, compliance and internal control, and recommendations
given by our regulators, are regularly reported to respective
management-level committees, Board-level committees or the Board.

During the reporting period, we were not aware of any non-compliance
with laws and regulations that could have a significant impact on the
Group relating to areas such as environmental protection, employment
and labour practices, operational practices, AML, customer data
protection, treating customers fairly, and cybersecurity.
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS

The following are the major awards and recognitions received by the

Group in 2018:

Category

Marketplace °

DAH SING FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Award

“Silver Award” and “Top Nomination Award”
under The 12th HKIB Outstanding Financial
Management Planner Awards by the Hong
Kong Institute of Bankers

“Excellent Brand of Personal Loan Service
- Banking Service”, “Excellent Brand of
Mobile Securities Service — Banking Service”
and “Excellent Brand of Co-branded Credit
Card - Banking Service” under Hong Kong
Leaders’ Choice 2018 by Metro Finance
“Best Commercial Banking” under Metro
Awards for Brand Excellence by Metro Daily
and Metro Prosperity

“Outstanding Digital Banking Service” under
the 18th Capital Outstanding Enterprise
Awards by CAPITAL magazine

“Best SME’s Partner Award” by Hong Kong
General Chamber of Small and Medium
Business

“Persistently Outstanding Service Company”
and “Persistently Outstanding Service Outlet
(Shatin Branch)” under TipTop Service
Award 2017-18 by TipTop Consultants
Limited

“Internet Banking Services Award” and
“Merits of New Generation Banking Service”
under Capital Merits of Achievement in
Banking and Finance 2018 by CAPITAL
magazine

“Best Commercial Banking” under Metro
Awards for Banking & Finance Corporations
2018 by Metro Prosperity

“Best Corporate Transaction Banking
Service Award” and “Excellence Award for
High-end Financial Management” under
Banking and Finance Awards 2018 by Sky
Post

“Platinum Award in Retail Banking” under
Hong Kong FinTech Impetus Awards by
Metro Finance

“QOutstanding Enterprise Transaction
Banking Services” under Quamnet
Outstanding Enterprises Awards by
Quamnet

“Outstanding SME Online Virtual Banking
Service Centre” under Hong Kong Smart City
Awards 2018 by Etnet

“Best Airline Co-branded Card Program
Launched” by Mastercard
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS (continued)

Category
Workplace

Community

Environment

Award

“The Employer of Choice Award” by
JobMarket

“Good MPF Employer”, “e-Contribution
Award” and “Support for MPF Management
Award” by the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority

“Manpower Developer” by the Employees
Retraining Board

“2017/18 Family-Friendly Employers”,
“2017/18 Special Mention (Gold)” and
“2017/18 Awards for Breastfeeding Support”
by the Home Affairs Bureau and the Family
Council

“15+ Years Caring Company” recognition
from the Hong Kong Council of Social
Service Caring Company Campaign

“8th Corporate Social Responsibility Award”
by CAPITAL magazine and CAPITAL WEEKLY
Donator — The Salvation Army Books Recycling
Program

“Advanced Unit” under 2017 Social
Responsibility Evaluation by Shenzhen
Banking Association

“Energywi$e certificate — Good Level”
under the Hong Kong Green Organization
Certification by the Environmental Campaign
Committee

“Wastewi$e certificate — Excellent Level”
under the Hong Kong Green Organization
Certification by the Environmental Campaign
Committee

Platinum Award 2018 of Environment Bureau’s
Charter on External Lighting (37 branches of
DSB)

“Team Champion Award” and “Best Team
Spirit Award” of Konica Minolta VR Bike Power
Challenge 2018

Gold Sponsor — Red Packet Recycling and
Reuse Program organized by the Greeners
Action
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BERBHERE

Greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions
AERBATHRE

Total GHG emissions

#HE 1 - EEHRRR O

Scope 1 — Direct emissions and removals

[ 2— geREEHER
Scope 2 - Energy indirect emissions

FEXERY

Waste produced

MELABERRMEE

Total hazardous waste produced

FELBEEREEYES

Total non-hazardous waste produced
REFUHAER

Energy consumption

BEREHE

Total energy consumption
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ENVIRONMENTAL KPI DATA TABLE

Total indirect energy consumption — Purchased electricity

MR REREERE

Total indirect energy consumption intensity
REBESHAE

By number of Full Time Employee (“FTE”)
FKE

Water consumption

BREKE

Total water consumption
FKZE

Water consumption intensity
BEBESHAE

By number of FTE

=

(1) AEER-—REMRBEEE  CHRE1—HEY
TR RRR B8 B E AR ©

Note:

(1)
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By
Unit

W (Z R EE
tonne CO,,

W (R EE)
tonne CO,,

W (ZRHREE
tonne CO,,

L7
tonne

T8

tonne

FRE
kWh

FEE
kWh

ThE 2BES
kWh / FTE

NN )

NN
m3

NFEKERES
m*/FTE

2018

5,340.88

TE A
N/A

5,340.88

9.39

392.86

7,377,952.48

7,377,952.48

2,316.83

13,378.42

4.20

2017

5,736.66

iE A
N/A

5,736.66

7.90

388.93

7,600,081.14

7,600,081.14

2,439.05

13,545.99

4.35

The Group is a financial service institution and there is no significant
Scope 1 - direct emissions and removals produced by the Group.
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Closure dates of Register of Shareholders (both days inclusive)
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Latest time to lodge transfers

Easad=R1
Record date

BRRBFERE

Annual General Meeting
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of Dah Sing Financial Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is investment holding. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries are shown in Note 28 to the financial statements. An
analysis of the performance of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) for the reporting period by business and geographical
segments are set out in Note 6 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set

out in the consolidated income statement on page 125.

The Board declared an interim dividend of HK$0.38 per share and a
total of HK$127,328,538 in cash was paid on 21 September 2018.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$1.09
per share in cash, totalling HK$348,336,859.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF SHAREHOLDERS

For determining shareholders’ right to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting:

20195 A21 B (EH =) % 2019F5A24H (28 A)
21 May 2019 (Tuesday) to 24 May 2019 (Friday)

201945 H20H (28—) THF 4K 305
4:30 p.m. on 20 May 2019 (Monday)

201945 A24H (EHH)
24 May 2019 (Friday)

201945 A24H (EHH)
24 May 2019 (Friday)
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Latest time to lodge transfers
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Record date
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Expected final dividend payment date
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

For determining shareholders’ entitlement to receive the proposed
final dividend™:

20195 A31 H(EHT)£2019F6 A4H (EHT)
31 May 2019 (Friday) to 4 June 2019 (Tuesday)

201945 A 30 H (2HI) T 45305
4:30 p.m. on 30 May 2019 (Thursday)

201966 A48 (EH)
4 June 2019 (Tuesday)

201966 A128 (EH=)
12 June 2019 (Wednesday)

(*subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting)

During the periods of the closure of Register of Shareholders, no share
transfers will be registered. For registration, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong before the relevant latest
time to lodge transfers.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis
on the Group’s future business development are provided in the
“Chairman’s Statement” and the “Review of Operations” of this
Annual Report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that the Group may be facing can also be found in the “Chairman’s
Statement” and the “Review of Operations” of this Annual Report.
The objectives and policies of financial risk management and the
risk management structure and framework of the Group can be
found in the “Notes to the Financial Statements” of this Annual
Report. Particulars of important events affecting the Company that
have occurred since the end of the financial year (if any) can be
found in the “Notes to the Financial Statements”. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators is provided in the “Review of Operations” of this Annual
Report. In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and relationships with the key stakeholders and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have significant impact on the
Group can be found in the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” and the “Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual
Report. The “Notes to the Financial Statements” also contain
description of the management structures and framework to ensure
compliance with various laws and regulations which are applicable
to the Group. The above sections form part of this Report of the
Directors.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares of the Company issued during the year are shown
in Note 40 to the financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$1,286,000.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this Report of the Directors are:

David Shou-Yeh Wong
Chairman

Robert Tsai-To Sze*

Seiji Nakamura*

Andrew Kwan-Yuen Leung*

Paul Michael Kennedy*
(appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director with effect from
4 December 2018)

David Wai-Hung Tam*
(appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director with effect from
4 December 2018)

Eiichi Yoshikawa

Kenichi Yamato

John Wai-Wai Chow

Hon-Hing Wong (Derek Wong)
Managing Director and Chief Executive

Gary Pak-Ling Wang
Deputy Chief Executive and Group Chief Financial and Operating
Officer

Takayoshi Futae
(appointed as alternate to Eiichi Yoshikawa with effect from
21 August 2018)

Hidekazu Horikoshi
(ceased to act as alternate to Eiichi Yoshikawa with effect from
21 August 2018)

Lon Dounn*
(resigned with effect from 31 December 2018)

*

Independent Non-Executive Directors

DAH SING FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101°
1010100101011100111
0100011010110010711
00111010110000101¢

013100101011100711
0100011010110010111
1001110101100001011

10001011010110070

101



100111010001001110
1101001170001010100
1011011001110100010
101110101007110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
1011101070011100100
110011011001110100

102

FRGRLE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEmwm

EEITERL  AREBEERPHIBRELER
BRANFPHEMERMDIRESE - BERELLE
RPNBERELCBAARLRE  RESTGERE
EZBRFRFERE LEREF  WHERERE 2K
RAFREH/RERME - TFERERERLRA
BEREZBRRBFEAG LEREF -

R2018F12 FARREEREIIFNTERZH
BERERERELRE  EERBRIEARRA
BERMAUFE126(BTEZREZRRBEFK
GER AERMIMEBERFESFKS LERE
£ o

ARRIERBSBILIFRTESRERRF AL
TEFENFEBILIMFHNFERRBEL - AR
A BB RRRR

FBEEREZRRBFASEEZEZNESR
FNERAFRTHE T RRAGBEA ©

EEER2EE

BIECEMRAINE13.51B(1) 1§ * A FIEARQF
2018 FFAREASREHE (k- iEA AN ERES
IMESEMS ABZERARARESZAH
HE)EAFHRAHL  EFABZERNE
LIl

() BEELE

BFERRITRRI T AR,

- 201812 A7 B BT RBMAS
REBRDERARZES

() 2 BMEKE
BUIBITEF

- H20184 10 A 24 BB BEF BT IR
B ERBRARZBYIFNITES

KIerEBER AT 2018F F 1)

DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Directors retiring by rotation in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association are Messrs. David Shou-Yeh Wong, John Wai-
Wai Chow and Seiji Nakamura. Mr. John Wai-Wai Chow and Mr.
Seiji Nakamura have informed the Company that they will not offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting,
and they will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general
meeting. Mr. David Shou-Yeh Wong, being eligible, offers himself for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Mr. Paul Michael Kennedy and Mr. David Wai-Hung Tam who were
appointed as Independent Non-Executive Directors on 4 December
2018, will hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting in
accordance with Article 126 of the Company’s Articles of Association
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors as regards their continued
independence while serving as members of the Board of Directors
during the year, and the Company still considers all the Independent
Non-Executive Directors to be independent.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the forthcoming annual
general meeting are set out in the circular to the shareholders sent
together with this Annual Report.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION WITH REGARD TO
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in
information required to be disclosed by the Directors since the
publication of the 2018 Interim Report of the Company (or, where
applicable as regards Director appointed subsequent thereto, since
the date of announcement for appointment) and up to the date of this
Annual Report are set out below:

(@) Mr. Hon-Hing Wong (Derek Wong)
Managing Director and Chief Executive

- Resigned as a Director of Great Wall Life Insurance
Company Limited with effect from 7 December 2018

(b) Mr. Robert Tsai-To Sze
Independent Non-Executive Director

- Resigned as an Independent Non-Executive Director of
China Travel International Investment Hong Kong Limited
with effect from 24 October 2018
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION WITH REGARD TO
DIRECTORS (Continued)

(c) Mr. Paul Michael Kennedy
Independent Non-Executive Director

- Appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Octopus Holdings Limited and Octopus Cards Limited
with effect from 5 March 2019

(d) Mr. David Wai-Hung Tam
Independent Non-Executive Director

- Appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director
and a member of the Risk Management and Compliance
Committee of Dah Sing Bank, Limited with effect from 18
March 2019

- Director’s fee revised to HK$450,000 per annum
(including remuneration from a subsidiary) with effect
from 18 March 2019

(e) Mr. Takayoshi Futae
Alternate Director to Mr. Eiichi Yoshikawa

- Appointed as a Commissioner on the Board of Bank
Danamon Indonesia (listed on the Jakarta Stock
Exchange) with effect from 21 November 2018

Save as those disclosed above, there is no other information required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
within 1 year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

A list of the names of all the directors who have served on the boards
of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this Report of the Directors is provided in the “Directors of
Subsidiaries” section which follows this Report of the Directors.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the Chief Executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to
be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“SEHK”) pursuant to Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they have taken on or are deemed to have
acquired under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the SEHK
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers and the code of conduct for directors’ securities
dealing adopted by the Company (collectively the “Securities Model
Code”) were as follows:

(a) Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company and its associated corporation

HER

Ripag

BHEADL

KDFLERBRA, HERAHE Percentage

Number of ordinary shares/underlying shares of the Company of interests

B AR EEER Hitgs BitiER in the total

Personal Corporate Other Total number of

Bz Directors Interests Interests Interests Interests  issued shares
IF% David Shou-Yeh Wong - 137,285,682 1 - 137,285,682 40.97%
Bk John Wai-Wai Chow 1,223,231 - - 1,223,231 0.37%
HER

Ripag

AFRTEEERATNEERRE,HERGEAE BEAML

Number of ordinary shares/underlying shares of Percentage

Dah Sing Banking Group Limited of interests

B AR EEER Hitgs BitiER in the total

Personal Corporate Other Total number of

Bz Directors Interests Interests Interests Interests  issued shares
IF% David Shou-Yeh Wong - 1,045,626,955% - 1,045,626,955 74.39%
TRz Gary Pak-Ling Wang 1,834,691 @ - - 1,834,691 0.13%
[EIEE John Wai-Wai Chow 208,741 - - 208,741 0.01%

KIerEBEER AT 2018F F 1R
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(Continued)

(a)

Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company and its associated corporation (Continued)

Notes:

(1) The corporate interests were in respect of shares held by a
corporation in which the director controlled one third or more
of the voting powers at general meetings and shares held by
companies under a family discretionary trust. HSBC International
Trustee Limited is the trustee of a family discretionary trust of
which David Shou-Yeh Wong is the settlor.

2) Such shares included the indirect corporate interests of David
Shou-Yeh Wong in Dah Sing Banking Group Limited (“DSBG”)
under Part XV of the SFO by virtue of his beneficial interests
of 40.97% in the Company which currently holds a controlling
interest of 74.37% in DSBG and interests in DSBG held through a
company controlled by David Shou-Yeh Wong.

(8)  The personal interests of Gary Pak-Ling Wang comprised of (a)
interests in 934,691 ordinary shares of DSBG, (b) interests in
share options in respect of 450,000 underlying shares of DSBG
as disclosed in the following section regarding interests in options
under share option schemes of DSBG; and (c) deemed interests
in 450,000 notional underlying shares of DSBG relating to cash-
settled share-based incentive options granted by DSBG on 26
April 2018 as explained in note (4) below.

4) DSBG had established a cash-settled share-based incentive
option scheme as a long-term incentive plan to incentivize
employees on 20 March 2018. The rights granted under the
scheme shall be exercisable upon vesting in 5 equal tranches
commencing from the first anniversary of the date of grant.
Subject to the satisfaction of performance appraisal indicators,
grantees may exercise their vested options. No shares of DSBG
will be issued to the grantees of the options under the scheme
which is essentially a deferred cash bonus scheme linked to the
performance of the grantees and the share price of DSBG.
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(2) BEXRBAREBABIEIRESET (b) Interests in options under share option schemes of the
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L ALREZBRESZ 1. Share option scheme of the Company
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The share option scheme of the Company adopted on
28 April 2005 (the “Old DSFH Scheme”) had expired on
28 April 2015. On 27 May 2015, the shareholders of the
Company approved the adoption of a new share option
scheme (the “New DSFH Scheme”). No further options
can be offered under the Old DSFH Scheme after its
expiration but the provisions of the Old DSFH Scheme
remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to
give effect to exercise of all options granted prior to the
expiration of the Old DSFH Scheme but not yet exercised
at the time of expiration.

In accordance with the requirements of The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), a
summary of the Old DSFH Scheme and the New DSFH
Scheme (collectively the “DSFH Schemes”) is disclosed
as follows:

(1) Purpose of the DSFH Schemes:

The purpose of the DSFH Schemes is to provide
an incentive and/or reward to grantees for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote
the interests of, the Group.

(2) Participants of the DSFH Schemes:

Any director, manager, or other employee holding
an executive, managerial or supervisory position in
the Group as the Board may in its sole discretion
determine to be eligible to participate in the DSFH
Schemes.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(Continued)

(b) Interests in options under share option schemes of the
Company and its associated corporation (Continued)

l. Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

)

Total number of shares available for issue under the
DSFH Schemes and percentage of total number of
issued shares as at the date of this Report of the
Directors:

Following the expiration of the Old DSFH Scheme,
no further share options can be granted under the
Old DSFH Scheme.

The number of shares available for issue under
the New DSFH Scheme and any other schemes is
16,753,755 shares, representing 5% of the total
number of issued shares of the Company as at the
date of this Report of the Directors.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
DSFH Schemes:

No options may be granted to any eligible person
which, if exercised, would result in such eligible
person becoming entitled to subscribe for such
number of shares as, when aggregated with the total
number of shares already issued or to be issued to
him under all options granted to him in the 12-month
period up to and including the offer date of relevant
options, exceed 1% of the shares in issue at such
date. Any grant of further options above the limit
shall be subject to the provisions of the DSFH
Schemes and the Listing Rules as amended from
time to time.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(Continued)

(b) Interests in options under share option schemes of the
Company and its associated corporation (Continued)

l. Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

©)

Period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option:

The exercise period is determined by the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee on behalf
of the Board of the Company, and is specified
when related options are granted. Shares under the
options must be taken up within 10 years from the
date of grant. All the share options granted under
the Old DSFH Scheme shall be exercisable upon
vesting in 5 equal tranches between the first and
fifth anniversaries from the date of grant.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised:

The minimum holding period is determined by the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee on behalf
of the Board of the Company, and is specified when
related options are granted. None of the share
options granted under the Old DSFH Scheme shall
be exercisable within 1 year from the date of grant.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made or loans for such purpose
must be repaid:

The amount payable on acceptance of an option
is HK$1 and must be made within 21 days upon
offer of granting of options or the date on which the
conditions (if any) for the offer are satisfied.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(Continued)

(b) Interests in options under share option schemes of the
Company and its associated corporation (Continued)

l. Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

®)

()

Basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price per option share is concluded by
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee on
behalf of the Board of the Company on the basis
no less exacting than the requirement set out in
Rule 17.03(9) of the Listing Rules and is determined
as no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares traded on the SEHK on the
date of grant; and (ii) the average closing price of
the Company’s shares traded on the SEHK for the
5 business days immediately preceding the date of
grant. The basis of nominal value of the Company’s
shares for determining exercise price under the Old
DSFH Scheme was not applicable following the
adoption of a mandatory system of no nominal value
under the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) which
came into force on 3 March 2014.

Remaining life of the DSFH Schemes:

The Old DSFH Scheme had expired on 28 April 2015
and all outstanding share options granted under the
Old DSFH Scheme were redeemed and cancelled
by DSFH during 2018. The New DSFH Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from 27 May 2015 and expiring at the
close of 26 May 2025.

Old DSFH Scheme

Details of Company’s outstanding share options
granted under the Old DSFH Scheme and the
movements during the year ended, and the status as
at, 31 December 2018 are as follows:

DAH SING FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101°
1010100101011100111
0100011010110010711
00111010110000101¢

013100101011100711
0100011010110010111
1001110101100001011

10001011010110070

109



100111010001001110
1101001170001010100
1011011001110100010
101110101007110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
1011101070011100100
110011011001110100

110

o
Ty

THE DIRECTORS

BEERTHARER @

(2) EALAREEBEEZRESET

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(Continued)

(b)

Interests in options under share option schemes of the

iz RREER @ Company and its associated corporation (Continued)
/. AR EZRIREE (&) I. Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)
@ AFTELFELZ (17) (i) Old DSFH Scheme (Continued)
AREEEZALARBEE
Number of the Company’s shares underlying the options
R20185 N18FR  R2018F i3 8@
11 2018%R  2018FER  HE/AN  12A%1A Exercise RitA Exercise
KO R T Cancelled/ BE price®  Grant date period @
Held at Granted  Exercised lapsed Held at %t (B/R/%) (B/A/%)
ARA Grantee 11/2018"  during 2018 during 2018  during 2018 31/12/2018 (HKS) (DY) (DY)
EEAE0 Aggregate of employees® 62,584 - - (62,584) ¢ 0 31.88 211202012 2111212013 -
21112/2018
G Notes:
(1)  BARQFR2014F 4 B 2 5% (1)  Adjusted as a result of the rights issue of the Company
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completed in April 2014. The key summary of related
adjustments was announced by the Company on 29 April
2014.

All the share options granted under the Old DSFH Scheme
shall be exercisable upon vesting in 5 equal tranches
between the first and fifth anniversaries from the date of
grant.

Share options were granted to certain eligible employees,
who are directors, senior executives or officers of major
operating subsidiaries of the Company and are working
under employment contracts that are regarded as
“continuous contracts” for the purpose of the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The share options were redeemed and cancelled by
the Company and cash compensation was made to the
respective grantees for the cancellation in accordance
with the provisions of the Old DSFH Scheme, including
the share options in respect of 31,292 shares of the
Company granted to Harold Tsu-Hing Wong, a substantial
shareholder of the Company, redeemed and cancelled
by the Company on 19 January 2018. Subsequent to
the redemption and cancellation, Harold Tsu-Hing Wong
ceased to have any interest in the share options under the
Old DSFH Scheme.

Details of the computation of the value of options are
shown in Note 45 to the financial statements.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(Continued)

(b) Interests in options under share option schemes of the
Company and its associated corporation (Continued)

I

I.

Share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

(i)  New DSFH Scheme

No share options had been granted under the New
DSFH Scheme from the date of adoption to 31
December 2018.

Share option scheme of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited,
a majority owned subsidiary of the Company

The respective shareholders of the Company and
Dah Sing Banking Group Limited (“DSBG”) approved
the adoption of a new share option scheme of DSBG
(the “New DSBG Scheme”) and, at the same time, the
termination of the share option scheme adopted by
DSBG on 12 June 2004 (the “Old DSBG Scheme”) at the
respective annual general meeting held on 27 May 2014.
No further options can be offered under the Old DSBG
Scheme after its termination but the provisions of the Old
DSBG Scheme remain in full force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to exercise of all options granted
prior to the termination of the Old DSBG Scheme but not
yet exercised at the time of termination.

In accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules,
a summary of the Old DSBG Scheme and the New DSBG
Scheme (collectively the “DSBG Schemes”) is disclosed
as follows:

(1)  Purpose of the DSBG Schemes:

The purpose of the DSBG Schemes is to attract,
motivate and retain high quality executives to
contribute to the business and growth of DSBG
group of companies.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(Continued)

(b) Interests in options under share option schemes of the
Company and its associated corporation (Continued)

1.

Share option scheme of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited,

a majority owned subsidiary of the Company (Continued)

@

Participants of the DSBG Schemes:

Eligible participants of the DSBG Schemes included
directors and employees holding supervisory
positions in DSBG and its subsidiaries.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
DSBG Schemes and percentage of total number of
issued shares as at the date of this Report of the
Directors:

Following the termination of the Old DSBG Scheme,
no further share options can be granted under the
Old DSBG Scheme.

The number of shares available for issue under
the New DSBG Scheme and any other schemes is
70,076,781 shares, representing 4.99% of the total
number of issued shares of DSBG as at the date of
this Report of the Directors.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
DSBG Schemes:

No options may be granted to any eligible person
which, if exercised, would result in such eligible
person becoming entitled to subscribe for such
number of shares as, when aggregated with the total
number of shares already issued or to be issued to
him under all options granted to him in the 12-month
period up to and including the offer date of relevant
options, exceed 1% of the shares in issue at such
date. Any grant of further options above the limit
shall be subject to the provisions of the DSBG
Schemes and the Listing Rules as amended from
time to time.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(Continued)

(b) Interests in options under share option schemes of the
Company and its associated corporation (Continued)

. Share option scheme of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited,

a majority owned subsidiary of the Company (Continued)

©)

Period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option:

The exercise period is determined by the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee on behalf
of the Board of DSBG, and is specified when related
options are granted. Shares under the options must
be taken up within 10 years from the date of grant.
All the existing share options granted under the
DSBG Schemes shall be exercisable upon vesting
in 5 equal tranches between the first and fifth
anniversaries from the date of grant.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised:

The minimum holding period is determined by
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee on
behalf of the Board of DSBG, and is specified when
related options are granted. None of the existing
share options under the DSBG Schemes shall be

exercisable within 1 year from the date of grant.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made or loans for such purpose
must be repaid:

The amount payable on acceptance of an option
is HK$1 and must be made within 21 days upon
offer of granting of options or the date on which the
conditions (if any) for the offer are satisfied.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(Continued)

(b) Interests in options under share option schemes of the
Company and its associated corporation (Continued)

. Share option scheme of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited,

a majority owned subsidiary of the Company (Continued)

®)

Basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price per option share is concluded
by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
on behalf of the Board of DSBG on the basis no
less exacting than the requirement set out in Rule
17.03(9) of the Listing Rules and is determined as
no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of
DSBG'’s shares traded on the SEHK on the date of
grant; and (ii) the average closing prices of DSBG’s
shares traded on the SEHK for the 5 business
days immediately preceding the date of grant. For
options granted before the commencement of the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) on 3 March 2014,
the nominal value of the shares of HK$1 each in
the capital of DSBG had been taken into account in
determining the exercise price per option share.

Remaining life of the DSBG Schemes:

The Old DSBG Scheme was terminated on 27
May 2014 and all outstanding share options
granted under the Old DSBG Scheme and yet to
be exercised shall remain valid. The New DSBG
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing from 27 May 2014 and
expiring at the close of 26 May 2024.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(Continued)

(b) Interests in options under share option schemes of the

o RRERER @ Company and its associated corporation (Continued)
Il ARE]EZHE L E]— AFiRTTEEE Il.  Share option scheme of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited,
AR 272 R R & (%) a majority owned subsidiary of the Company (Continued)
() AR TTEEE 2 ()  Old DSBG Scheme
ARalREFE E@WE Certain directors of the Company and its major
WA TESREARNRT operating subsidiaries were granted options under
EFTBIER TRRME - Ej(%ﬁ the Old DSBG Scheme. Details of the movements
RITEBREAE TEEEBDX during the year ended, and the status as at, 31
T2 R R E2018F 12 7 December 2018 of DSBG’s outstanding share
BI1BIEFERNZEB RFRE options which have been granted under the Old
BRZFEIBIAS DSBG Scheme are as follows:
AREREAFRARERAHE
Number of DSBG's shares underlying the options
Ro018E N18FR  R2018F gy fiEse
1R1R 2018%R  2018%R  HE/A% 128318 Exercise RiA  Bxercise
KB R i Cancelled/ KA price’  Grant date period
Held at Granted  Exercised lapsed Held at At (R/B/%) (R/B/%)
ARA Grantee 11/2018"  during2018  during2018  during 2018 31/12/2018 (HKS) (DY) (Dmry)
£ Director
TiHE Gary Pak-Ling Wang 934,691 - (934,691) @ - 0 796 2111272012 21/12/2013 -
2112/2018
EMERSEY  Aggregate of other employees 851,605 - (85180540 - 0 79 211202012 21/12/2013-
2112/2018
124,625 - (62,313)© - 62,312 1168 26/03/2014  26/03/2015 -
26/03/2020
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ESRITRARERZ @ INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
(Continued)
(Z) EARRTIREAB LIERRESTET (b) Interests in options under share option schemes of the
o RRERER @ Company and its associated corporation (Continued)
Il ARE]EZHE L E]— AFiRTTEEE Il.  Share option scheme of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited,
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a majority owned subsidiary of the Company (Continued)

0] Old DSBG Scheme (Continued)

Notes:

1) Adjusted as a result of the rights issue of DSBG completed
in May 2014. The key summary of related adjustments was
announced by DSBG on 8 May 2014.

2) All the existing share options granted under the Old DSBG
Scheme shall be exercisable upon vesting in 5 equal
tranches between the first and fifth anniversaries from the
date of grant.

3) Share options were granted to certain eligible employees,
who are directors, senior executives or officers of major
operating subsidiaries of DSBG and are working under
employment contracts that are regarded as “continuous
contracts” for the purpose of the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong.

4) Including the share options in respect of 207,709 shares
of DSBG granted to Harold Tsu-Hing Wong, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Following the exercise of all
of his outstanding share options, Harold Tsu-Hing Wong
ceased to have any interest in the share options under the
Old DSBG Scheme.

(5) The weighted average closing price of the shares of DSBG
immediately before the dates on which the options were
exercised during the year ended 31 December 2018 was
HK$15.91.

6) Details of the computation of the value of options are
shown in Note 45 to the financial statements.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(Continued)

(b) Interests in options under share option schemes of the
Company and its associated corporation (Continued)

. Share option scheme of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited,
a majority owned subsidiary of the Company (Continued)

(i)  AFRITEEFEE (i) ~ New DSBG Scheme
RARRIREFZLERBAT Certain directors of the Company and its major
A TESRBERANETER operating subsidiaries were granted options under
et SR TR - ERF the New DSBG Scheme. Details of the movements
RITEEHFETREEDA during the year ended, and the status as at, 31
1T 2 R EE Z=2018F 12 A December 2018 of DSBG’s outstanding share
BI1THILFERNZEE RFRE options which have been granted under the New
R FIFT ¢ DSBG Scheme are as follows:
ARERE AFBRARERAHA
Number of DSBG’s shares underlying the options
R2018% N18FRH  R18E 8 frim 0
1A1R 2018%R  2018%R  HE/A% 128318 Exercise RER  Exercise
b2} Ri I Cancelled/ BE price  Grant date period
Held at Granted  Exercised lapsed Held at At (R/R/%) (R/B/%)
ARA Grantee 11/2018  during 2018 during2018  during2018  31/12/2018 (HKS) (DY) (DmrY)
£ Director
TiHE Gary Pak-Ling Wang - 450,000 6 - - 450,000 1824 26/04/2018  26/04/2019 -
26/04/2024
EftEEBEY  Aggregate of other employees - 1,050,000 B - - 1,050,000 1824 26/04/2018  26/04/2019 -
26/04/2024
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(Continued)

(b)

Interests in options under share option schemes of the
Company and its associated corporation (Continued)

. Share option scheme of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited,
a majority owned subsidiary of the Company (Continued)

(i)  New DSBG Scheme (Continued)

Notes:

1) All the existing share options granted under the New
DSBG Scheme shall be exercisable upon vesting in 5 equal
tranches between the first and fifth anniversaries from the
date of grant.

2) Share options were granted to certain eligible employees,
who are directors, senior executives or officers of major
operating subsidiaries of DSBG and are working under
employment contracts that are regarded as “continuous
contracts” for the purpose of the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong.

3) On 26 April 2018, DSBG granted 1,500,000 share
options to certain senior executives at an exercise price
of HK$18.24 per share. The closing price of the shares
of DSBG on 25 April 2018 (being the business day
immediately preceding 26 April 2018 on which the options
were granted) was HK$18.18 per share.

4) Details of the computation of the value of options are
shown in Note 45 to the financial statements.

All the interests stated above represented long positions. As at 31
December 2018, none of the Directors or Chief Executive of the
Company held any short positions as defined under the SFO which
are required to be recorded in the register of directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors or Chief Executive of the Company and their respective
associates had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the SEHK pursuant to the Securities Model Code.



iR 3R 0 1 2

BRAN DR BRI BN LR EESN - ARBR
F ARSI AT LA TR AR 1%

ESRBALAEBMEBEERS - &
FREN 2 EXER

RERBREXFRELMAER - LERRFES
BEEMARRREMBRARANZEIZEER
7 RHREK  ARREFHEEGEENER
BEERSRE R E A R -

TERFER

72018F 12 A31H ' LFAL(ARBEERIT
BRBH 2RO R EXRERIN) RARA R KM
REBEBROT  BEARAREGESFRIEER
BIYEXVEFE 336 6B EFENMR R R T LM
T ARSI R R B ERSIOAE ©

FEQWEE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option schemes of the Company as disclosed
above, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS THAT ARE
SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S
BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Company’s business to which the Company or its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As of 31 December 2018, the following are the persons, other than
the Directors and Chief Executive of the Company whose interests are
disclosed above, who had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register of
shareholders’ interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of Part XV of the SFO or otherwise known to the
Company.
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FERRER @) SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS (Continued)
BT
RADHEEZ
EREILO
Percentage of
FrisRegE,/ interests in
W10 2 B % the total
&% E=27) Number of shares held/ number of
Name Capacity Interest in shares issued shares®
ITEREE HAHEBESATREEAMME EEEER

Christine Yen Wong

ELBRBRETRRAR(DELET)
HSBC International Trustee Limited
(“HSBCIT”)

THE
Harold Tsu-Hing Wong

DSI Limited

DSI Group Limited

DSI Holding Limited

“ZUReRER
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc.

ZZURJERT (BB =Z R R UFJERAT)
MUFG Bank, Ltd.
(formerly known as The Bank of
Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.)

Aberdeen Asset Management
Asia Limited

* A FJEZ1{5 - £ % - DSI Limited » DSI *
Group Limited % DSI Holding Limited & & F7%)
ZERHOBETEMSERRRIRG P 2 H -

MiZE 2 BN [ EERITHARER | —&T
NETE TRESNERIZE T TEERAF
R 28 - Bt - BEARM TR REAE - #
REREFEMBEARRRRG R 2 HBH K

PNy
Eab°
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Deemed interests by virtue of

her spouse having a notifiable interest

ErEAREEER
Trustee and corporate interests

WRIERAERARA B S

Deemed interests in shares held by trustee

EEAREEER
Trustee and corporate interests

EEAREEER
Trustee and corporate interests

EEAREEER
Trustee and corporate interests

EEER
Corporate interests

st st
EnlkEn

Beneficial interests

KEKE
Investment manager

held in the Company.

137,285,682

126,199,187 @

126,189,187 ©@

61,205,583

45,068,894

19,914,710 @

50,870,777

50,870,777

18,048,800

40.97%*

37.66%"

37.66%"

18.27%*

13.45%"

5.94%*

15.18%

15.18%

5.39%

The interests disclosed above by each of HSBCIT, Harold Tsu-Hing
Wong, DSI Limited, DSI Group Limited and DSI Holding Limited relate to
the shares held by David Shou-Yeh Wong in the Company as disclosed
under the heading “Interests of Directors and Chief Executive”. The
interests of Christine Yen Wong represent the whole of such shares.
Therefore, these shareholdings should not be aggregated, and rather
form part or whole of the same share interests of David Shou-Yeh Wong
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS (Continued)

Notes:

1) Such shares represent the deemed interests of Christine Yen Wong
by virtue of her spouse, David Shou-Yeh Wong being a substantial
shareholder of the Company having a notifiable interest in the relevant
share capital of the Company (under the interpretation of section 316(1)
of the SFO). These interests comprise the same shares held by David
Shou-Yeh Wong under the heading “Interests of Directors and Chief
Executive” above.

2) Out of these shares, 126,189,187 shares are mainly comprised of the
interests indirectly held by HSBCIT in trust for a family discretionary trust
of which David Shou-Yeh Wong is the settlor.

3) Pursuant to section 322 of the SFO, Harold Tsu-Hing Wong has a
deemed interests in the 126,189,187 shares held by HSBCIT in trust for
a family discretionary trust of which David Shou-Yeh Wong is the settlor.

4) Such shares are mainly comprised of the interests indirectly held by DSI
Limited, DSI Group Limited and DSI Holding Limited in trust for a family
discretionary trust of which David Shou-Yeh Wong is the settlor.

(5) The percentage of interests was calculated with reference to the total
number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2018.

(6) All the interests stated above represented long positions.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director
and officer shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities (to the fullest extent permitted
by the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)) which he/she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries, of the listed securities of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2018.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2018.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2018,
calculated under sections 291, 297 and 299 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622), amounted to HK$6,337,563,000 (2017:
HK$6,324,887,000).

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of transactions with related parties of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 have been set out in Note 44 to the financial
statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The published results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last 5 years are included in the section headed “Financial Summary”
of this Annual Report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group derived less
than 30% of interest income and other operating income from its 5
largest customers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules, based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RULES GOVERNING THE
LISTING OF SECURITIES ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED

The accompanying financial statements comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as
auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The Company has not changed its auditors in the
preceding 3 years.

On behalf of the Board
David Shou-Yeh Wong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2019
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s DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

REZE2018F 12 A31H I FEMEE20194F The names of the directors and alternate director who have served on

3R2TH (AIARRRIzAFEE=ZEREERH) the boards of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year ended

LEH - BEARRBIZHBAREEENESER 31 December 2018 and up to 27 March 2019, being the date of the

BEES2HE0T Report of the Directors of Company for the year, are set out below:

(TR FHEZ) (in alphabetical order)

Eric Edmund BARNETT* Eric Edmund BARNETT*

PR CHAN Hoi-Kit Frederick

PR 2 AR CHAN lo-Meng (Vincent CHAN)

R 5 1) CHAN Seng-Lee

PR 4 B2 CHAN Wai-Kin Cliff

CES CHANG Pui-Yuk Vanessa

5 CHENG Yu-Chung (Patrick CHENG)

HRigE CHIU Yuk-Fai Alick

- Lon DOUNN*

Michael Gordon FRITH Michael Gordon FRITH

BEAE Jun FUJIMOTO

Christopher George GARROD (¥ /F£ %) Christopher George GARROD (alternate director)

OE==2] HO Ka-Yeung Eric

it Paul Michael KENNEDY

TS KONG Yiu-Fai (Eddie KONG)

EEXES LAU Ka-Wai Frederick

Lk E LAU Shing-Tat Eddie

FRHT KR LAW See-Chan Embrose

FERE” LI Hau-Tak (Gary LI)*

BEX LO Tat-Man (Diamond LO)

HEE Nicholas John MAYHEW

RIRH NG Yuen-Tin

Richard Alexander OLLIVER* Richard Alexander OLLIVER*

*MhE Blair Chilton PICKERELL

EEH POON Clement

E LB POON Wing-Fai Jimmy

Andrew Charles SALTON* Andrew Charles SALTON*

S SZE Tsai-To Robert

BRI TAM Wai-Hung David

FirZ WANG Pak-Ling Gary

Alan Robert WEATHERSTON Alan Robert WEATHERSTON

EpE it WONG Hon-Hing (Derek WONG)

TEP WONG Mei-Chun Phoebe

RS 3 WONG Shou-Yeh David

F 188 WONG Tsu-Hing Harold

FEH WONG Wai-Nar Doris

e YAU Ho-Wing Vincent

FIB L YU Yuk-Wing Kenneth

RirE YUEN Yat-To (Henry YUEN)

* DERHE T BETARREEHB AR EEH * Those who have resigned/ceased as a Director of the relevant
7% e subsidiary(ies) of the Company.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

HZE2018F 12 A 31 H LLFZ For the year ended 31 December 2018
(LA T 74157~ ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

fir
Note 2018 2017

BECEER Continuing operations
F WA Interest income 6,757,360 5,686,531
FEZH Interest expense (2,542,368) (1,751,830)
FFRERA Net interest income 7 4,214,992 3,934,701
FRISE RASRA Fee and commission income 1,473,874 1,325,598
RBEEBERAST L Fee and commission expense (322,974) (277,034)
FREBRAERA Net fee and commission income 8 1,150,900 1,048,564
FEERA Net trading income 9 300,921 162,942
FREBREMBA Net insurance premium and other income 10 341,127 254,230
Hi @ WA Other operating income 11 135,843 98,536
EERA Operating income 6,143,783 5,498,973
RBRRERZ L FE Net insurance claims and expenses 12 (237,853) (178,610)
MNRREBRE2EERA Total operating income net of insurance claims 5,905,930 5,320,363
EEXH Operating expenses 13 (2,812,395) (2,633,243)
NERRERRA 2 EBER Operating profit before impairment losses 3,093,535 2,687,120
EEREEE Credit impairment losses 16 (233,048) (270,882)
IBRETREREEEEZ Operating profit before gains and losses on certain

Wz R BB R 2 & B R A investments and fixed assets 2,860,487 2,416,238
HEEMEEEEFEE Net loss on disposal of other fixed assets (1,932) (1,017)
REMERATERE 2F Net gain on fair value adjustment of

investment properties 69,191 11,835

HENATEE B EZETA Net gain on disposal of financial assets at fair

Hn2EW N mEE 2 FRE value through other comprehensive income 1,677 -
HE AL EE S 2 F e Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale securities = 288,007
e RRIRE ZREER Impairment loss on the investment in an associate 26 (633,000) (815,000)
i N e Share of results of an associate 659,708 628,449
JE(GEFEREE 2 58 Share of results of jointly controlled entities 27,234 22,485
BRB AR R Profit before taxation 2,983,365 2,550,997
FiIE Taxation 17 (433,258) (419,415)
BREESEER 2 FERA Profit for the year from continuing operations 2,550,107 2,131,582
EALEREEK Discontinued operations
BRIHEE B2 FEER Profit for the year from discontinued operations - 3,831,310
FERR Profit for the year 2,550,107 5,962,892
DR : Attributable to:
ARAIRE Shareholders of the Company

—REFECEER - From continuing operations 1,915,181 1,573,994

—REBREEFER - From discontinued operations - 3,830,780

1,915,181 5,404,774

RIERIERR Non-controlling interests 634,926 558,118
FERF Profit for the year 2,550,107 5,962,892
BREF Earnings per share
BN Basic

—REFECEER - From continuing operations 19 HK$5.72 HK$4.70

—REBKR LRSS - From discontinued operations 19 N/A HK$11.43
e Diluted 19 HK$5.72 HK$4.70

—REFECEER - From continuing operations 19 N/A HK$11.43

—REBREEEER - From discontinued operations

F131HEFE367H 2 M iALGE

B e

fAfgHmERZ —

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

#HZ=2018F 12 A 31 H L FE For the year ended 31 December 2018
(LAB® T 7LA517R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2018 2017
FERA Profit for the year 2,550,107 5,962,892
FEHM2E KRS Other comprehensive income for the year
e EMO EERE ltems that may be reclassified to the
WzsARAIIER - consolidated income statement:
y“?’?&i\ Investments in securities
ATEEFE B EZ e AHM Net loss on debt instruments at fair value
i@”ﬁlﬁﬁﬁ’]f,\ﬂ&lﬂz/?}gﬁﬁ through other comprehensive income (417,354) =
TR a2 A] it HH B 382 Net gain on available-for-sale securities
ZF W recognised in equity - 210,290
U R IR I 8RS B W as R Net gain realised and transferred to income
statement upon:
—HENURATEF=Z B EEF - Disposal of debt instruments at fair value
FTAHMEEREZ through other comprehensive income (1,677) -
BERHTE
—HEAHEERS — Disposal of available-for-sale securities - (288,007)
B L 2 EER A Deferred income tax related to the above 73,537 (1,829)
(345,494) (79,546)
HMEGIMERE R TS k1) Exchange differences arising on translation of
MEHERE the financial statements of foreign entities (306,372) 385,149
TeERHERRE KaER Items that will not be reclassified to the
HIER : consolidated income statement:
INAFEE B EE8) AHM Net loss on equity instruments at fair value
FEBEMERE TR 2 )FEE through other comprehensive income (228,570) -
B Ll 2 BEFIA Deferred income tax related to the above 10,401 =
(218,169) -
MR TR IRE < G2 H At Other comprehensive (loss)/income for
2m (E518) M the year, net of tax (870,035) 305,603
NBRBEEZFEEZE Total comprehensive income for
I ES4A 58 the year, net of tax 1,680,072 6,268,495
DELEAT Attributable to:
2 PR RE AR Non-controlling interests 468,152 627,251
ZAN/NE S Shareholders of the Company
—RERHELEER — From continuing operations 1,211,920 1,795,913
—REBRIEEEER — From discontinued operations - 3,845,331
HRBEREZEFESHMW=EEE Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 1,680,072 6,268,495

F13MAEEI67A M I AEGEMBIHR L —

The notes on pages 131 to 367 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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krE MR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

20184 12 H 31 H As at 31 December 2018
(LA T 74175178 ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

B aE
Note 2018 2017

BE ASSETS
e MERITHE R Cash and balances with banks 20 17,235,399 18,815,031
ERIT1 =128 A2 Placements with banks maturing between

SOPEZN one and twelve months 10,429,428 13,614,678
FHEEERENRE S Trading securities 21 7,621,184 9,278,454
NAFEFZEBEESHABR Financial assets at fair value

e REE through profit or loss 21 1,679,570 1,062,409
TESmITE Derivative financial instruments 22 727,043 897,967
BHEEZRMEMEE Advances and other accounts 23 137,705,223 128,310,547
IAAFER 2 B EE 8 AHAM Financial assets at fair value through

PEHBNENCREE other comprehensive income 24 44,304,763 =
AN EFES Available-for-sale securities 24 - 38,566,382
LA SRR ARSI R S REE = Financial assets at amortised cost 25 9,262,785 =
FE BB S Held-to-maturity securities 25 = 6,362,779
B NTIRE Investment in an associate 26 3,620,597 4,134,651
HEZEHEBIRE Investments in jointly controlled entities 27 87,691 81,157
Bl Goodwill 29 874,603 874,603
| EE Intangible assets 29 80,927 80,927
TERHMEEEE Premises and other fixed assets 30 2,083,070 2,156,620
SR/ Investment properties 31 1,426,106 1,219,840
BVEAFH IR & Current income tax assets 4,452 137
FIREFR I E = Deferred income tax assets 38 158,637 81,492
EEAT Total assets 237,301,478 225,537,674
=N LIABILITIES
RITIER Deposits from banks 3,797,556 2,277,391
TESRITE Derivative financial instruments 22 473,273 682,784
HIEEBERZRMAERE Trading liabilities 33 5,758,954 8,668,508
BPIFH Deposits from customers 34 172,409,761 161,081,720
BEEITHTRE Certificates of deposit issued 35 6,535,076 7,183,706
%EER Subordinated notes 36 5,449,082 5,487,366
HAb AR B &AL Other accounts and accruals 37 10,241,771 8,140,828
BNEAfIE A (& Current income tax liabilities 598,855 459,179
RIEFIEE & Deferred income tax liabilities 38 44,702 119,789
8B Total liabilities 205,309,030 194,101,271
s EQUITY
VR PRI AR R Non-controlling interests 6,557,041 6,374,321
AN TR REL =S Equity attributable to the Company’s

shareholders

A& Share capital 40 4,248,559 4,248,559

HAib & (BREERBREF) Other reserves (including retained earnings) 41 21,186,848 20,813,523
REES Shareholders’ funds 25,435,407 25,062,082
EREE Total equity 31,992,448 31,436,403
EnRaEas Total equity and liabilities 237,301,478 225,537,674

FE2N 201943 A 27 B /E RIBEREZE M -

ESE S BEEH

EF BFREIE

F131EEFE3678 2 A E M ERER 2 —

By e

March 2019.

David Shou-Yeh Wong

Director

consolidated financial statements.
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Hon-Hing Wong
Managing Director

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27
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AREDE

/\\/ \

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

#HZ=2018F 12 A 31 H L FE For the year ended 31 December 2018
(LAB® T 7LA517R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

AARFESES
Attributable to the shareholders
of the Company
R
RE
ka  HtEE  REERA Non-  BmAH
Share Other Retained  controlling Total
capital reserves earnings interests equity
201851 A1 R&# Balance at 1 January 2018 4,248,559 1,073,750 19,739,773 6,374,321 31,436,403
MEEREENEREEE9% 228  Changes on initial application of HKFRS 9 - 29850 (276,951) (84,209)  (331,310)
MRERE M BEREENE IR Impact of initial application of HKFRS 9 on
RERBERT T2 share of an associate - 18,950 (211,813) (66,180)  (259,043)
&EY 2201851 B1 A& Restated balance at 1 January 2018 4248559 1,122,550 19,251,009 6,223,932 30,846,050
FERT Profit for the year - - 1,915,181 634,926 2,550,107
FEHMZERE Other comprehensive loss for the year - (703,260) = (166,775)  (870,035)
—[ENBARZREHERFRARA  Capital contribution by non-controlling
interests of a subsidiary - - - 7,108 7,108
ARRERH TR—HRB A Additional net assets in a subsidiary acquired
BABINFEE via share option arrangement - (15,051) - 26,170 11,119
SARRIE S (AR A (EBERE AN 2 B4 Provision for equity-settled share-based compensation - 2,269 - (848) 1,421
REENABRNEARENMFEZREE  Reserves arising from reclassification of premises
to investment properties - 356,784 (280,161) - 76,623
EWME 265 EXHBUATERE  Reclassification of net change in fair value of equity
EREr AAM2AMERERIE  instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
IEZ ATEZEFE (RR) income upon derecognition, net of tax - 9,887 (9,887) - -
FAREEMESHTEFAZRE  Reserves arising from distribution payment of additional
equity instruments - - 9,983 (9,983) -
—ElER ARG ERERERS Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of a subsidiary - - - (158,089) (158,089
2017 EREARE 2017 final dividend - - (345,127) - (345,127)
2018 FHEIR & 2018 interim dividend - - (127,329) - (127,329)
2018128 31 BEth Balance at 31 December 2018 4,248,559 773,179 20,413,669 6,557,041 31,992,448

RIerSEBER AT 2018F F 1R
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EREHE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

#ZE20184 12 A 31 HILFE (%) For the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)
(LA T 741517~ ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

NG e
Attributable to the shareholders
of the Company
R
e
Rx  HEthEE  REEA Non-  BHA:
Share Other Retained  controlling Total
capital reserves earnings interests equity
2017511854 Balance at 1 January 2017 4,248,559 949,722 16,618,501 5,870,786 27,687,568
EEaA Profit for the year - - 5404774 558,118 5,962,892
FEAMZARS Other comprehensive income for the year S 236,470 = 69,133 305,603
—FH B AR R Capital contribution by non-controlling
BRREBABRA interests of a subsidiary - - - 819 819
BRRERE TR —ANB AT Additional net assets in a subsidiary acquired
BABINFEE via share option arrangement - (2,680) - 5,068 2,388
SARRE S AR fE ARk 2 & Provision for equity-settled share-based compensation - 631 - (130) 501
HENBARz FEER Reserves released upon disposal of subsidiaries - (110,393) 396,314 (5,761) 280,160
NELENAIE Reclassification of properties - - (15,969) 15,969 -
—Hl B A AR E Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
REEER S of a subsidiary - - - (139,681) (139,681)
20165 RERE. 2016 final dividend - - (345,127) - (3e5127)
2017 FHRIRE 2017 special dividend - - (2,211,49) - (2,211,49)
217 ERERS. 2017 interim dividend - - (07,22 - (107,224
2017612 A 31 B&gh Balance at 31 December 2017 4,248,559 1,073,750 19,739,773 6,374,321 31,436,403
B131E R 5367 E 7 M ARG B iEgs s — The notes on pages 131 to 367 are an integral part of these

B -

consolidated financial statements.
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rmowes  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
#HZ=2018F 12 A 31 H L FE For the year ended 31 December 2018
(LAB® T 7LA517R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

L

Note 2018 2017
RETFH2HERE Cash flows from operating activities
KEER (TR TRARSFRE Net cash (used in)/from operating activities 42(a)  (4,869,362) 867,683
RETBHZHRERE Cash flows from investing activities
BEHMETEEE Purchase of other fixed assets (176,234) (133,025)
& HALE E B EFTS 5E Proceeds from disposal of other fixed assets 134 1,747
HEERIEEEER - 0k Disposal of discontinued operations,

BEEHERES net of cash disposed of = 6,309,795
SEEE (FTA),/ RABR S FE Net cash (used in)/from investing activities (176,100) 6,178,517
MEZEZRESRE Cash flows from financing activities
EERBREER Repayment of subordinated notes 42(c) - (1,660,074)
— B A R 2 2 1 HIHE Capital contribution by non-controlling

A& R AR interests of a subsidiary 7,708 819
TIBEITERERR Interest paid on subordinated notes and

REBESZFIL debt securities issued 42(c) (293,730) (332,236)
— R E A R R E R HI R R Dividends paid to non-controlling

PR oS interests of a subsidiary (158,089) (139,681)
Ik EE E R S Dividends paid on ordinary shares (472,456) (2,663,847)
BEEBATAR S FHE Net cash used in financing activities (916,567)  (4,795,019)
BeRERBLEE OBL), Net (decrease)/increase in cash and

¥ hnFE A cash equivalents (5,962,029) 2,251,181
FURERERREEE Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of the year 22,575,403 20,147,048
[EREE 2 & Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (133,999) 177,174
FRAESRERESIER Cash and cash equivalents at end

of the year 42(b) 16,479,375 22,575,403
FIB1EEFI67H 2 I ALRE M EHwE 2 — The notes on pages 131 to 367 are an integral part of these
5 o consolidated financial statements.
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BEFMAE])) ARBZMBEBERTENBRE
ZA(TEAPBHREEL ] REEMEERE
RHBBUHEREER - BEGFEAN(EEE
SEADAREREBEZSE)  BEEBERRAZ
ST RRINEE A RIEDIE 622 EMARE

A M BRERDRIBEELKAERERE » A
RIREYME ARAFEAEEEEHHAH MR
ARENERMEE  FIEEERAZZEREER
TREEMUAFEFELEESHHABRENS
REENEREB(BEMETR) ZEM/ELS
B WRAHESIR -

B H5 Rk B et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LA T Th751)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Dah Sing Financial Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) provide banking, insurance,
financial and other related services in Hong Kong, Macau, and the
People’s Republic of China.

The Company is an investment holding company incorporated
in Hong Kong. The address of its registered office is 36th Floor,
Everbight Centre, 108 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of Hong Kong dollars (HK$’000), unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by
the Board of Directors on 27 March 2019.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the reporting years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs” is a collective term which includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.622.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
investment properties, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, financial assets and financial liabilities held
for trading, and financial assets and financial liabilities (including
derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss, which are
carried at fair value.
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B H5 Rk B et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAS¥F7TA151)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. FESHEHBE@m)

21 wBEE%E @)
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RerSEBER AT 2018F F 1R

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in applying the
Group’s accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have
a significant impact on the financial statements in the period the
assumptions changed. Management believes that the underlying
assumptions are appropriate and that the Group’s financial
statements therefore present the financial position and results fairly.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(@ New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following new and amended standards have been adopted
by the Group for the first time for the financial year beginning on
or after 1 January 2018:

(1) HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments”

The Group has adopted HKFRS 9 issued by the HKICPA
with effect from 1 January 2018, which resulted in
changes in accounting policies and adjustments to
the amounts previously recognised in the financial
statements.

As permitted by the transitional provisions of HKFRS 9,
the Group elected not to restate comparative figures. Any
adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial assets
and liabilities at the date of transition were recognised in
the opening retained earnings and other reserves of the
current period.

Consequently, for notes disclosures, the consequential
amendments to HKFRS 7 disclosures have also only been
applied to the current period. The comparative period
notes disclosures repeat those disclosures made in the
prior year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 7AI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)

(1) HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has resulted in changes in
our accounting policies for recognition, classification
and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities and impairment of financial assets. HKFRS
9 also significantly amends other standards dealing
with financial instruments such as HKFRS 7 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosures”.

Set out below are disclosures relating to the impact of the
adoption of HKFRS 9 on the Group.

The measurement category and the carrying amount of
financial assets and liabilities in accordance with HKAS 39
on 31 December 2017 and HKFRS 9 at the opening of 1
January 2018 are compared and shown as follows:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAS¥F7TA151)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2.1

FESHBEBRE @ 2.
R REXE () 2.1

(FF) FEEFN T RASIEETER (#)

(1) BEPBEREEIFEIF(EH
THE) (&

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@ New and amended standards adopted by the Group

(Continued)

(1) HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

EBGERE39 57 BERMBMELEDEO F
HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
TR fREE TEER fREE
CTREE Measurement Carrying Measurement Carrying
Financial assets category amount category amount
ERITHHERR TR BERAKR 32,429,709 -3 32,424,547
Balances and placements (ER R EYG) Amortised cost
with banks Amortised cost
(Loans and receivables)
BFRERREMIRE B A 128,310,547 3N 128,016,079
Advances and other (EFR R Amortised cost
accounts Amortised cost
(Loans and receivables)
RHIEEBRGMNES NATEFEEES 9,278,454 UATEtEAEE 8,837,554
Trading securities A IBE ST ABE
(FIEEER®T) Fair value through
Fair value through profit or loss
profit or loss
(Held for trading)
EHRE NATEERHE 38,566,382 NATEHEEEE 34,264,811
Investment securities AR MR AR AR M2 AR
(AT E) Fair value through other
Fair value through other comprehensive income
comprehensive income
(Available-for-sale)
BEARRY AR 6,362,779 BEBRRY AR 11,039,229
(FZ2154) Amortised cost
Amortised cost
(Held-to-maturity)
NRFHEREHHE 737,491 NATEtEAEE 837,787
FAER AR
(%) (REEIBRELER
Fair value through FIRZMEMDE)
profit or loss Fair value through
(Designated) profit or loss
(Categorised based
on requirements
of HKFRS 9)
UATEERRE 324,918 NATEEREE 324,918
AR TAER
(EREITETLR) (BB IEER
Fair value through FIRZHEMHE)

profit or loss
(With embedded derivative)

SHAEZ D BRI REE

RerSEBER AT 2018F F 1R

Fair value through
profit or loss
(Categorised based
on requirements

of HKFRS 9)

There were no changes to the classification and

measurement of financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 77517R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)

HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

The Group’s accounting policies on the classification
of financial instruments under HKFRS 9 are set out in
Note 2.6. The application of these policies resulted in the
reclassifications set out in the table above and explained
below.

Certain debt securities are held by the Treasury
Division in a separate portfolio for long-term yield.
Before the adoption of HKFRS 9, these securities
were classified as available-for-sale. These securities
may be sold, but such sales are not expected to
be more than infrequent. The Group considers that
these securities are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets to collect the
contractual cash flows. These assets are classified
as measured at amortised cost under HKFRS 9.

Before the adoption of HKFRS 9, certain debt
securities were reclassified out of the available-
for-sale categories to held-to-maturity at their fair
values. On the adoption of HKFRS 9, the carrying
amount of those assets was adjusted so that their
amortised cost under HKFRS 9 was as if those
assets were accounted for at amortised cost from
their inception.

Certain investment funds previously classified as
available-for-sale meet the definition of puttable
instruments. Investments in puttable instruments are
required to be measured at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL”) as the units give rise to cash flows
that are not solely payments of principal and interest.
As a result, these instruments were classified as
FVPL from the date of initial application of HKFRS 9.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@ New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)

(1)

HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

The Group has elected to irrevocably designate
strategic investments in a portfolio of non-trading
equity securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) as permitted under
HKFRS 9. These securities were previously classified
as available-for-sale and fair value through profit
or loss. The changes in fair value of such securities
under HKFRS 9 will no longer be reclassified to profit
or loss when they are disposed of.

The Group holds an investment in a portfolio of debt
securities which had previously been designated at
FVPL as the debt securities were managed on a fair
value basis. These debt securities are held for long-
term yield and may be sold for managing the return
of the portfolio. The Group considers that under
HKFRS 9, these securities are held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets
and so required to be classified as FVOCI.

The Group holds hybrid debt instruments which had
previously been designated at FVPL. As part of the
transition to HKFRS 9, these securities are part of
an “other” business model and so required to be
classified as FVPL, instead of designated FVPL.
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2. FEEFTBEHBEm@m 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
21 HmEEE @) 2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
() ZEELZRRZ Fr RASIETTER (%) () New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)
(1) BBEYBRESERZIF(ER (1)  HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)
TE) @
BR. BLash TIEBITAERE g. Inaddition to the above, the following debt instruments
ARG ERIFEIRT - H have been reclassified to new categories under HKFRS
BEFERCERA - £EBEH 9, as their previous categories under HKAS 39 were
BHREEAFER TEFHE ‘retired’, with no changes to their measurement basis:

EFER - A EEEWEN

iy ZEBEHEAAUMELD (i)  Those previously classified as available-
ENEESEAENUNATE for-sale and now classified as measured at
B = BEZFHTAE FVOCI; and

fhEERERTE &

iy ZEREIBAEEEZ (i) Those previously classified as held-to-
R IR 9 8 AR maturity and now classified as measured at
ARG E ° amortised cost.
HEM D BEERNANERREFH S For financial assets that have been reclassified to the
HUARNTEFEAHEY T AERE amortised cost and from FVPL to FVOCI category, the
NATFENEREEFHTAHMEE following table shows their fair value as at 31 December
WHBERIZ S REE » TRIIRER 2018 and the fair value gain or loss that would have
2018 F 12 A 31 HZ A VA K& Z been recognised if these financial assets had not been
EEEWARBH DA (CMEAIRBE reclassified as part of the transition to HKFRS 9:

EEEMBREERNFEIR 2 H )M
BRERZ N THEWSHEE

2018
B EAHEE (FESTEA Reclassifications from available-for-sale
E39 2z ) BEERK AR (HKAS 39 classification) to amortised cost
M12A31 B2 A E Fair value as at 31 December 4,579,920
e SR EEWREFHIEM Fair value loss that would have been
ARFARNER 2 ATEEBE recognised during the year if the
financial asset had not been reclassified (57,500)
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TESTHHEME @

R REXE (3)
(FF) KEFRA 2 FRACNSZTER (4)

(1) BEYPBEREEDFEIF(EH
THE) (&)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@ New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)

(1) HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

2018
EFPEUATEFAEEHEE Reclassifications from FVPL (HKAS 39
srAER (BB ERSE39 classification) to FVOCI
B2 ZUATFESTE
BESH AL MbE2E K
R12 A31 B2 AFE Fair value as at 31 December 281,788
e 2R EEWAREH DM Fair value loss that would have been recognised
AREANERZ A FEERE during the year if the financial asset
had not been reclassified (10,439)

201841 A1 B (BB HEE
RISz VIR EFA B ER) - AEEE
BEEERERARASEREGZE
BEENEBEAVEKESRIAS
FEHE 2 BB GRS AR 95K
1R - RNTEHEEEE ((EHREE
BB EESIBAEBARE SR
B E(EHEEIN RIEERE -

N TN REERBRETBHHR
SREAFORHAKEIBANK
MRRRIRR P EROWEE -

RIerSEBER AT 2018F F 1)

On 1 January 2018 (the date of initial application of
HKFRS 9), the Group’s management has assessed which
business models apply to the financial assets held by
the Group and has classified its financial instruments
into the appropriate HKFRS 9 categories. The adoption
of expected credit loss (“ECL”) approach resulted in
an increase in impairment allowances required to be
provided on the Group’s financial assets.

Set out below are disclosures relating to the impact, net of
tax, of transition to HKFRS 9 on the statement of financial
position of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@ New and amended standards adopted by the Group

(Continued)

B 5k M ot
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LA T 7TA7%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

(1) HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

EfARIATE

b EUE RPN

EihE RuNcRKEE
THHERS UAPEHEAL
ENOTE REHARKEE

HBEERE WENCHER b
HARMAE Recessficaton  WHEER
hENeBEE  fomfrancel  HENER%
Reclassifcation ~ assefsatfar ~ ZMEHAA HERIE
fomavallble-  valuethrough  FIEHEREE FEEAZR
BEReTEN forsale profitorloss  Reclassifcation HateE
E0FRNTE scurfiesto  tofinencial  fomavalable-  HEATES  BELAARE  1R1A2
12831 B2 ERER BIRS fnenclassels  assetsatfar  forsdeand  EEEERE  2EWAE EE
Closing balance EEFR  atfarvale  vaethrough heldto-maturity  Recognition Reclassifcation Opening
under HKAS 39t~ Recognition  through other other  securitiesto  ofexpected  of investments  balance under
31 December  of expected  comprehensive  comprehensive  financial assets  creditloss by byan  HKFRS9at
017 credit loss income income atamortised cost  an associate associate 1 January 2018
RERERANES Cash and balances with banks 18,815,081 (1028) - - - - - 18814003
R Placement with banks mafuring
(Bl between one and twelve months 13614678 (4,134 - - - - - 13pi05u
BEERRRNES Trading securiies and fiancl asets
RAATRHER at fair value through proft and loss 10,340,863 - - (340,604 - - - 10,000,259
ERE A BR
EA
LEEHRENER Advances and other accounts 108310547 (294 468) - - - - - 18016079
WATEZEEZHEA  Financial assets a fai vlue through
EWARUEHEHEE  other comprehensive income - - B 340,604 - - - M2eAst
TRt ERS Avallable-for-sale securies 38,566,362 - (Be0) - (e - - -
WESHATIEOSREE  Financialassets at amortised cost - BT - - 1045008 - - 100
HENERS Held-to-maturty securtes 6362779 - - - 3% - - -
BENTRE Investment n an associate 4,134,651 - - - - [259.211) 167 3876607
EitiaEeE Deferred income tax asses 81,492 81,530 - - - - - 163,022
EHEARER Other accounts and accruals 8,140828 140,456 - - - - - 8,261,264
EitiEsk Deferred income tax iailties 119,789 - - - 708 - - 126817
RIEFIERR Non-contrling inerests 6374321 (02,645) - - 843 (66223 5 60
BB Retaned eamings 00T [T818) - 1231 QL - 12500
REE[RR Investment revaluation reserve 247464 6,493 - (1231) 24568 18826 124 296,264
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2. FEESHEFEHBEm@m)

21 wmBEE%E @)

(FF) BEBEEFRZHRASIEE

(1) BAEYBREENFIF(ER

THE) (&)

TRARBELG LRI 2B
AEERIRAIETE 2 FEIREREER
HIZBRBYERE LR FE R 2 A
EEEI 8N 20185F1 A1 B3

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(Continued)

(1)

BRI (%) () New and amended standards adopted by the Group

HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

The following table reconciles the prior period’s closing
impairment allowance measured in accordance with the
HKAS 39 incurred loss model to the new impairment
allowance measured in accordance with the HKFRS 9

B ZERE 2 Bk expected loss model at 1 January 2018:
REBGHER REBHBREEL
ERIE A AR FORZAEER
Impairment Impairment
allowance EHE  allowance under
sTEER Measurement category under HKAS 39  Remeasurement HKFRS 9
B e RIERITHE RS Cash and balances with banks = 1,028 1,028
ERT1E12fAR Placements with banks maturing
2B between one and twelve months - 4,134 4,134
AAFEFEHEZEH A Financial assets at fair value through
Hih2EMZEMEAEE  other comprehensive income - 17,738 17,738
PABE SRR ARV S RIEE  Financial assets at amortised cost = 5,777 5,777
EOES: Trade bills 14,229 (11,945) 2,284
EFER Advances to customers 659,046 299,354 958,400
Ry & uid= Accrued interest and other accounts 24,595 7,059 31,654
STURIE RS HER Loan commitments and financial
guarantees - 140,456 140,456
&3t Total 697,870 463,601 1,161,471

RIerSEBER AT 2018F F 1R
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B 5k M ot
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 7A7517R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@ New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)

(2) HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with

customers”

The HKICPA has issued HKFRS 15 as the new standard
for the recognition of revenue, which has become effective
for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2018.
This replaces HKAS 18 which covers contracts for goods
and services and HKAS 11 which covers construction
contracts. The new standard is based on the principle that
revenue is recognised when control of a good or service
transfers to a customer. The standard permits either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach for the
adoption.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have any material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

(b) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and
interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after
1 January 2018, and have not been early adopted in preparing
these consolidated financial statements. Key changes of the
new standards are summarised as follows:
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TESTHEME @

R REXE (m)
(Z) FKERMZ F2ER R 22 FE (4)

(1) BEHBHREERFE165%(H

5)

HREERERMERERZERE
EER - BB REERIF 16515
BAHDAEREEABRAER -
EMERT - —HEE(FRAZHEE
BE 2R R—EXNHE 2 e/
BESWHER - E—FIINBRHRIE
BHRE - BoEREMEBEENINZ
RHREERE - fmahodAE s
ZHEAM TG BB ST IEREE
AIE165E 2 FE -

HAAZ BRI TR BAKE -

Fal

ZEABEFEZEACECEHE Y
SETRE - B ERBHEEER
B (&% 147 500,000,000 5 7T °

FZERIZER 20194F 1 A1 Bk AR F
B2 RFERER - AEEWETEIE
A5 BRERERETEEIIINR
MATZ FELBRET o
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

(1) HKFRS 16, “Leases”

HKFRS 16 will result in almost all leases being recognised
on the balance sheet, as the distinction between operating
and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard,
an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial
liability to pay rentals are recognised. The only exceptions
are short-term and low-value leases. Some of the
commitments may be covered by the exception for short-
term and low value leases and some commitments may
relate to arrangements that will not qualify as leases under
HKFRS 16.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly change.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for
Group’s operating leases. The implementation is expected
to increase assets and liabilities by approximately HK$500
million.

The new standard is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2019. The Group also
intends to apply the simplified transition approach and will
not restate comparative amounts for the year prior to first
adoption.



&+ NS 01011001011001101°
Ej- ;r,& & |Z1\<J» EE 101010010101110071)
E% 010061101011001071)

A 71 iF A £001110101100001011
01010010101 1100711

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS s

(LAB® T 7A7517R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. FESTBEHE@ 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
21 mEEEm@ 2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(Z) KB ZFTERRZFE (%) (b) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

@ BEWBREEFE7HR
A

201851 A - BB TG RAM
BEAPIHREERETH - BRER
BEHNZERNE » 2 REEZ
TR R BB 3RS 2R
FAFRBRELT) ©

HnARBBEN ST BORIFT &
Rz BEMEREENF 4T IR
FEML - BAPBIREERFE17R
R NRE—EEEER (—RE
) WATEPHREZIEEMNER
BR2EFUEZA0(E2RIREMRN
ZRBEK)  REBREHAOR
EOREMNTA(EEEAR —LIEA
BREBAL) -

RV B EERE A7 RN 2021 F
1 A1 Ak A& Rt < 2 HE R A
R o AREBIARFTEZLERE AR E
ZIREM SRR ZHE o

(2) HKFRS 17, “Insurance contracts”

In January 2018, the HKICPA issued HKFRS 17, a
new accounting standard for insurance contracts
covering recognition and measurement, presentation
and disclosure, which replaces HKFRS 4 “Insurance
contracts”.

In contrast to the requirements in HKFRS 4, which are
largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting
policies for measurement purposes, HKFRS 17 provides
a comprehensive model (the general model) for insurance
contracts, supplemented by the variable fee approach
for contracts with direct participation features that are
substantially investment-related service contracts, and
the premium allocation approach mainly for short-duration
contracts which typically applies to certain non-life
insurance contracts.

HKFRS 17 is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The Group is yet
to assess the impact of the standard on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

R HAME 201841 A1 HEEAMS AL
Mz BB BEREEKRESTERE A
EEBEEATE -

There are no other HKFRSs or interpretations that are effective
from 1 January 2018 or not yet effective that would be expected
to have a material impact on the Group.

DAH SING FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018~ 143



100111010001001110
1101001170001010100
1011011001110100010
101110101007110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
1011101070011100100
110011011001110100

144

B H5 Rk B et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BAS¥F7TA151)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. FESHFEHBE@m)

22 HEUB®HEK

REMBHRREBEARRREMEHRBARES
12 A 31 B1E 2 B 7§ sREK ©

(FF) B@gxa]

MEARRAKE A B (BEEE
HER) AREAZEHZEEREEAS
EEB 2 EZ B R L oA R A &
ME®R BAENEEHRBERBZIENY
BZEN® - A EHNEERTASEEA
M B AR AR E - Wi ZITHIER
P2 BN BERAFHE -

AEBUBBETE/AREZ XK A G
SRR - WE—RMBRRMNEZRER
BEBEE AEZRBERAEERTZ
B AFE - IR EREEMSRA
RERFZEESABEZLFE - KEHE
BMEBERRELRH EXBAIERE
TEREGHAKEAIRRABRERAEZAE
RERABE  AREBEE RREQTFEE
HGEAE - AEBERBEZBREEER
N ERBREFI R EEREBEEE
BEVRE 2 L DI HE R A ] 1% BB B 2 DR F2 l
PR R b AR o

PR Z RAB ~ (E 008 128 il A AR AR A 150
BEESARERE BN REBEER
Z N R A58 B FE A AT AR R 1R A
FEEZAVE BIRREE - WEE
B - R IFER S MR ATt
AAEZRBEEEEER KB P ERTKE
MEBARFEENATE HEBRER
EzHEK R AER o

RIerEBER AT 2018F F 1R

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries made up to 31
December.

(@)  Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations by the Group. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values
of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis,
the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over
the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously
held interest measured is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the statement
of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2

(LAB® T 757K (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)
(@) Subsidiaries (Continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

(b)  Transactions with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as
transactions with equity holders of the Company. For purchases
from non-controlling interests, the difference between any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the
carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest
in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

DAH SING FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101°
1010100101011100111
0100011010110010711
00111010110000101
010100101011100711
0100011010110010111
1001110101100001011
10001011070110070

145



100111010001001110
1101001170001010100
1011011001110100010
101110101007110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
1011101070011100100
110011011001110100

146

B B R i ot
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAS¥F7TA1%51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2.2

TESTHHEME @

FEMBHRE @
() BELA]

GE AR RIEASEAHAKIBEEATE
BREEIERIF AR - B R RRE R

BEERE  RUIRKAAR - AEEZ
i N AR A B HE U B R SR A 2 R (F0BR

E REHREERE)

REB (GRS DR B R S A B R
U SRR - NEERGEERER
EmENB(CEREENFEER - REWN
REEZRFWERNZSCHERE - KR
FAEERERBE AR REEERELS
R BAEAEEEGEBEQRRNERE
ERHEBAKEER Z QAR MED (BHEE
i BRI B U B - REET BRI
&S

AEBENERENRBEHERTARED
/WEZX é‘%ﬁifﬁ&ﬁié ° i 1E N EE

AEBEZBE R DKRESENEKRAE
ZERRTE M@%%ﬁ&%& [FE1EBE 2 7]

4B | R R

AEBHEABENRRRH 2 KRERWE
BASBEGEBERREANMET IE
He RFURXHREBBEEREZE
B RERBBETTAEE BEARZ
SRTBRREFLEZBENERENEH
R BR—5K -

R 2N E 2 B R ERE RS
HER -

RIerSEBER AT 2018F F 1)

2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)
(c) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting and
are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in an
associate includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment

loss) identified on acquisition.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in the income statement, and its share
of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are
adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associates.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to “share of results of an associate” in the

income statement.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses in associate are recognised in the
income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(c) Associates (Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, the investments
in associates are stated at cost less provision for impairment
losses. The results of associates are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

(d)  Jointly controlled entities

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group
and other parties undertake an economic activity, which is
subject to joint control and none of the participating parties has
unilateral control over the economic activity.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities
are accounted for using equity method of accounting. The
consolidated income statement includes the Group’s share
of the results of jointly controlled entities for the year, and
the consolidated statement of financial position includes the
Group’s share of the net assets of the jointly controlled entities.

2.3 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement
for all debt instruments measured at amortised cost and fair value
through other comprehensive income and available-for-sale securities
using the effective interest method.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Interest income and expense (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the
interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When
calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for
example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit
losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been
written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is
recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

2.4 Fee and commission income and expense

Fee and commission income from contracts with customers is
measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a
customer. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control

over a service to a customer.

Fees for ongoing account management, custody services and other
servicing fees that are continuously provided over an extended period
of time are recognised on systematic basis over the period the service
is provided.

Revenue related to transaction-based arrangements such as
interchange, broking services and import or export services is
recognised at the point in time when the transaction takes place.

2.5 Dividend income

Dividends are recognised in the income statement when the Group’s
right to receive payment is established.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities
Effective from 1 January 2018
Measurement methods

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or
financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any

loss allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment
allowance) or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. The
calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes
transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees and points paid
or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as
origination fees. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets (assets that are credit-impaired at initial recognition) the
Group calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which is
calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial asset instead
of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of expected
credit losses in estimated future cash flows.

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the
carrying amount of the respective financial assets or financial liability
is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original
effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Measurement methods (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or financial
liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset
or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and
commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition, an ECL allowance
is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost and
investments in debt instruments measured at FVOCI which results in
an accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss when an asset is
newly originated.

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the
transaction price on initial recognition, the Group recognises the
difference as follows:

(@)  When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active
market for an identical asset or liability (i.e. a Level 1 input)
or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from
observable markets, the difference is recognised as a gain or
loss.

(b) In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of
recognition of deferred day one profit or loss is determined
individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument,
deferred until the instrument’s fair value can be determined
using market observable inputs, or realised through settlement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Financial assets

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement

From 1 January 2018, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 and
classifies its financial assets in the following measurement

categories:
o Fair value through profit or loss;
° Fair value through other comprehensive income; or

o Amortised cost.

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments
are described below:

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition
of a financial liability from the issuer’s perspective, such as
loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables
purchased from clients in factoring arrangements.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depend on:

° the Group’s business model for managing the asset; and
° the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments
into one of the following three measurement categories:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”), and that
are not designated at FVPL, are measured at amortised
cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted
by any ECL allowance recognised and measured as
described in section (i) below. Interest income from these
financial assets is calculated using the effective interest
rate method.

FVOCI: Financial assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent SPPI, and that are not
designated at FVPL, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive
income (“OCI”), except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange
gains and losses on the instrument’s amortised cost which
are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.
Interest income from these financial assets is calculated
using the effective interest rate method.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL
and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in
profit or loss and presented in the income statement in the
period in which it arises.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)

Business model: the business model reflects how the Group
manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That is,
whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the contractual
cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual
cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If
neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for
trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as
part of “other” business model and measured at FVPL. Factors
considered by the Group in determining the business model for
a group of assets include past experience on how the cash flows
for these assets were collected, how the asset’s performance
is evaluated and reported to key management personnel,
how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are
compensated. Securities held for trading are held principally for
the purpose of selling in the near term or are part of a portfolio of
financial instruments that are managed together and for which
there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking. These securities are classified in the “other” business
model and measured at FVPL.

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and
sell, the Group assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the
“SPPI test”). In making this assessment, the Group considers
whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic
lending arrangement (i.e. interest includes only consideration
for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending
risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending
arrangement). Where the contractual terms introduce exposure
to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and
measured at FVPL.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in

their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
SPPI.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

() Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes. The
reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting
period following the change. Such changes are expected to be
very infrequent and none occurred during the period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is, instruments that do
not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a
residual interest in the issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity
instruments include basic ordinary shares.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value through profit or loss, except where the Group’s
management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably
designate an equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income. The Group’s policy is to designate
equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are
held for strategic purposes. When this election is used, fair
value gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal.
Dividends, when representing a return on such investments,
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when
the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are included in
the “Net trading income” in the income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL
associated with its debt instrument assets carried at amortised
cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Group
recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting
date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

o An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;

° The time value of money; and

o Reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

Impairment allowance of financial assets measured at amortised
cost is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount
of the assets. Impairment allowance of loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts is recognised as a provision as
part of “Other accounts and accruals”. The carrying amount of
debt instruments measured at FVOCI is their fair value. Their
impairment allowance is recognised as part of “Investment

revaluation reserve”.

Note 3.2.2 provides more detail of how the ECL allowance is
measured.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i) Modification of loans

The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies
the contractual cash flows of loans to customers. When this
happens, the Group assesses whether or not the new terms are
substantially different to the original terms. The Group does this
by considering, among others, the following factors:

° If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the
modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows to
amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.

. Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such
as a profit share/equity-based return that substantially
affects the risk profile of the loan.

o Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower
is not in financial difficulty.

. Significant change in the interest rate.

o Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.

° Insertion of collateral, other security or credit
enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk
associated with the loan.

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises
the original financial asset and recognises a “new” asset at fair
value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset.
The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the
date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes,
including for the purpose of determining whether a significant
increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Group
also assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is
deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially
in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven by the
debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments.
Differences in the carrying amount are also recognised in profit

or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Modification of loans (Continued)

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or
modification does not result in derecognition, and the Group
recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised
cash flows of the financial asset and recognises a modification
gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount
is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the
original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective
interest rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired

financial assets).

(iv)  Derecognition other than on a modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when
the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets
have expired, or when they have been transferred and either
(i) the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership, or (ii) the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the
Group has not retained control.

The Group enters into transactions where it retains the
contractual rights to receive cash flows from assets but
assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows
to other entities and transfers substantially all of the risks
and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as “pass
through” transfers that result in derecognition if the Group:

° Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects
equivalent amounts from the assets;

° Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and

° Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the
assets without material delay.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)  Derecognition other than on a modification (Continued)

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Group under
standard repurchase agreements and securities lending and
borrowing transactions are not derecognised because the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards on the
basis of the predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria
for derecognition are therefore not met. This also applies to
certain securitisation transactions in which the Group retains a
subordinated residual interest.

When the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the
assets have been transferred, and the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership,
and the Group has retained control of the transferred assets, the
Group applies continuing involvement approach.

Under this approach, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement
and recognise the associated liability, to reflect the rights and
obligations retained by the Group. The net carrying amount of
the transferred asset and associated liability is: (a) the amortised
cost of the rights and obligations retained by the Group, if the
transferred asset is measured at amortised cost; or (b) equal to
the fair value of the rights and obligations retained by the Group
when measured on a stand-alone basis, if the transferred asset
is measured at fair value.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial liabilities

(i)

Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are
classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
except for:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
this classification is applied to derivatives, financial
liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in the
trading booking) and other financial liabilities designated
as such at initial recognition. Gains or losses on financial
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are
presented partially in other comprehensive income (the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability, which is determined as the amount that is not
attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise
to market risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining
amount of change in the fair value of the liability). This is
unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge, an
accounting mismatch, in which case the gains and losses
attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability are
also presented in profit or loss;

Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial
assets which did not qualify for derecognition, or when
the continuing involvement approach applies. When the
transfer of financial asset did not qualify for derecognition,
a financial liability is recognised for the consideration
received for the transfer. In subsequent periods, the
Group recognises any expense incurred on the financial
liability; when continuing involvement approach applies;
and

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

(i)  Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished
(i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Group and its original lenders of
debt instruments with substantially different terms, as well
as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial
liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
The terms are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any
fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the
original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors,
such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in,
changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features
attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also
taken into consideration. If an exchange of debt instruments or
modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment,
any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain
or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification
is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are
amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective prior to 1 January 2018

Financial assets
(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and
available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition, except for subsequent reclassification
meeting specified definition of relevant asset reclassification.

(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets
held for trading, and those designated at fair value through
profit or loss at inception.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short
term or if so designated by management. Derivatives
are also categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges.

The Group designates a financial asset upon initial
recognition as designated at fair value through profit or
loss (fair value option) if the following criteria are met:

° It eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement
or recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to
as “an accounting mis-match”) that would otherwise
arise from measuring assets or recognising the
gains and losses on them on different bases;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification (Continued)

(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

o A group of financial assets is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented risk management or
investment strategy, and this is the basis on which
information about the assets is provided internally to
the key management personnel such as the Board of
Directors and Chief Executive Officer; or

° Financial assets with embedded derivatives where
the characteristics and risks of the embedded
derivatives are not closely related to the host
contracts.

Financial assets for which the fair value option is applied
are recognised in the statement of financial position as
“Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or
loss”.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market, other than: (a) those that the Group
intends to sell immediately or in the short term, which
are classified as held for trading, and those that the
Group upon initial recognition designates as at fair value
through profit or loss; (b) those that the Group upon
initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or (c)
those for which the Group may not recover substantially
all of its initial investment, other than because of credit
deterioration.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(i) Classification (Continued)
(c) Available-for-sale

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated in this category or not classified in
any of the other categories. Available-for-sale investments
are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of
time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity
or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity
prices.

(d)  Held-to-maturity

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Group’s management has the positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity.

(i)  Reclassification

The Group may choose to reclassify a non-derivative trading
financial asset out of the held-for-trading category if the
financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling it in
the near term. Financial assets are permitted to be reclassified
out of the held-for-trading category only in rare circumstances
arising from a single event that is unusual and highly unlikely
to recur in the near term. In addition, the Group may choose to
reclassify financial assets that would meet the definition of loans
and receivables out of the held-for-trading or available-for-sale
categories if the Group has the intention and ability to hold these
financial assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the
date of reclassification. The Group may also reclassify financial
assets that no longer qualify for recognition as loans and
receivables to available-for-sale if the financial assets become
quoted in active market.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Reclassification (Continued)

Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the reclassification
date. Fair value becomes the new cost or amortised cost
as applicable, and no reversals of fair value gains or losses
before reclassification date are subsequently made. Effective
interest rates for financial assets reclassified to loans and
receivables and held-to-maturity categories are determined at
the reclassification date. Further increases in estimates of cash
flows from the financial assets will require adjustment to the
effective interest rates prospectively.

On reclassification of a financial asset out of the “at fair value
through profit or loss” category, all embedded derivatives are
re-assessed and, if necessary, separately accounted for.

(iii)  Recognition and measurement

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the
trade date — the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair
value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair
value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value,
and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and the transfer qualifies for derecognition.

The bases for the determination of fair value of financial assets
are set out in Note 3.5(a).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LA FThz51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Recognition and measurement (Continued)

(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated at fair value at inception are included directly
in the income statement and are reported as part of “Net
trading income”. Interest income and expense derived
from and incurred on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are included under “Net interest income” in
the income statement.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost less
any impairment loss. For loans and receivables that are
subject to fair value hedge arrangements, the hedged
elements of the loans and receivables hedged are carried

at fair value.

(c) Available-for-sale

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised
at fair value which is the cash given including any
transaction costs. They are measured subsequently at fair
value with gains and losses (except for impairment losses
and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary
assets classified as available-for-sale) recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity until the financial assets are derecognised. Upon
derecognition, the gains and losses previously recognised
in equity are reclassified into the income statement.

If an available-for-sale financial asset is determined
to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in equity is reclassified into the income
statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(iii)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and measurement (Continued)
(c) Available-for-sale (Continued)

Interest is calculated using the effective interest method
and recognised in the income statement. Foreign currency
gains and losses on monetary assets classified as
available-for-sale are recognised in the income statement.
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments
are recognised in the income statement under “Other
operating income” when the Group’s right to receive
payment is established.

(d)  Held-to-maturity

Held-to-maturity investments are initially recognised at
fair value including direct and incremental transaction
costs and are measured subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. They are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have
expired.

Interest is included in the income statement and is
reported as “Net interest income”. If a held-to-maturity
investment is determined to be impaired, the impairment
is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the
investment and recognised in the income statement as

impairment charge on held-to-maturity investments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LA FThz51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets
(@) Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment
losses are incurred if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”)
and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is
objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

° Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or
interest;
o Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower

(for example, high debt-to-equity ratio, low net
income as a percentage of sales);
° Breach of loan covenants or conditions;
° Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position;
° Deterioration in the value of collateral; and
° Downgrading below investment grade level.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(iv)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(@) Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of
impairment exists individually for financial assets that
are individually significant, and individually or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes that asset
in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is or
continues to be recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the income statement. If a loan or
held-to-maturity investment has a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss
is the current effective interest rate determined under
the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair
value using an observable market price.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects
the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs
for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not
foreclosure is probable.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(@) Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment,
financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit
risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Group’s
grading process that considers asset type, collateral
type, overdue status and other relevant factors). Those
characteristics relevant to the estimation of future cash
flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the
debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the
contractual terms of the assets are considered.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are
collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on
the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in
the group and historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group.
Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of
current observable data to reflect the effects of current
conditions that did not affect the period on which the
historical loss experience is based and to remove the
effects of conditions in the historical period that do not
currently exist.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of
assets should reflect and be directionally consistent with
changes in related observable data from period to period
(for example, changes in unemployment rates, property
prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of
changes in the probability of losses in the group and their
magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for
estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the
Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates
and actual loss experience.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(iv)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(@) Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against
the related allowances for loan impairment. Such
loans are written off after all the necessary procedures
have been completed and the amount of the loss has
been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off decrease the amount of the
allowances for loan impairment in the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount
of the reversal is recognised in the income statement.
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(LA FThz51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(b)  Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the
case of equity investments classified as available-
for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the security below its cost is considered in
determining whether the assets are impaired. If any such
evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets,
the cumulative loss measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment
and amortisation) and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in the income statement, is removed
from equity and recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on
equity instruments are not reversed through the income
statement. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a
debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases
and the increase can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in
profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the
income statement.

() Renegotiated loans

Loans that are either subject to collective impairment
assessment or individually significant and whose terms
have been renegotiated are no longer considered to be
past due but are treated as new loans. In subsequent
periods, the asset if past due again is considered to be
and disclosed as past due loans.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified into two categories: financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other financial
liabilities. All financial liabilities are classified at inception and
recognised initially at fair value and are derecognised when the

obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial liabilities held

for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or

loss at inception.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is incurred

principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the short term. It

is carried at fair value and any gains and losses from changes in

fair value are recognised in the income statement.

A financial liability is typically classified as fair value through

profit or loss at inception if it meets the following criteria:

(i)

(i)

It eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as “an
accounting mis-match”) that would otherwise arise from
measuring liabilities or recognising the gains and losses
on them on different bases; or

A group of financial liabilities is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented risk management or
investment strategy, and this is the basis on which
information about the liabilities is provided internally to
the key management personnel such as the Board of
Directors and Chief Executive Officer; or

Financial liabilities with embedded derivatives where the
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives are
not closely related to the host contracts.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

(@) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
include the Group’s own debt securities in issue and deposits
received from customers that are embedded with certain
derivatives. Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss are carried at fair value and any gains and losses
from changes in fair value are recognised under “Net trading
income” in the income statement.

(b)  Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
net of transaction costs incurred and are subsequently carried
at amortised cost. Any difference between proceeds net of
transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the other financial liabilities
using the effective interest method.

If the Group purchases its own debt, it is removed from the statement
of financial position, and the difference between the carrying amount
of a liability and the consideration paid is accounted for as a gain or
loss in the income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due,
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial
guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and others on
behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking
facilities.

From 1 January 2018, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 and
financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently measured at the higher of:

° The amount of the loss allowance; and
° The fee received on initial recognition less income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.

Loan commitments provided by the Group are measured as the
amount of the loss allowance. The Group has not provided any
commitment to provide loans at a below-market interest rate, or that
can be settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial
instrument.

For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the loss
allowance is recognised as a provision. However, for contracts that
include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the Group
cannot separately identify the expected credit losses on the undrawn
commitment component from those on the loan component, the
expected credit losses on the undrawn commitment are recognised
together with the loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the
combined expected credit losses exceed the gross carrying amount
of the loan, the expected credit losses are recognised as a provision.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LA FThz51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Derivative and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured
at fair value. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is
positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

Certain derivatives are embedded in hybrid contracts, such as
the conversion option in a convertible bond. If the hybrid contract
contains a host that is a financial asset, then the Group assesses the
entire contract as described in the financial assets section above for
classification and measurement purposes. Otherwise, the embedded
derivatives are treated as separate derivatives when:

° Their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contract;

° A separate instrument with the same terms would meet the
definition of a derivative; and

° The hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit
or loss.

These embedded derivatives are separately accounted for at fair
value, with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement
unless the Group chooses to designate the hybrid contracts at fair
value through profit or loss.

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gain or loss
depends on whether the derivative is designated and qualifies as a
hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedges of the fair value
of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value
hedges).
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Derivative and hedging activities (Continued)

The Group documents, at the inception of the hedge, the relationship
between hedged items and hedging instruments, as well as its risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at
hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives
that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting
changes in fair values of hedged items.

(@)  Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income
statement under “Net trading income — Net gain/(loss) arising
from financial instruments subject to fair value hedge”, together
with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset that are
attributable to the hedged risk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for
which the effective interest method is used is amortised to
profit or loss over the period to maturity. The adjustment to
the carrying value of a hedged equity security and remains in
retained earnings until the disposal of the hedged item.

(b)  Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge
accounting. Changes in the fair value of any derivative
instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are
recognised immediately in the income statement under
“Net trading income”. For derivatives that are managed in
conjunction with designated financial assets or financial
liabilities, the gains and losses arising from changes in their fair
value are included under “Net trading income — Net gain/(loss)
on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”.
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(LA FThz51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.

2.10 Sale and repurchase agreements

The liability to counterparties in respect of securities sold subject
to repurchase agreements (“repos”) is included in amounts due to
other banks, deposits from banks, or other accounts and accruals,
as appropriate. Securities purchased under agreements to resell
(“reverse repos”) are recorded as loans and advances to other banks
or customers, as appropriate. The difference between the sale and
repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of
the agreements using the effective interest method. Securities lent to
counterparties are also retained in the financial statements.

Securities borrowed are not recognised in the financial statements,
unless these are sold to third parties, in which case the purchases and
sales are recorded with the gain or loss included in trading income.
The obligation to return them is recorded at fair value as a trading
liability.

2.11 Repossessed assets

Loans on which collateral assets have been repossessed are not
derecognised and are carried in the statement of financial position
with appropriate amounts of impairment allowances made. In the case
of delinquent loans on which collateral assets have been foreclosed
and repossessed by the Group pursuant to legal arrangements or
court orders, and with the legal title of the assets having been passed
to the Group, such loans are derecognised. The foreclosed assets
held for resale are included in “Advances and other accounts — Other
assets”.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The
chief operating decision maker is the person or group of persons that
allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating
segments of an entity. The Group has determined the Chief Executive
and members of the Executive Committee (“EC”) as its chief operating
decision maker.

All transactions between operating segments are conducted on
an arm’s length basis, with inter-segment revenues and costs
being eliminated on consolidation. Income and expenses directly
associated with each segment are included in determining operating
segment performance.

Based on the requirements of HKFRS 8, the Group has the following
segments: Personal Banking, Commercial Banking, Treasury,
Overseas Banking, Insurance Business, and Others.

2.13 Foreign currency translation
(@)  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK dollars, which is the Group’s presentation
currency and the functional and presentation currency of the
Company and major part of the Group.



&+ NS 01011001011001101°
Ej- ;r,& & |Z1\<J» EE 101010010101110071)
E% 010061101011001071)

7N 71 iF A £001110101100001011
01010010101 1100711

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS s

(LA FThz51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
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(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the relevant entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement.

All foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in the income
statement are presented net in the income statement within
the corresponding item. Foreign exchange gains and losses
on other comprehensive income items are presented in the
statement of comprehensive income within the corresponding
item.

In the case of changes in the fair value of foreign currency
denominated monetary assets classified as financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income, a distinction is
made between translation differences resulting from changes in
amortised cost of the assets and other changes in the carrying
amount of the assets. Translation differences related to changes
in the amortised cost are recognised in the income statement,
and those related to changes in the carrying amount, except for
impairment, are recognised in equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as
investments in equity instruments held at fair value through
profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Translation difference on certain other non-monetary items,
such as equities classified as financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, are included in the
investment revaluation reserve in equity.

DAH SING FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

179



100111010001001110
1101001170001010100
1011011001110100010
101110101007110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
1011101070011100100
110011011001110100

180

B B R i ot
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAS¥F7TA1%51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

TESTHHEME @

2.13 NS E (/)

() EERTRA]

PREERREZI B AR EEER
(R FBREEZ B8 ) 2 RE KM
ARRBATHABRERZ2TEE

i) BUBRRARMEI2EERAER
FARSARR R 2 i B B 2 Wi O Sk it

s

=N

(i) BUWERZWARHRFIERER
(W FHELIFZERS AR
TEXNRERRZAENE - A
R HBRZ 5 BERBRE) : K&

@iy FTEABRETERERAEREA—E
BIIER o

iR ES 2 E N A RN IR SR [
Rt BT 25 -

REARAE  RERIMBFRERE
EZRMER  JIARREZRRA © i F
INRBRHE  ZFEHBRERRINELE
P 1% .2 BB {0 e sk B R U s AR U HERR,

RUWBEBEIBEECELEZHE R R FER
B wEFZBIERBZEERARK
B WiIRRNEER ZERERE -

RIerSEBER AT 2018F F 1)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group’s entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as

follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that statement of financial position;

(i)  income and expenses for each income statement are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

(iii)  all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a
separate component of equity.

Exchange differences arising from the above processes are
reported in shareholders’ equity under “Exchange reserve”.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities are taken to
shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in the income statement
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LA FThz51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Premises and other fixed assets

Premises comprise mainly offices and shops. Leasehold land
classified as finance lease and all other fixed assets are stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are expensed in the income statement
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences amortisation
from the time when the land interest becomes available for its
intended use. Amortisation on leasehold land classified as finance
lease and depreciation on other assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:
- Premises Over the remaining period of
lease

- Furniture, fittings, equipment ~ Over the estimated useful lives
and motor vehicles generally between 3 and
10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each end of the reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.17).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the

proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the income
statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the companies in the
consolidated Group, is classified as investment property.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including related
transaction costs.

After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value.
Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary,
for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific
asset. If this information is not available, the Group uses alternative
valuation methods such as recent prices on less active markets or
discounted cash flow projections. These valuations are performed in
accordance with the guidance issued by the International Valuation
Standards Committee. These valuations are reviewed annually by
external valuers. Investment property that is being redeveloped for
continuing use as investment property, or for which the market has
become less active, continues to be measured at fair value.

The fair value of investment property reflects, among other things,
rental income from current leases and assumptions about rental
income from future leases in the light of current market conditions.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
expensed in the income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Changes in fair values are recognised in the income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(VA7 T Th51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Investment properties (Continued)

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified
as premises and other fixed assets, and its fair value at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes.

If an item of premises and other fixed assets becomes an investment
property because its use has changed, any difference resulting
between the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the
date of transfer is recognised in equity as a revaluation of premises
and other fixed assets under HKAS 16. However, if a fair value gain
reverses a previous impairment loss, the gain is recognised in the
income statement.

2.16 Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the acquiree as at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is
carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested annually for impairment. Impairment losses on goodwill are not
reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of
impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating
units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination on which the goodwill arose.

Intangible assets arising from an acquisition are recognised
separately from goodwill when they are separable or arise from
contractual or other legal rights, and their value can be measured
reliably. They include core deposits, contracts and customer
relationships intangible assets, and trade names. Intangible assets
are stated at cost less amortisation, and/or accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated based on estimated useful life
ranging from 5 to 12 years using a diminishing balance method.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and non-
financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet available
for use are not subject to amortisation, but are tested annually for
impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels (cash-generating units) for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

In the Company’s financial statements, impairment testing of the
investment in a subsidiary or an associate is also required upon
receiving dividend from that entity if the dividend exceeds the
Company’s share of the total comprehensive income of that entity
concerned in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of that entity in the Company’s statement of financial position
exceeds the Company’s share of the carrying amount of that entity’s
net assets including goodwill in its consolidated statement of financial
position.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
In such case, the tax is recognised in other comprehensive income
within the corresponding item.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantially enacted at the end of the reporting
period in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LA FThz51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period
and that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised. The tax effects of income tax
losses available for carry forward are recognised as an asset when it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
these losses can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities,
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax related to investment properties is measured
according to the tax consequence on the presumption that they are
recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred income tax related to fair value re-measurement of available-
for-sale investments, which is charged or credited directly to equity,
is also credited or charged directly to equity and is subsequently
recognised in the income statement upon the realisation of relevant
investments.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Employee benefits

(@)  Pension obligations

The Group offers a mandatory provident fund scheme and a
number of defined contribution plans, the assets of which are
generally held in separate trustee-administered funds. These
pension plans are funded by payments from employees and by
the relevant Group companies.

The Group’s contributions to the mandatory provident fund
schemes and defined contribution retirement schemes are
expensed as incurred. Other than mandatory provident fund
contribution, the Group’s contributions may be reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave prior to
vesting fully in the contributions.

(b)  Share-based compensation

The Group has the choice to pay the intrinsic value of the share
option or to issue new shares to a grantee at the date of exercise
under the share-based compensation plans. The total amount to
be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference
to the fair value according to settlement type.

For cash-settled share-based compensation, the total cost is
the fair value of the options granted, with re-measurement at
each reporting period with any change in the cost recognised
in the income statement, with a corresponding credit or
adjustment to the “Liabilities”.

For equity-settled share-based compensation, the total cost is
measured and recognised based on the fair value of the equity
options at the grant date, with a corresponding credit to the
“Shared-based compensation reserve” in the shareholders’
funds. The total cost, which is fixed based on the fair value at
the grant date, is charged to income statement in accordance
with the terms of the vesting of the options over time. When
the options are exercised, the Company will issue new shares
to settle its obligation, and transfer applicable amount from the
“Share-based compensation reserve” to the “Share capital”
account.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)
(c) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. An accrual is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service
leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

(d) Bonus plans

Liabilities for bonus plans due wholly within twelve months after
the end of the reporting period are recognised when the Group
has a present or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions for restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised
when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of past events; it is more likely than not that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount
has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease
termination penalties and employee termination payments. Provisions

are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.
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2.21

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases
(@) Operating lease

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are expensed in the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Where the Group is a lessor under operating leases, assets
leased out are included in fixed assets in the consolidated
statement of financial position. They are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on a basis consistent with similar owned
fixed assets. Rental income (net of any incentives given to
lessees) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

(b)  Finance lease

Leases of assets where the Group has substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at
the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present
value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to
achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are
included as liabilities. The investment properties acquired under
finance leases are carried at their fair value.

Where the Group is a lessor under finance leases, the amounts
due under the leases, net of unearned finance income, are
recognised as a receivable and are included in “Advances and
other accounts”. Finance income implicit in rentals receivable is
credited to the income statement over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment
outstanding for each accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LA FThz51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Fiduciary activities

The Group commonly acts as trustees and in other fiduciary
capacities that result in the holding or placing of assets on behalf of
individuals, trusts and other institutions. These assets are excluded
from the Group’s financial statements, as they are not assets of the
Group.

2.23 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability in the
financial statements in the period in which they are approved by
shareholders.

2.24 Cash and cash equivalents

In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months’ maturity from the date of
acquisition, including: cash, balances with banks and other financial
institutions, treasury bills, other eligible bills and certificates of deposit
and investment securities which are readily convertible to known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

2.25 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets (Continued)

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be recognised
as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly within the
control of the Group.

A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is
probable. When such inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

2.26 Insurance contracts

The Group issues contracts that contain insurance risk.

Insurance contracts are accounted for as follows:

(@ Premiums

Premiums for general insurance business are accounted for in
the period in which the risk commences. Unearned premium is
provided and is calculated on a time-apportioned basis as the
proportion of the business underwritten in the accounting year
relating to the period of risk after the end of the reporting period.
Reinsurance premiums are accounted for on the same basis as
gross premiums.

(b) Commission expenses

Commission expenses for securing insurance contracts are
charged to the income statement on a basis consistent with
premium revenue recognition and are presented in the income

statement under “Net insurance claims and expenses”.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LA FThz51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.26 Insurance contracts (Continued)

(c) Claims and benefits

Claims for general insurance business consist of paid claims
and movement in provisions for outstanding claims with
related claims handling expenses. Reinsurance recoveries
are accounted for on the same basis as the related claims or
benefits.

(d) Liability adequacy test

At each end of the reporting period, liability adequacy tests are
performed to ensure the adequacy of the contract liabilities. In
performing these tests, current best estimates of future cash
flows relating to insurance contracts, claims handling and
administration expenses are used.

(e) Reinsurance contracts held

Contracts entered into by the Group with reinsurers under
which the Group is compensated for losses on one or more
contracts issued by the Group and that meet the classification
requirement for insurance contracts are classified as
reinsurance contracts held.

The benefits to which the Group is entitled under its reinsurance
contracts held are recognised as reinsurance assets. These
assets consist of short-term balances due from reinsurers,
as well as longer term receivables that are dependent on the
expected claims arising under the related reinsured insurance
contracts. Amounts recoverable from or due to reinsurers are
measured consistently with the amounts associated with the
reinsured insurance contracts and in accordance with the
terms of each reinsurance contract. Reinsurance liabilities are
primarily premiums payable for reinsurance contracts and are
recognised as an expense when due.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Disposal group held-for-sale and discontinued
operations

Disposal group is classified as held for sale when their carrying
amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction and a
sale is considered highly probable. The disposal group is stated at the
lower of carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Deferred tax
assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets (other
than investments in subsidiaries and associates) and investment
properties, which are classified as held for sale, would continue to be
measured in accordance with the polices set out elsewhere in Note 2.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business,
the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group and which represents a separate major line
of business or geographic area of operations, or is part of a single
co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is
presented in the statement of profit or loss, which comprises the post-
tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation and the post-tax gain
or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell,
or on the disposal, of the disposal group constituting the discontinued
operation.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and
those activities involve the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and
management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking
risk is core to the financial business, and operational risks are an
inevitable consequence of being in business. The Group’s aim is
therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return
and minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(VA7 T Th51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and
analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and
to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and
up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk
management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets,
products and emerging best practice.

Risk management is carried out pursuant to the overall strategy and
policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Risk Management
and Compliance Committee (“RMCC”) under the authority delegated
by the Board oversees and guides the management of different risks
which are more particularly managed and dealt with by the Group
Risk Division (“GRD”) and different functional committees. In addition,
Internal Audit is responsible for the independent review of risk
management and the control environment.

To further enhance the risk governance and risk management
standards, the Board has approved a Risk Strategy framework that
also covers the Group’s Risk Appetite framework. The Risk Strategy
sets out the core values and high level risk management direction
of the Group, taking into account of the overall business strategy
and direction, under which a robust Risk Appetite framework is
established to guide the strategic planning process and strengthen
the risk-return management. Fundamentally, the Risk Appetite
framework sets out the types and amount of risk that the Group is
willing to take in order to achieve its business plan. The Group’s
risk appetite metrics are composed of key indicators for measuring
capital, risks, return and liquidity and this is supplemented by a
set of risk tolerances made up of major risk limits of the Group. In
order to ensure that business is conducted within our established
risk appetite, monitoring on the compliance with the risk appetite
limits and risk tolerance is undertaken on a quarterly basis. In this
connection, the Group has set out its Risk Appetite Statement that
covers five key dimensions of the risks and returns of the Group,
namely, the target returns to shareholders, earnings volatility,
solvency, liquidity and other key risk measures. The GRD is
responsible for the ongoing monitoring of the compliance with the
Risk Appetite Statement and the regular reporting of the status to the
RMCC and the Board. Moreover, the Risk Appetite framework and
major risk appetite limits are subject to review by the RMCC and the
Board on an annual basis.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market
risk, operational risk and insurance risk. Market risk includes currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risks.

3.1 Strategy in using financial instruments

The Group accepts deposits from customers at both fixed and floating
rates, and for various periods, and seeks to earn positive interest
margins by investing and lending these funds in a wide range of
assets. The Group seeks to increase these margins by consolidating
short-term funds and lending for longer periods at higher rates, while
maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that might fall due.

The Group also seeks to apply its interest margins through its
lending to commercial and retail borrowers and to charge customers
appropriate fees and commission, taking into consideration credit risk
and market conditions. Such exposures involve not just on-balance
sheet loans and advances, as the Group also enters into guarantees
and other commitments such as letters of credit, performance bonds
and other bonds.

The Group also trades in financial instruments where it takes positions
in exchange-traded and over-the-counter (“OTC”) instruments,
including derivatives, to take advantage of short-term market
movements in equities and bonds and in currencies and interest rates.
The Board places trading limits on the level of exposures that can
be taken in relation to market positions. Apart from specific hedging
arrangements, foreign exchange and interest rate exposures are
normally offset by entering into counterbalancing positions (including
transactions with customers or market counterparties), or by the
use of derivatives, thereby controlling the variability in the net cash
amounts required to liquidate market positions.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Strategy in using financial instruments (Continued)

The Group also uses interest rate swap and other interest rate
derivatives to mitigate interest rate risk arising from changes in
interest rates that will result in decrease in the fair value of fixed rate
assets or increase in the fair value of fixed rate liabilities. Part of
these financial instruments are designated as fair value hedges, and
the terms of hedge including hedged item, amount, interest rates,
hedge period and purpose are determined and documented at the
inception of each fair value hedge. Hedge effectiveness is assessed
at inception on a prospective basis and is reassessed, on an ongoing
basis, based on actual experience and valuation. Fair value hedge
relationships that do not meet the effectiveness test requirement
of hedge accounting are discontinued with effect from the date of
ineffectiveness of the fair value hedge.

3.1.1 Derivatives held for risk management and hedge
accounting

Fair value hedges of interest rate risk

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to changes
in the fair values of fixed-rate issued liabilities and fixed-rate debt
securities held in respect of a benchmark interest rate (mainly LIBOR
and HIBOR). Pay-floating/receive-fixed interest rate swaps are
matched to specific issuances of fixed-rate liabilities or pay-fixed/
receive-floating interest rate swaps are matched to fixed-rate debt
securities held with terms that closely align with the critical terms of
the hedged item.

Only the interest rate risk element is hedged and therefore other
risks, such as credit risk, are managed but not hedged by the Group.
Interest rate risk to which the Group applies hedge accounting arises
from fixed-rate issued liabilities and fixed-rate debt securities held,
whose fair value fluctuates when benchmark interest rates change.
The Group hedges interest rate risk only to the extent of benchmark
interest rates because the changes in fair value of a issued liability or
debt security are significantly influenced by changes in the benchmark
interest rate. Hedge accounting is applied where economic hedge
relationships meet the hedge accounting criteria.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Strategy in using financial instruments (Continued)

3.1.1 Derivatives held for risk management and hedge
accounting (Continued)

Fair value hedges of interest rate risk (Continued)

Before fair value hedge accounting is applied by the Group, the Group
determines whether an economic relationship between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument exists based on an evaluation of the
qualitative characteristics of these items and the hedged risk that is
supported by quantitative analysis. The Group considers whether the
critical terms of the hedged item and hedging instrument closely align
when assessing the presence of an economic relationship. The Group
evaluates whether the fair value of the hedged item and the hedging
instrument respond similarly to similar risks.

The Group establishes a hedge ratio by aligning the par amount of the
fixed-rate debt security or issued liabilities and the notional amount of
the interest rate swap designated as a hedging instrument. Possible
sources of ineffectiveness are as follows:

(i) changes in market liquidity and bid-ask spread of the debt
securities;

(i)  the fair value changes related to the benchmark rate before next
fixing date and on the fixed spread over the benchmark rate of
the interest rate swap;

(i)  changes in interest rate sensitivity at different fair value level;

(iv) the effect of the counterparty and the Group’s own credit risk
on the fair value of the interest rate swap, which is not reflected
in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the change in
interest rate; and

(v)  differences in maturities of the interest rate swap and the debt
securities held or the certificates of deposit issued.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Strategy in using financial instruments (Continued)

311 HERBREERNWETEEZITE 3.1.1 Derivatives held for risk management and hedge

T A ()

FIEE R 2 22 FEET (&)

accounting (Continued)

Fair value hedges of interest rate risk (Continued)

2018412 A31 B * AEEFA 554z 8 At 31 December 2018, the Group held the following interest rate
BHERRAFEL R EHRTE - swaps as hedging instruments in fair value hedges of interest risk.
)]s
Maturity
15 0R 1HH0E 5FHUE
Less than 258 More than

RER - =R

Risk category - interest rate risk 1 year 1-5 years 5 years

B2 BE-FRE
Al
TEERE

fngiT Bfa - RERH
HfE

FHEERE

TR

Al
THEEHE
a2 EES
B

FHERFE

Hedge of issued liabilities - certificates of deposit
Nominal amount 3,779,924 655,000 -
Average fixed interest rate 2.15% 2.10% =

Hedge of issued liabilities - subordinated notes
Nominal amount 1,761,930 3,719,630 =
Average fixed interest rate 5.25% 5.38% =

Hedge of issued liabilities - borrowing
Nominal amount 587,310 822,234 =
Average fixed interest rate 1.94% 3.25% -

Hedge of debt securities held

Nominal amount 631,946 7,454,921 9,405,654
Average fixed interest rate 5.45% 4.22% 3.67%
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Strategy in using financial instruments (Continued)

3.1.1 Derivatives held for risk management and hedge
accounting (Continued)

Fair value hedges

The amounts relating to items designated as hedging instruments and

To hedge ineffectiveness were as follows.
2018
HHRRRARS BR:tE
HWI182%ER N18EHHEN
Line item in the ZAYERE
statement of Change in BN
BEE financial position ~ fair value used for WEEZHHEH
Carrying amount where the hedging  calculating hedge  Ineffectiveness ~ WEBAT MM &N2ER
A BE 8&  instrumentis ineffectiveness  recognisedin  Line item in profit or loss that
Nominal amount Assets Liabilities included for2018  profitorloss includes hedge ineffectiveness
EEL
Interest rate risk
FIEEE - Sk 4,434,924 333 1662 (ERIA 3949 (B4 AATEHANEBLRIA
Interest rate swaps - Derivatives financial ks / (Bi)
hedge of certificates instruments Net gain/(loss) arising from
of deposit financial instruments subject to
fair value hedge
TS - i ERS 5,481,560 18,952 53127 fIEERIA (51,363) (1814 RBATEEROAEERIA
Interest rate swaps - Derivatives financial s/ (BB
hedge of subordinated instruments Net gain/(loss) arising from
notes financial instruments subject
to fair value hedge
HEEE - e 1,409,544 1 4751 fiESRIA 3833 (49 RATEHAEBERIA
Interest rate swaps - Derivatives financial LEhE/(BR)
hedge of borrowing instruments Net gain/(loss) arising from
financial instruments subject
to fair value hedge
RS-SRS 17,492,521 418,358 51685  fiE2RIA 154,707 1314 AATEHHHARERIA
Interest rate swaps - Derivatives financial 25k / (Bi8)
hedge of debt securities instruments Net gain/(loss) arising from
held financial instruments subject

RIerSEBER AT 2018F F 1)

to fair value hedge
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Strategy in using financial instruments (Continued)

3.1.1 Derivatives held for risk management and hedge

accounting (Continued)

Fair value hedges (Continued)

The amounts relating to items designated as hedged items were as

follows.
2018
REEHBRRRAR
BLEgHHRERER
LR 2 AP E
BEEERREE HhERAELE
ZHWER 2 AT E Accumulated amount
HhaEaeen of fair value
Accumulated hedge adjustments
amount of fair value LE SV ENE remaining in the
hedge adjustments HHigE 2ER BRTEHMEN  statement of financial
on the hedged item Ling item in the PANTL-L) position for any
Rk included in the carrying statement of Changein  hedged items that
Carrying amount amount of the hedged item financial position in value used for  have ceased to be
1] 8f 1] &F  whichthe hedged calculating hedge  adjusted for hedging
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities item is included ineffectiveness gains and losses
FE 4422093 (12631)  BEANERE (4,03) -
Certificates of deposit Certificates of deposit issued
(R 5,449,082 (2478 EER 49,549 -
Subordinated notes Subordinated notes
& 1,405,035 (4509  HaEH (4,082) -
Borrowing Deposits from banks
KBRS 17,282,443 (367,375) WATEHZALEHTA (163,393) -
Debt securities held EfrElENeRAE

Financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Strategy in using financial instruments (Continued)

3.1.1 Derivatives held for risk management and hedge
accounting (Continued)

Comparative information under HKAS 39

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to changes
in the fair values of fixed-rate issued liabilities and fixed-rate debt
securities held in respect of a benchmark interest rate (mainly LIBOR
and HIBOR). Pay-floating/receive-fixed interest rate swaps are
matched to specific issuances of fixed-rate liabilities or pay-fixed/
receive-floating interest rate swaps are matched to fixed-rate debt
securities held with terms that closely align with the critical terms of
the hedged item.

The fair values of derivatives designated as fair value hedges were as
follows.

2017
HE BE BE
Nominal Assets Liabilities
T AR Instrument type
ISR Interest rate swaps 26,856,746 288,484 179,769

BREENZ AAFEE THHEEMIAZF
Wik (B1E)] AR EZER A FELREEREY
PTE T B R F(EUWZE45,785,00078 7T © & ¥
15 B (G E R R 2 A FEF R 4 39,332,000 7%
7 o
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Included within “Net gain/(loss) arising from financial instruments
subject to fair value hedge” in Note 9 are fair value gains of
HK$45,785,000 on derivatives held in qualifying fair value hedging
relationships, and HK$39,332,000 representing net decreases in the
fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk

The Group’s main credit risk is that borrowers or counterparties
may default on their payment obligations due to the Group. These
obligations arise from the Group’s lending and investment activities,
and trading of financial instruments (including derivatives).

The Group has a Group Credit Committee (“GCC”) for approving
major credit exposures. The Credit Management Committee (“CMC”)
and the Treasury & Investment Risk Committee (“TIRC”) are the
committees responsible for credit policy formulation and portfolio
monitoring of the loan and treasury businesses respectively. These
committees are all chaired by the Chief Executive with certain
Executive Directors and senior business and credit officers as
members. Credit risk measurement, underwriting, approval and
monitoring requirements are detailed in credit policies.

The Group manages all types of credit risk on a prudent basis.
Credits are extended within the parameters set out in the credit
policies and are approved by different levels of management based
upon established guidelines and delegated authorities. Credit
exposures, limits and asset quality are regularly monitored and
controlled by management, credit committees and GRD. The Group’s
internal auditors also conduct regular reviews and audits to ensure
compliance with credit policies and procedures, and regulatory
guidelines.

The Group has established policies and processes for the approval
and review of new products and activities, and credit policies
with details of the loan grading, or credit scoring, processes and
impairment policies.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.1 Credit risk measurement

Credit risk grading

The Group uses internal credit risk grading that reflect the credit
quality of the borrowers. The Group uses internal credit grading
scorecards tailored to the various categories of counterparty. The
credit grading scorecards take into consideration borrower and
loan specific information collected at the time of application (such
as disposable income, and level of collateral for retail exposures;
and financial indicators and qualitative indicators for corporate
exposures). For retail exposures, this is supplemented with internal
data such as delinquency status and external data such as credit
bureau scoring information on individual borrowers. In addition, the
scorecards enable expert judgement from the credit risk officer to
determine the final internal credit grade for each exposure. This allows
for considerations which may not be captured as part of the other
inputs into the scorecards.

The following are additional considerations for each type of portfolio
held by the Group:

Retail

After the date of initial recognition, for personal unsecured lending
of retail business, the likelihood of default is monitored on a periodic
basis by behavioural score. This score is mapped to a Probability of
Default (“PD”).
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.1 Credit risk measurement (Continued)

Credit risk grading (Continued)

Corporate

For corporate business, the credit grade is determined at the borrower
level. A relationship manager will incorporate any updated or new
information/credit assessments into the credit grading scorecard
on an ongoing basis. In addition, the relationship manager will also
update information about the creditworthiness of the borrower every
year from sources such as financial statements. This will determine
the updated internal credit grading.

Using the internal observed default rate supplemented with external
default data, and by applying statistical methods, PD master scales
are calibrated to arrive at the PD for each credit grade.

Treasury

For debt securities and interbank exposures under the Treasury
portfolio, external rating agency credit grades are used. These
published grades are continuously monitored and updated. The PDs
associated with each grade are determined based on default rates
published by the rating agencies.

DAH SING FINANCIAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101°
1010100101011100111
0100011010110010711
00111010110000101

010100101011100711
0100011010110010111
1001110101100001011

10001011070110070

203



100111010001001110
1101001170001010100
1011011001110100010
101110101007110010

110100111000101010
10110110011 18100010
1011101070011100100
110011011001110100

204

B H5 Rk B et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAS¥F7TAL5)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. BXEBERE@m
3.2 EERK @
S22 EEE:TE

BEMBHEERE SRR B iR EREEE
EZEEFMmsIBURELZ [3MHEER] A - At
LUNNE

s RURBERAKRIFEERENEHRIES
BRIEB1REFERBRBAKEFES

5 o

s WERTARMMAEERRBVIGHER
BrABEEM(TEERRAEEMN]) - &
BRE[ER2] BOAFRIEEERE

e MEMTACDHAEAEERE AR
TREWHEBE [FEER3] -

e BRISBRIAZEHEEEBRREERE
AREA21ME A AR RES £ 2 BN FEMFSI B2
2HEMEERRINHNSENE - BR2
SRRz TRARRBE2HELEGFERTAY

EEBE -

o BEEEMEHSEIBORHEEBEE
B RG — B %R RN AE BT
B o

o BARRAECZEERELBREEAZER
NEERRCREERBECEREE - &
FEHEEHE R HEESE (B
3)°

AFEMEEEFR AR 2018553,

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement

HKFRS 9 outlines a “three-stage” model for impairment based on

changes in credit quality since initial recognition as summarised

below:

A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial
recognition is classified in “Stage 1” and has its credit risk
continuously monitored by the Group.

If a significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) since initial
recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to
“Stage 2” but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired.

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial
instrument is then moved to “Stage 3”.

Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an
amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses
that result from default events possible within the next 12
months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured
based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis.

A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with
HKFRS 9 is that it should consider forward looking information.

Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets
are those financial assets that are credit impaired on initial
recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis
(Stage 3).
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

T BRBEMIZ T SHEREELFE RZBE The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements

RE (BASREZEERESBEERIN)

under HKFRS 9 (other than purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial assets):

BYREREZEEERZREH
Change in credit quality since initial recognition
< _a
BEER 1 PEER 2 PEER 3
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(FiaTER (EE R B VIR TERE A EILIN) (FEREEE)
(Initial recognition) (Significant increase in credit risk (Credit-impaired assets)
since initial recognition)
12 {8 A BfE e A E B 1R 2 TR A E B 1R ZHTEEME B &R
12-month expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses
INES B h 2 BIRR T AN 2 B H BT R B 5% st 4n The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the Group in

™

322.1 5 BB AIEE I

addressing the requirements of the standard are discussed below:

32.2.1 Significant increase in credit risk

EHREA T B ZEENRAEER LSS H The Group considers a financial instrument to have experienced a

TACRMEERBR AN -

SICR when one or more of the following criteria have been met:

e HEFMEESMET  BINBEEIRLEE . when there is significant adverse external credit rating
ATFEE - BRERNEEEFRER transition, migrating from investment grade to non-investment
hill grade, for bond portfolio

e HEAEMNT  ERNBEEIALIEE . when there is internal credit rating transition, ranging from one

2 E-RE=LKZHE
s ERaHAK(AMRAR))BEIX

notch to five notches, for corporate portfolio
° when the day past due (“DPD”) exceeds 30 days

s FEFAENE  BEERABREWA[IEER . when the borrower is reported as “Early Warning” for corporate

%5

s EfRACKREFEZREER(FER
B ZERSBEBRRFESE,A -

/

portfolio

s

B ° when the borrower is reported as criticised account according
to the loan classification of the Hong Kong Monetary Authority

HZERZRENRERAZEEENR (“HKMA”). The decision to classify the loans is based on

ERIZ 58 F 2 BHIRHEME ©

the borrower’s repayment ability and likelihood of individual
counterparties being default.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)
3.2.2.1 Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The assessment of SICR is performed on a monthly basis at a portfolio
level for all retail financial instruments held by the Group. In relation to
corporate financial instruments, where an Early Warning list is used to
monitor credit risk, this assessment is performed at the counterparty
level and on a monthly basis. The criteria used to identify SICR are
revised as when appropriate by the respective credit departments of
the portfolios.

The Group has not used the low credit risk exemption for any financial
instruments in the year ended 31 December 2018.

3.2.2.2 Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

The Group defines a financial instrument as in default, which is aligned
with the definition of credit impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial
assets’), when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable data:

o significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

° a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

o the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms
that the Group would not consider otherwise;

° the borrower is bankrupt;

° it is reported as substandard, doubtful or loss according to
the loan classification of the HKMA. The decision to classify
the loans is based on the borrower’s repayment ability and
likelihood of individual counterparties being default; and

o the disappearance of an active market for a security because of
financial difficulties.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3.2.2.2 Definition of default and credit-impaired assets (Continued)

A loan that has been renegotiated due to deterioration in the
borrower’s condition is usually considered to be credit-impaired
unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash
flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of
impairment. In addition, a retail loan that is overdue for 90 days or
more is considered credit-impaired.

3223 Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and
estimation techniques

The ECL is measured on either a 12-month (“12M?”) or Lifetime basis
depending on whether a SICR has occurred since initial recognition or
whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit
losses are the discounted product of the PD, EAD, and LGD, defined

as follows:

o The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on
its financial obligation (as per “Definition of default and credit-
impaired” above), either over the next 12 months (“12M PD”), or
over the remaining lifetime (“Lifetime PD”) of the obligation.

° EAD is based on the amounts the Group expects to be owed
at the time of default, over the next 12 months (“12M EAD”) or
over the remaining lifetime (“Lifetime EAD”). For example, for a
revolving commitment, the Group includes the current drawn
balance plus any further amount that is expected to be drawn
up to the current contractual limit by the time of default, should

it occur.

° LGD represents the Group’s expectation of the extent of loss on
a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by type of counterparty, type
and seniority of claim and availability of collateral or other credit
support. LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per unit of
exposure at the time of default. LGD is calculated on a 12-month
or lifetime basis, where 12-month LGD is the percentage of loss
expected to be made if the default occurs in the next 12 months
and Lifetime LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made
if the default occurs over the remaining expected lifetime of the
loan.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3223 Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and

estimation techniques (Continued)

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for
each future month and for each individual exposure. These three
components are multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood of
survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier
month). This effectively calculates an ECL for each future month,
which is then discounted back to the reporting date and summed.
The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective
interest rate or an approximation thereof.

The Lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the
current 12M PD. The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on
a portfolio from the point of initial recognition throughout the lifetime
of the loans. The maturity profile is based on historical observed data
and is assumed to be the same across all assets within a portfolio and
credit grade band. This is supported by historical analysis.

The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the
expected payment profile, which varies by product type.

° For amortising products and bullet repayment loans, this is
based on the contractual repayments owed by the borrower
over a 12-month or lifetime basis. This will also be adjusted
for any expected overpayments made by a borrower. Early
repayment/refinance assumptions are also incorporated into the
calculation.

o For non-revolving products, the exposure at default is
predicted by taking current drawn balance and adding a “credit
conversion factor” which allows for the expected drawdown of
the remaining limit by the time of default.

° For revolving products, the EAD is estimated by taking the
maximum between the on-balance sheet exposure and the
estimated utilized amount at default based on utilisation rate.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3223 Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and

estimation techniques (Continued)

The 12-month and lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors
which impact the recoveries made post default. These include
collateral type and projected collateral values, historical discounts to
market/book values due to forced sales, time to repossession and
recovery costs observed.

Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining
the 12-month and lifetime PD, EAD and LGD. Refer to note 3.2.2.4 for
an explanation of forward-looking information and its inclusion in ECL
calculations.

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation, such as how the
maturity profile of the PDs and how collateral values change etc., are
regularly monitored and reviewed.

3.2.2.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models

The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate
forward-looking information. The Group has performed historical
analysis and identified the key economic variables impacting credit
risk and expected credit losses for each portfolio.

These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD,
EAD and LGD vary by financial instrument. Expert judgment has also
been applied in this process. Forecasts of these economic variables
(the “base economic scenario”) are provided by some economic
research institutions twice a year and provide the best estimate view
of the economy over the next five years. For the economic variables
out of the forecasting periods (i.e. after the next five years), the point-
in-time default risk level at the last forecasting period is referenced
to estimate the lifetime default risk level of each instrument. The
impact of these economic variables on the PD, EAD and LGD has
been determined by performing statistical regression analysis
to understand the impact changes in these variables have had
historically on default rates and loss rates.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3224 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models
(Continued)

In addition to the base economic scenario, the Group’s economist
and the Group Risk function also provided other possible scenarios
along with scenario weightings. At 1 January 2018 and 31 December
2018, the Group concluded to have two additional scenarios to
capture possible outcomes beyond those under the base economic
scenario, namely the good and the bad scenarios. The good and bad
scenarios are set with reference to the historical observations of the
macro-economic factors and the Group’s loan loss experience for a
period over 20 years. The scenario weightings are determined by a
combination of statistical analysis and expert credit judgement, taking
account of the range of possible outcomes each chosen scenario is
representative of.

The assessment of SICR is performed by considering either the
change in credit quality, expert credit judgement and backstop
indicator. This determines whether the whole financial instrument is in
Stage 1, Stage 2, or Stage 3 and hence whether 12-month or lifetime
ECL should be recorded. Following this assessment, the Group
measures ECL as either a probability weighted 12-month ECL (Stage
1), or a probability weighted lifetime ECL (Stages 2 and 3). These
probability-weighted ECLs are determined by running each scenario
through the relevant ECL model and multiplying it by the appropriate
scenario weighting.

As with any economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of
occurrence are subject to a high degree of inherent uncertainty and
therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to those
projected. The Group considers these forecasts to represent its best
estimate of the possible outcomes that the chosen scenarios are
appropriately representative of the range of possible scenarios.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3224 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models
(Continued)

Economic variable assumptions

In its models, the Group relies on a broad range of forward-
looking economic information as inputs, such as the forecasts of
macroeconomic factors like property price indices, GDP growth rates,
unemployment rates, and interest rates. A range of macroeconomic
factors is maintained based on statistical data tests and expert
judgement to ensure that relevant factors could be taken into
consideration in the ECL models.
The scenarios “base”, “good” and “bad” were determined based on
the underlying assumptions described in the below table. In particular,
the “base” scenario makes reference to a set of macroeconomic
forecasts from different economic research institutions and the
“good” and “bad” scenarios depends on the simulated ECL using a
designated period of historical macroeconomic variables. The year of
the lowest simulated ECL was assumed good scenario whereas the
year of the highest simulated ECL was assumed the bad scenario. A
designated period of historical data that covers peaks and troughs
of economic cycles were selected for this exercise to ensure the
selection of scenarios stays unbiased.
Scenario Underlying assumptions of the scenario
Base Forward-looking macroeconomic factors are a key
component of the macroeconomic outlook. The
base scenario is based on a set of macroeconomic
forecasts sourced from reputable economic research
institutions which formulate a “base case” view of the
most probable future direction of relevant economic
variables.
Good This scenario is determined as the year of having
lowest ECL by applying a full set of applicable historical
economic variables to the entire portfolio starting from
1995.

Bad This scenario is determined as the year of having
highest ECL by applying a full set of applicable
historical economic variables to the entire portfolio
starting from 1995.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3224 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models
(Continued)

Economic variable assumptions (Continued)
Significant period-end assumptions used for the ECL estimate as at

31 December 2018 are set out as below.

¥4
Average
(2019-2023)

BB EERERRE(BS )  Hong Kong GDP Growth Rate (%) Hi Base 2.2%
Rif Good 2.9%
TR Bad 1.3%
EREEME Hong Kong Residential Property A Base 2.2%
ERESEEH (5HL) Price Index Change (%) R Good 12.1%
TR Bad -15.5%
BEBREER(BEALL) Hong Kong Unemployment H Base 3.2%
Rate (%) R1if Good 3.1%
TR Bad 6.0%
REGHKRBRZLANMEER  NEEETRE To derive the probabilities weighting for the selected scenarios, an
AL BB AR TRL B 2 A EEE economic state analysis that covers a full economic cycle to estimate
BB ST - WRZ DT ERAGERRELE

BHSE R EAZE LB ARRITEZHAE
EIRBR

PR BB A Bl 1T 1 T 5 B i 8 P S T
BERANIEBEZRAMEE - AL
EoTERE L AEERZERE BHs REER
HERER -

201812 A31 Aol T RE&HBHEER | -
[RiF ] R [TR] ZIEEDHIRT70% » 10% K
20%
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the range of probabilities in different economic states is performed.
The use of historical data that covers peaks and troughs of economic
cycles is adopted for the analysis ensures that calculated probabilities
stay unbiased.

To supplement the economic state analysis for more forward looking
elements and to capture latest developments of the market and
economy, assessments are performed by the in-house economist
and the Group Risk function with expert judgement exercised for the
determination of the probability weightings application to the three
scenarios.

The weightings assigned to each economic scenario, “base”, “good”
and “bad” as at 31 December 2018, were 70%, 10% and 20%
respectively.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3224 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models
(Continued)

Economic variable assumptions (Continued)
Significant period-end assumptions used for the ECL estimate as at 1

January 2018 are set out as below.

Fig
Average
(2018-2022)

HAAMAEBEERE(EHL) Hong Kong GDP Growth Rate (%) B Base 2.3%
Rif Good 2.9%

TR Bad 1.3%

EREEME Hong Kong Residential Property A1 Base 1.3%
EREESEEH (BoHLt) Price Index Change (%) R Good 12.1%
TR Bad -15.5%

EBREE(BEALL) Hong Kong Unemployment Rate (%) %% Base 3.4%
Rif Good 3.1%

TR Bad 6.0%
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3224 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models
(Continued)

Economic variable assumptions (Continued)

The weightings assigned to each economic scenario, “base”,
“good” and “bad” as at 1 January 2018, were 70%, 15% and 15%
respectively.

Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated
within the above scenarios, such as the impact of any regulatory,
legislative or political changes, have also been considered, but are
not deemed to have a material impact and therefore no adjustment
has been made to the ECL for such factors. This is reviewed and
monitored for appropriateness on a quarterly basis.

Sensitivity analysis

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance are as
follows:

Retail portfolios

(i) Unemployment rates, given its impact on secured and
unsecured borrowers’ ability to meet their contractual
repayments;

(i) GDP growth rates, given the significant impact on companies’
performance and collateral valuations; and

(i)  Property price indexes, given the significant impact it has on
mortgage collateral valuations.

Corporate portfolios

(i) Unemployment rates, given its impact on secured and
unsecured borrowers’ ability to meet their contractual
repayments;

(i) ~GDP growth rates, given the significant impact on companies’
performance and collateral valuations; and

(i)  Property price indexes, given the significant impact it has on
mortgage collateral valuations.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3224 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models
(Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Set out below are the changes to the ECL as at 31 December
2018 that would result from reasonably possible changes in these
parameters from the actual assumptions used in the Group’s
economic variable assumptions:

=& Retail

EHEE
BEATE
ECL Impact
REX Unemployment rates +1% 15,369
-1% -999
FEAERE GDP growth rates +0.5% -1,706
-0.5% 1,734
SE YRt Property price indexes +5% -69
-5% 319

k3 Corporate
EHEE
EBENEE
ECL Impact
RER Unemployment rates +1% 104,173
-1% -54,159
FEBERRE GDP growth rates +0.5% -12,761
-0.5% 13,878
Y EBIEH Property price indexes +5% -17,242
-5% 20,202
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.3 Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Group has an established framework to manage and control
concentrations risk with respect to individual borrower or
counterparty group, industry or country. Exposure limits by borrower
or counterparty group, industry or country are in place and their
exposures are monitored and reported to credit committees regularly.

The large exposure limits to borrower or counterparty groups are
capital based while the limits for industry are relative to the size of the
overall credit portfolio. Country limits are also set up with reference to
the sovereign credit rating from international credit rating agencies. All
these limits aim to achieve a more balanced portfolio.

To mitigate credit risk and where appropriate, the Group will obtain
collateral to support the credit facility granted. To control credit risk
exposure to counterparty arising from derivative positions, the Group
limits its derivative dealings with approved financial institutions, and
uses established market practices on credit support and collateral
settlement to reduce credit risk exposure to derivative counterparties.
Overall credit risk limit for individual financial institution counterparty,
including valuation limit for derivatives, is approved by the
GCC with reference to the financial strength and credit rating of
individual counterparty. The acceptable types of collateral and their
characteristics are established within the credit policies, as are the
respective margins of finance. Enforceable legal documentation
establishes the Group’s direct, irrevocable and unconditional
recourse to any collateral, security or other credit enhancements
provided.

In relation to lending commitments that are unconditionally
cancellable without prior notice, the Group would assess the
necessity to withdraw the credit line in case where the credit quality
of a borrower deteriorates. Accordingly, these commitments do not
expose the Group to significant credit risk.

Irrespective of whether collateral is taken, all credit decisions are
based upon the customer’s or counterparty’s credit profile, cashflow
position and ability to repay.
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3. HEEREE@m 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 EERKE @

323 HESRE fE R IEHIBEE 2 BE (#)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.3 Risk limit control and mitigation policies (Continued)

(FF) B REH
AEEESERMNERmESBIERERE
RARBROAZERBEIES - TEEM S
BRI

o HIWE

o HBRRBEENEEREUEE

(@ Loans and advances

The Group has guidelines on the acceptability of specific
classes of collateral for securing loans and advances. The
principal collateral types are:

. Mortgages over properties;

° Charges over business assets such as premises and
accounts receivable;

. BRI T AENEBIFMKRSE . Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities
and equities;

o EHER & 0 Charges over deposits; and

. IR o . Charges over shares.

N EAREERBIERERAGH 2@
AIERRBFHBRRETRE  SEE
SRERHBIMER R AR EEERX -

(Z2) EFES
BEERMTAEAREREERRCEE
EMEZRFABRTAN  BHFEFIEE
SR ERSEER

In addition, in order to minimise credit loss, the Group will,
where possible, seek additional collateral from the borrower as
soon as impairment indicators are noticed on relevant individual
loans and advances.

(b)  Debt securities

Debt securities and treasury bills are generally unsecured,
with the exception of asset-backed securities and similar
instruments, which are secured by portfolios of financial

instruments or underlying assets.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.3 Risk limit control and mitigation policies (Continued)
(c) Derivatives

All counterparty credit risk for derivatives trading are managed
as part of the credit risk control and monitoring process in
respect of the counterparty including credit controls such as
setting individual limit for valuation risk, daily settlement limits
and performing periodic credit assessment. Moreover, the
Group requires derivative contract counterparties to enter into
International Swaps and Derivatives Association Agreement or
analogous master agreement in order to follow the standardised
market practice of close-out netting arrangement in the event
of default or early termination and in accordance with the
regulatory requirements.

Collateral arrangements with most counterparties are also
in place to limit our unsecured derivative exposures to these
counterparties.

3.2.4 Write-off policy

The Group writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has
exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has concluded there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include (i) ceasing enforcement
activity and (ii) where the Group’s recovery method is foreclosing
on collateral and the value of the collateral is such that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering in full.

The Group may write off financial assets that are still subject to
enforcement activity. The outstanding contractual amounts of such
assets written off during the year ended 31 December 2018 was
HK$46 million.

3.2.5 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held
or other credit enhancements

At 31 December 2018

The following tables contain analysis of the credit risk exposure
of financial instruments. The gross carrying/notional amount of
financial assets below also represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk on these assets.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (continued)

3.2.5 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held
or other credit enhancements (Continued)

At 31 December 2018 (Continued)

(1)  Financial assets subject to impairment

BaE/ 2848

Gross carrying/notional amount

RHEE
BREE RRHEAT -t
% Special  Sub-standard &it ECL gt
Pass mention or below Total allowance Net

RONERRER Balance and placements

with banks 21,668,647 - - 27,668,647 3,820 21,664,827
~B&1 - Stage 1 27,668,647 - - 21,668,647 3,820 21,664,827
-Keo - Stage 2 - - - - - -
-3 - Stage 3 - - - - - =
DYNTEREREES EHUN Debt instruments at fair value

2 AbENEELIE through other comprehensive

income 42,138,479 42,138,479 04 42115515
-B&1 - Stage 1 42,138,479 - - 42,138,479 22,964 42,115,515
-2 - Stage 2 - - - - - =
-K&3 - Stage 3 - - - - - =
NERRATIENEB LR Debt instruments at

amortised cost 9,267,841 - - 9,267,841 5,056 9,262,785
~FE& - Stage 1 9,267,841 - - 9,267,841 5,056 9,262,785
-2 - Stage 2 - - - - - =
-K&3 - Stage 3 - - - - - -
EPEH Advances to customers 126,886,768 1,153 970,166 128,628,087 913923 127,714,164
~F&A - Stage 1 123,147,970 1,893 - 123,149,863 423,650 122,726,213
-F&2 - Stage 2 3,738,798 769,260 - 4,508,058 127,284 4,380,774
~F&3 - Stage 3 - - 970,166 970,166 362,989 607,177
EEE Trade bills 4,677,262 - () 2B 4675139
-B&1 - Stage 1 4,663,269 - - 4,663,269 2,100 4,661,169
-E&2 - Stage 2 13,993 - - 13,993 23 13,970
-K&3 - Stage 3 - - = - - =
fERr A8 REMRA Accrued interest and

other accounts 5,263,030 2,806 81,290 5,347,126 31,206 5,315,920
B8 ~Stage 1 5,054,153 - - 5254153 9577 5244576
~Bfo - Stage 2 8877 2,806 - 11,683 491 11,192
-&3 - Stage 3 - - 81,290 81,290 21,138 60,152
EFRERIBER Loan commitments and

financial guarantees 76,786,797 43,591 13,716 76,844,104 146,267 76,697,837
—feER1 - Stage 1 74,789,140 - - 74,789,140 139,657 74,649,483
~Fagk2 - Stage 2 1,997,657 43,591 - 2,041,248 6,592 2,034,656
~Fagk3 - Stage 3 - - 13,716 13,716 18 13,698
At Total 292,688,824 817,550 1,065,172 294,571,546 1125350 293,446,187
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3.2
3.2.5

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held
or other credit enhancements (Continued)

At 31 December 2018 (Continued)

(1)  Financial assets subject to impairment

For the purpose of this disclosure, notional amount of debt
instruments at FVOCI and the associated ECL allowance
maintained in investment revaluation reserve are presented.

The credit ratings are broadly categorised as follows:

Retail
Class 1 “pass”, which covers loans that are current or within 30

DPD.

Class 2 “special mention”,
31-90 DPD.

which generally covers loans with

Class 3 “sub-standard or below”, which generally covers loans
that are more than 90 DPD.

Corporate

Class 1 “pass”, which covers Grade 1 to 9 of the Group’s
internal loan grading system, represents loans for which
borrowers are current in meeting commitments and for which

the full repayment of interest and principal is not in doubt.

Class 2 “special mention”, which covers Grade 10 of the
Group’s internal loan grading system, represents loans with
which borrowers are experiencing difficulties and which may
lead to credit losses to the Group if the deterioration in loan
quality cannot be contained.

Class 3 “sub-standard or below”, which covers Grade 11 to 13
of the Group’s internal loan grading system, represents loans
in which borrowers are displaying a definable weakness that is
likely to jeopardise repayment; or collection in full is improbable
and the Group expects to sustain a loss of principal and/or
interest; or loans that are considered uncollectible after all
collection options have been exhausted.
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B35 LB B TR (a0 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
FERRE @ 3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
K AIFEC G AEMEE ST 3.2.5 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held
FIZREEEREEE &) or other credit enhancements (Continued)
20184 12 H 31 H (4#&) At 31 December 2018 (Continued)
(1) ZAEREFENESREE (&) (1)  Financial assets subject to impairment (Continued)
HE Treasury
F1HRIES | BEANEEEFAAEBB— Class 1 “pass”, which covers exposures to counterparties of
A £ 2 RS EHFH R with internal credit rating of BB- or above.
F2MR R E ] BERBEETRE Class 2 “special mention”, which covers exposures to
B+ EB- 2 X 5 FaE counterparties of with internal credit rating of B+ to B-.
F 3R RAFAFAT | B REBEEFTR Class 3 “sub-standard or below”, which covers exposures to
B CCC+ AT 2R ZEF A counterparties of with internal credit rating of CCC+ or below.
(2 HEFERENESHEE (2) Financial assets not subject to impairment
EREE
Gross carrying amount
FEEERSENEE Trading assets
—(EIFESH - Debt securities 7,621,184
—PTHETER — Derivatives 289,399
EHOTAETA Hedging derivatives 437,644
LAFENEBEES ABENEMEE Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
—EES - Debt securities 1,303,184
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.5 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held
or other credit enhancements (Continued)

At 31 December 2017
HmEERBRE

Maximum exposure
to credit risk

FREERBRAEEZFEERRENT :

& RIERITREEH

fEERIT1 =128 A REIHE
MTF K

BIEEEABRNES

UATEFSE A ESH T ABENEREE

PTHEemMIA

BEBR KRB

BHEE

Hfth &

A EES
—BEBES

FEIHES

EREERBRIIMNRBZERERARENT :

B A R ER

RIerSEBER AT 2018F F 1)

Credit risk exposures relating to
on-balance sheet assets are as follows:

Cash and balances with banks 18,815,031
Placements with banks maturing between
one and twelve months 13,614,678
Trading securities 9,278,454
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,062,409
Derivative financial instruments 897,967
Loans and advances to customers 119,261,984
Trade bills 4,065,401
Other assets 5,667,868
Available-for-sale securities
— Debt securities 38,106,514
Held-to-maturity securities 6,362,779
217,133,085
Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance
sheet items are as follows:
Loan commitments and financial guarantees 76,672,730
293,805,815
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held
or other credit enhancements (Continued)

The results of credit performance of the Group can be further
assessed with reference to the following:

. 3% of the loans and advances portfolio are categorised in
the top grade of the internal rating system (2017: 4%);

o Mortgage loans, which represent the biggest group in the
portfolio, are backed by collateral;

° Loans and advances to customers that are credit-

impaired constituted 0.75% (2017: 0.65% under HKAS 39)
of the total loans and advances to customers; and

o 79% (2017: 81%) of the investments in debt securities and
other bills have at least an A- credit rating.
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3. BXEBERE@m
3.2 EERKE @)
326 EFRE

BEPFERRBFBAMT :

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.6 Loans and advances

Loans and advances to customers are summarised as follows:

2018
BRI AERE Gross loans and advances 128,628,087
Mk REEEERE Less: total impairment allowances (913,923)
R Net 127,714,164
EEREZERRER Credit-impaired loans and advances 970,166
kR : BEER 3MEER Less: Stage 3 impairment allowances (362,989)
HER Net 607,177
BHEHRAFE Fair value of collateral held * 503,728
EERBEEFRRBIERFER Credit-impaired loans and advances as
LB BEAE DL a % of total loans and advances
to customers 0.75%

M20185F1 A1 B2 EEREZFERRZK(E
Rt B 7% B BB AN S B R 2ERISE 9 57) 2 48
6/51,243,227,000 % 7T KB E 2 EEREBEER
L& 51.04% ©

EREREZE2017F12 A31 HIE - EE(LER
ZEEREHERRRER R 2 HA BT B BT
BB GFHERIZE 39 502 A EE R G EFURE %
BREBZIARER(TRER]) NG AREE
o EEBMBMELNESRT ZETRE
AETELERERRERDAEEREERZ

—&btn

RIerSEBER AT 2018F F 1)

Gross impaired loans and advances to customers as at 1 January
2018 to reflect the adoption of HKFRS 9 from that date amounted to
HK$1,243,227,000 and the corresponding credit-impaired loan ratio
was 1.04%.

In the past and up to 31 December 2017, retail restructured unsecured
loans with regularised account conduct and non-performing loans
(“NPLs”) which were fully secured and on which no individually
assessed loan impairment allowances were made under HKAS 39
were not counted as impaired loans. Under HKFRS 9, such NPLs and
retail restructured unsecured loans form part of the Group’s impaired
loans.
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(LAB® T 7A7517R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.6 Loans and advances (Continued)

The disclosures below were included in the Group’s 2017 financial

statements and do not reflect the adoption of HKFRS 9. As source

of the tables are not directly comparable to the current 2018 tables,

which are disclosed on a HKFRS 9 basis, these 2017 disclosures have

been shown and not adjacent to 2018 tables.

2017
FEi HA R (E38 S E B R (E Neither past due nor individually impaired 116,276,565
0 HR (5 R B FEE B Rk (A Past due but not individually impaired 2,230,155
&R E Individually impaired 755,264
Rk Gross 119,261,984
R BB Less: allowance for impairment (659,046)
it Net 118,602,938
BEE R Impaired loans and advances
—ERRE (FE(F)) — Individually impaired (Note (a)) 755,264
—fFaRE(E(D)) — Collectively impaired (Note (b)) 19,033
774,297
B Impairment allowances made
—{ERIFHE (2 (A)) - Individually assessed (Note (c)) (280,641)
— e (E(2)) - Collectively assessed (Note (b)) (17,447)
(298,088)
476,209
BHEHRAFE Fair value of collaterals held* 563,247
WEEREBREEFERK Impaired loans and advances as
BRBRE AN a % of total loans and advances
to customers 0.65%

* ERRATEDRBERDHEREFREES
B METREEETE o

*

collateral and outstanding loan balance.

Fair value of collateral is determined at the lower of the market value of
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3.
3.2
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it

(&)

(2)

ERREERZEBVRERREERELET
— R EEREERENTERREERE (1B
=D WER - MRBEREFEZER AR
RREREBEKTE » WA FHHE

REREEREBREZ TGS EEERER
hEVEER RN E2HRE B BHRERBBHIORZ
ERRBR - ZER D25 2 REE TGS R
EEFTDEBGRAREERN & °

A EERIREEHD E BB BARHN2017 F12
A 31 Bk 2 AT REE -

TRINRIEEBEAREFRAR ZREEED
EERRBRZADL °

3.2

3.2.6

Note:

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Loans and advances (Continued)

Individually impaired loans are defined as those loans having objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss
event has an impact on the estimated cash flows of the loans that can be
reliably estimated.

Collectively impaired loans and advances refer to those unsecured loans
and advances assessed for impairment on a collective basis and which
have become overdue for more than 90 days as at the reporting date.
The collective impairment allowance for these impaired loans, which is a
part of the overall collective impairment allowances, is shown above.

The above individual impairment allowances were made after taking into
account the value of collaterals in respect of such advances as at 31
December 2017.

The table below shows the percentage of impairment allowance as a

percentage of loans and advances for each of the three broad internal

rating classes.

2018 2017
WEEE B
R EMREREE IEEREREE
Aokt Btk
Impairment Impairment
BERRBH  allowance EFXE#EF  allowance
Bkt asa % Bk asa %
Loans and of loan Loans and of loan
advances balance advances balance
% % % %

#7 - Class

1—1F% 1 - pass 98.6 0.4 98.1 0.2
2—%5pIREE 2 — special mention 0.6 11.2 0.8 6.2
3—IRARIAT 3 - sub-standard or below 0.8 37.4 1.1 25.0
100.0 0.7 100.0 0.6

RIerSEBER AT 2018F F 1)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.2

(LA FThz51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.6 Loans and advances (Continued)

(@) Loans and advances neither past due nor individually
impaired

The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that
were neither past due nor individually impaired is normally
assessed based on the three broad gradings mentioned in Note
3.2.5.

4
Retall Corporate
fER R At EHER HEER BHRE A At
01712A318 At 31 December 2017 Credit cards Mortgages Others Term loans Mortgages  Trade finance Others Total
A5l Class:
1-I% 1 - pass 3,785,173 31,964,692 12,248,742 35,225,094 14,510,874 8,697,347 9,172,809 115,604,731
-kl 2 - special mention - - - 162,926 280,408 129,393 44487 617,214
3-RBFUAT 3 - sub-standard or below - 5,246 2,829 33,580 9,719 2,805 441 54,620
=H Total 3,785,173 31,969,938 12,251,571 35,421,600 14,801,001 8,829,545 9217737 116,276,565

ERESA TR 2 ZBEREEBEE
a2 B ER R EBARIE

Mortgage loans in the sub-standard or below class were
assessed as not impaired after taking into consideration the
value and recovery of collaterals.
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3. HMBEMEE @
3.2 FERRm
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(Z) BEFER SR E 2 B K250

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.6 Loans and advances (Continued)

(b) Loans and advances past due but not individually impaired

z8 %
Retall Corporate
fER R At EHER HEER BHRE A At
01712A318 At 31 December 2017 Credit cards Mortgages Others Term loans Mortgages  Trade finance Others Total
A1 EAZUAT Past due up to T month 37,650 741,399 156,538 9,323 258,296 111,394 391,802 1,706,402
@H1EANEZ3MEA  Past due more than
1 month and up to
3 months 12,724 111,733 31,823 2,722 118,142 19912 53,768 350,824
@#3EANLEZ6/EA  Past due more than
3 months and up
to 6 months 6,659 3,950 7,381 866 13,574 1,370 2,392 36,192
BE6EANL Past due more than
6 months 4122 37,481 5 40578 11,858 21,181 21512 136,787
&t Total 61,155 894,563 195,747 53,489 401,870 153,857 469,474 2,230,155
FEERRZATE"  Fairvalue of collaterals* - 893,815 11,442 41,909 400,887 130,824 414,358 1,893,235

. ERBZ A FEDREERRTEEIER
REEES  MEFREEME °

I ERE R RBRE - HAERR A
FEDKBEMEBREEZGERAM
TE o BERHE . ZEWRZAFESE
MISER K FREERRMER o

RIerSEBER AT 2018F F 1)

*

Fair value of collaterals is determined as the lower of the market
value of collateral and outstanding loan balance.

Upon initial recognition of loans and advances, the associated
collateral is valued based on valuation techniques for the
particular assets. In subsequent periods, the fair value of such
collateral is updated by reference to market price or indexes of
similar assets.
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() BEBHHHEEREIFEERR
BRI BB EaERE 395 (E1E 5B
B2 EFPEHRBH

REBRGFARE I ERRZBESRA
ZIEEREREFPER R E970,166,000
77T (2017 4F - {E BIR{E & 7K 755,264,000
BIT) °
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3.2

3.2.6

(LA FThz51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Loans and advances (Continued)

(c)

Loans and advances to customers that are credit-impaired
under HKFRS 9 or individually impaired under HKAS 39

The credit-impaired loans and advances to customers of the
Group before taking into consideration the cash flows from
collateral held is HK$970,166,000 (2017: individually impaired
loans HK$755,264,000).

The analysis of the gross amount of credit-impaired or
individually impaired loans and advances by class, along with
the fair value of the related collateral held by the Group as
security, is as follows:

BEEAR
AFE
R REEE EERS BREE Fair value
Gross Impairment Carrying of collateral
2018%12H31H At 31 December 2018 exposure allowance amount held
EERBEZER Credit-impaired loans
BAEZ Loans to individual:
—=HF — Credit cards 15,134 12,449 2,685 =
—RIBER - Mortgages 44,351 4,643 39,708 43,169
—HA — Others 283,493 132,913 150,580 2,198
BEER: Loans to corporate entities:
—HHER - Term loans 251,403 79,206 172,197 175,496
—IRIBER — Mortgages 101,429 8,827 92,602 99,069
—BZmE - Trade finance 154,078 73,630 80,448 94,333
—HAh - Others 120,278 51,321 68,957 89,463
SEREZEFHERE Total credit-impaired loans 970,166 362,989 607,177 503,728
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MENTS

3. HKEKEE@m 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 ZERK @ 3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
326 BFRBZ (&) 3.2.6 Loans and advances (Continued)
(A) BB EREEREIFEIZEH (c) Loans and advances to customers that are credit-impaired
(BB B B a2 R E 397 fEIEFR under HKFRS 9 or individually impaired under HKAS 39
B EFEZRZH (&) (Continued)
HEER-
{BRIFE(
E34 i1 Impairment
Retail Corporate allowances -
REER Efth EHER RIBER EHmE At H individual
20175124318 At 31 December 2017 Mortgages Others ~ Termloans ~ Mortgages Trade finance Others Total  assessment
{ERIREE Individually impaired
loans 12,554 7,881 198,137 132,553 258,921 145,218 755,264 280,641
BEAARZATE"  Fairvalue of collaterals' 6,861 3,988 142,067 125,175 184,241 100,915 563,247
* B2 A FEDBREERRTERER * Fair value of collaterals is determined as the lower of the market
REBES  MEPREEME © value of collateral and outstanding loan balance.
(T) 2E3 187U LEZ B KRB (d)  Loans and advances overdue for more than 3 months

() WEREEENERSE ()  Gross amount of overdue loans
2018 2017
BHIREE AR (EE
B B
Gross Gross
amount {48 %E amount {h#8%E
of overdue B2tk  of overdue Bakt
loans % of total loans % of total
REBRFER Gross advances to customers
4a=g o mnHp which have been overdue for:
3fEALA EZ61EH - six months or less but over
three months 99,729 0.08 91,458 0.08
—6fAALAEZ=14E - one year or less but over
six months 51,812 0.04 126,354 0.11
—1FUE — over one year 429,568 0.33 582,967 0.49
581,109 0.45 800,779 0.68

RIerSEBER AT 2018F F 1)
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(LA FThz51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.6 Loans and advances (Continued)

(T) BAIBEAULZEFREL (&) (@)

(i) BERKEEERRBRZREE

Loans and advances overdue for more than 3 months

(Continued)

(i)  Value of collateral held and impairment allowances

£ RASERME against overdue loans and advances
ERRER BERm
AMEEHE B BERm BER@ HitEE 83
Outstanding Current  FIEAERH REREDH BRESER HEER
amount of market Portion  Portion not Other Stage 3
loans and valueof coveredby coveredby  creditrisk impairment
2018512531 A At 31 December 2018 advances collateral collateral collateral mitigation  allowances
BHREERP Overdue loans and advances
VS to customers 581,109 565,273 392,626 188,483 - 207,437
ERRBT et REEE—
KEEHE B B B HifRE {ERIRT 1
Outstanding Current  FTAIESD RegREDH ERFEHEE  Impairment
amount of market Portion  Portion not Other allowances -
loans and value of  covered by  covered by credit risk individual
2017612 4318 At 31 December 2017 advances collateral collateral collateral mitigation ~ assessment
BHRERERP Overdue loans and advances
ERRBR to customers 800,779 798,711 593,375 207,404 - 258,988
BEZEARTIEAEKIEES - 118 Collateral held mainly represented pledged deposits,
Y5 AR R E At [E F B E AR o mortgages over properties and charges over other fixed
assets such as equipment.
(%) #ZEHEZ (CHEG B E 28 (e) Rescheduled advances net of amounts included in
HEZ) overdue advances shown above
1H48%R IH4a%
Bkt Btk
2018 % of total 2017 % of total
BEFER Advances to customers 311,262 0.24 344,868 0.29
BB 2 Impairment allowances 115,877 1,640
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3. BXEBERE@m
3.2 EERKE @)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

327 BEZEE 3.2.7 Trade bills
2018 2017
BH5EE - B Trade bills which have been overdue for:
—6EAAEE1E - one year or less but over six months - 4,397
—1FE - over one year - 10,868
- 15,265
B Impairment allowances = =

328 WEIE #m
REREE 2 WEKARIOT

3.2.8 Repossessed collateral

Repossessed collateral held at the year-end is as follows:

2018 2017

BELE Nature of assets
ek Repossessed properties 153,639 282,643
Ef Others 8,336 21,343
161,975 303,986

WEHERRIZATTERARREE - BYRFIARIA
BIEB R Z BERAREEET

{& 5T 7] & IR 48 {H /560,349,000 7% 7T (2017 £F :
65,433,0005 7T ) 2 £ 1 B A1 b 9 5 T H A 4
¥ DBASEREFEAMEES 2 AL TAT
E LAYDAE B R 1 o 5% 3K o 73 2 3R P BT 5 32
ZTHMEBEI B THRHIERHEZEE - Bl
ERE R ILFER ©

RIerSEBER AT 2018F F 1)

Repossessed collaterals are sold as soon as practicable with the
proceeds used to reduce the outstanding indebtedness of the
borrowers concerned.

Certain other properties in the Mainland China with a total estimated
realisable value of HK$60,349,000 (2017: HK$65,433,000), which had
been foreclosed and repossessed by the Group pursuant to orders
issued by courts in the Mainland China, represent assets held by the
Group for resale and have been reported under “Other assets” in Note
32. The relevant loans had been derecognised.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.9 Loss allowance

B 5k Y ot
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LA T Th751)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

The tables below provide a reconciliation of the Group’s ECL
allowances for loans and advances to customers, loan commitments
and financial guarantees by stage under HKFRS 9 for 2018.

z2€ Retail
P ER 1 PEER 2 PEER 3 ast
REEE REEE RHEE REEE
BEER BEER FRER BEER
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ECL ECL ECL ECL
allowance allowance allowance allowance
2018F1A1H At 1 January 2018 304,889 19,699 155,888 480,476
#i5 Transfers:
PREX 1 BB A ER 2 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (2,500) 9,649 - 7,149
PR BYERERS Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (11,307 - 210,442 199,135
PR ER 2 B R ER 1 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 405 (4,653) - (4,248)
PRE 2B EIAER 3 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - @,311) 16,022 11,711
PR 3BHE[EER 2 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - = - =
PR3 BB R Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 - = = =
HANETRAE - BA S New financial assets originated,
RLEREE purchased or derecognised
during the period 58,127 (6,245) (16,789) 35,093
PDs/LGDs/EADs/ gl Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs/forward
KRRk & looking assumptions 6,488 4,870 33,395 44,753
FRIRER Unwinding of discount 91 56 21 168
Higs Write-offs = = (248,973) (248,973)
DN J2 H fth Foreign exchange and
other movements (400) (242) (1) (643)
2018%12H 31 H At 31 December 2018 355,793 18,823 150,005 524,621
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.9 Loss allowance (Continued)

¥ Corporate
BB 1 PEER2 PEER 3 &t
BHEE BHEE BHEE BHEE
ERER ERER BRER ERER
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ECL ECL ECL ECL
allowance allowance allowance allowance
20181 A1H At 1 January 2018 141,960 180,711 295,711 618,382
YA Transfers:
PRE 1 R EIEER 2 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (1,915) 5,692 - 3,777
PRE 1 R EIAER 3 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (159) - 28,797 28,638
PEER 2 1S EREER 1 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 12,218 (28,951) - (16,733)
PR 2B Z[RER 3 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (1,599) 3,957 2,358
PRER3EBR EMEE 2 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 10 (10) -
P& ER 3L EFEER 1 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 - = = =
HANETRAE © B A New financial assets originated,
BRZEREE purchased or derecognised
during the period 69,233 (55,332) (69,225) (55,324)
PDs/LGDs/EADs/ R 1 Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs/forward
HyfReR 2 & looking assumptions (13,571) 13,210 56,977 56,616
FRPRALE Unwinding of discount 466 1,426 13 1,905
ik Write-offs - - (102,957) (102,957)
N T H At £ Foreign exchange and
other movements (718) (114) (261) (1,093)
201812831 A At 31 December 2018 207,514 115,053 213,002 535,569

RerSEBER AT 2018F F 1R
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(LA T Th751)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.9 Loss allowance (Continued)

The tables below provide a reconciliation of the Group’s gross
exposure (in terms of aggregate of carrying amount of loans and
advances to customers and notional amount of loan commitments
and financial guarantees) by stage under HKFRS 9 for 2018.

e Retail
P& Ex 1 PRz 2 PEER 3 &t
AR gt ERERE BIRAE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross Gross Gross Gross
exposure exposure exposure exposure
20181 A1H At 1 January 2018 101,935,074 212,315 362,725 102,510,114
B Transfers:
PR BB ERER 2 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (176,170) 176,170 - -
PR 1 R EIAER 3 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (227,025) - 227,025 =
PEER 2 BB A ER 1 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 55,192 (55,192) - -
PRER2EH E[AER 3 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (26,274) 26,274 -
PRRIBEHZEREE 2 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 = - = =
PEER 3L EFEER 1 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 - = = =
BRIESIN s #a 3R 2 B Changes of gross exposure
other than modifications 4,090,793 (76,994) (20,647) 3,993,152
HisH Write-offs - - (248,973) (248,973)
N J2 H At Foreign exchange and
other movements (55,218) (2,159) (2,725) (60,102)
2018128 31H At 31 December 2018 105,622,646 227,866 343,679 106,194,191
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.9 Loss allowance (Continued)

¥ Corporate
BB 1 PEER 2 PR 3 ast
Bk ERAE gt [t
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross Gross Gross Gross
exposure exposure exposure exposure
20181 A1H At 1 January 2018 83,416,403 9,098,002 910,195 93,424,600
B Transfers:
PR 1 BB ERE2 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (698,059) 698,059 - -
PR BB ERERS Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (85,133) - 85,133 -
PR ER 2 B P ER 1 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 928,512 (928,512) - =
PRE 2B EIAER 3 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (15,003) 15,003 -
PRER SEM EREER 2 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 691 (691) -
PR 3EBH R Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 - - - -
BRIESIN R B Changes of gross exposure
other than modifications 8,824,301 (2,499,640) (254,871) 6,069,790
G| Write-offs - - (102,957) (102,957)
N % E At & Foreign exchange and
other movements (69,667) (32,157) (11,609) (113,433)
20185 12H31H At 31 December 2018 92,316,357 6,321,440 640,203 99,278,000

MEHES BRI © RERITAE SR RIABERBCR
FIRRSA A A2 A HE 85 ARt 2 HE e
WERSTE - DEEMRER RINF A ERERE
%o transition during the year.

Treasury portfolio, which consists of cash and balances with banks
and debt instruments at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, are classified in Stage 1 with no stage
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.9 Loss allowance (Continued)

BB BEEERIE39H 22017 FEFEH K3 Reconciliation of allowance account for losses on loans and advances
ARESERE T ESEER A SRR to customers and trade bills under HKAS 39 for 2017

RE ZE 6 — {8 Bl 774G
Impairment allowances -
Individual assessment

BBRER HAte &&t
Mortgages Others Total

HEEGZ2E-ZE Movement in impairment allowances - retail
20171 A1 BM&EH Balance at 1 January 2017 255 5,531 5,786
B E R Impairment losses charged 2,728 1,618 4,346
REEEEE MR Loans written off as uncollectible - (1,849) (1,849)

WEE R EE#EE 2 ER Recoveries of advances written off

in previous years 353 1,445 1,798
B R Ho At A& Exchange and other adjustments - 113 113
2017912 A31H At 31 December 2017 3,336 6,858 10,194

BEEE-FEFMHE

Impairment allowances - Collective assessment

kS BBEX Hity &t
Credit cards Mortgages Others Total
HEEEZ2E-ZE Movement in impairment
allowances - retail
2017 F 1 A1 Br&sR Balance at 1 January 2017 29,485 16,748 69,309 115,542
HEEBRRE(E5) Impairment losses
charged/(reversed) 41,827 (7,672) 154,899 189,054
REEREFTMIEE Loans written off as uncollectible (63,730 = (186,921) (250,651)
WEE R EE#E 2 ER Recoveries of advances
written off in previous years 16,628 - 25,389 42,017
B R H A AR Exchange and other adjustments - 885 21 906
2017412 A31H At 31 December 2017 24,210 9,961 62,697 96,868
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3. HERKBERE@m 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 FERR @ 3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

329 B1EER &) 3.2.9 Loss allowance (Continued)

BB BT ERFE399E T.22017F 5P B RE Reconciliation of allowance account for losses on loans and advances
AREZEE 2 ERERIR A ARK (&) to customers and trade bills under HKAS 39 for 2017 (Continued)

BB - (ERIFHE

Impairment allowances - Individual assessment

BHEX RBER E5RE Hith A%
Term loans Mortgages  Trade finance Others Total
BEEE22D - Movement in impairment
allowances - corporate
2017 F1 A1 R &# Balance at 1 January 2017 127,008 307 241,757 60,352 429,424
REBERE/(2E) Impairment losses
charged/(reversed) 38,991 16 (4,424) 52,124 86,707
ReLERET MR Loans written off as uncollectible (106,176) - (82,655) (77,209) (266,040)
W B B R EMSE 2 R Recoveries of advances
written off in previous years 2,907 - 8,111 8,203 19,221
BE 5 R ELfth B Exchange and other adjustments 773 - 362 - 1,135
201712 A31H At 31 December 2017 63,503 323 163,151 43,470 270,447
HEERE - AT
Impairment allowances - Collective assessment
BHEXN RBER E5RE Hith &%
Term loans Mortgages  Trade finance Others Total
BEEE2E2D - Movement in impairment
allowances - corporate
2017 F1 A1 BHEY&ER Balance at 1 January 2017 120,718 62,450 63,698 72,715 319,581
BEEE (ER) /12 Impairment losses
(reversed)/charged (3,318) (12,591) (644) 6,602 (9,951)
ReEERETMEE Loans written off as uncollectible - - - (17,404) (17,404)
W B B R EMSHE 2 R Recoveries of advances
written off in previous years = = = 76 76
BE 5 R ELft B Exchange and other adjustments 2,609 - 232 623 3,464
201712 A31H At 31 December 2017 120,009 49,859 63,286 62,612 295,766
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.9 Loss allowance (Continued)

Reconciliation of allowance account for losses on accrued interest and

MR B .2 E1E2E AR B k% other accounts under HKAS 39 for 2017
EFFREREMERE
Accrued interest
and other accounts
HEEE- AEEE -
RETE 18 Bl 744
Impairment Impairment
allowances - allowances -
Collective Individual
assessment  assessment
EstRI R REMERA Movement in impairment
HEEEZ2S allowances on accrued

2017 F1 A1 REVEER
B ETRR
& 5 I H b 5 R

201712 A31 8

interest and other accounts

Balance at 1 January 2017 625 9,351
Impairment losses charged 713 13
Exchange and other adjustments = 729
At 31 December 2017 1,338 10,093
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TRFIRA 20184 22017 F 12 A 31 BIRsF AR 1%

BIEE 2RI 2 BB ESF

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.10Debt securities

The table below presents an analysis of debt securities by rating

agency designation at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

UAFETE
BH#FHHA
NAFEGE Htt2EWRE
BEZHHA NEmEE
BENSRER Financial ~ SAEERA A5
Financial assetsat RHMERMEE
RIFEE assets at fair value Financial
RREE fair value  through other assets at
Trading  through profit comprehensive amortised CE
201812 A31H At 31 December 2018 assets or loss income cost Total
AAA AAA - 75,814 2,967,328 168,273 3,211,415
AA-Z AA+ AA- to AA+ 7,621,184 - 11,120,899 1,158,588 19,900,671
A-EA+ A-to A+ - 327,483 19,795,477 4,283,936 24,406,896
A RBERA- Rated but lower than A- - - 4,823,834 693,057 5,516,891
KRBT Unrated - 899,887 3,076,061 2,963,987 6,939,935
At Total 7,621,184 1,303,184 41,783,599 9,267,841 59,975,808
RIEEE BEL  AHEERE  HEISRE
REEE ATHEFE Available- Held-to-
Trading Designated for-sale maturity G
201712 A31H At 31 December 2017 assets at fair value investments investments Total
AAA AAA - 28,343 3,429,380 - 3,457,723
AA- £ AA+ AA- to AA+ 8,837,542 120,662 9,660,897 292,833 18,911,934
A-EA+ A-to A+ 12 395,289 18,948,907 2,306,086 21,650,294
A RBERA- Rated but lower than A- - 355,978 3,703,184 788,044 4,847,206
RBTR Unrated - 19,209 2,364,146 2,975,816 5,359,171
At Total 8,837,554 919,481 38,106,514 6,362,779 54,226,328
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3. HERKBERE@m 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 FERE@m 3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

B2IMFEFEEERBZEHEEZAEE 3.2.11Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk
REE exposure
(F) B (a) Geographical sectors
BERFERZREHSMIHIBEE ZRRAKRE Advances to customers by geographical area are classified
BRIZERAFEMSE - —RMNs & according to the location of the borrowers after taking into
EXNERFENEERATRZ RS account the transfer of risk. In general, risk transfer applies
B B eEis o when an advance is guaranteed by a party located in an area

which is different from that of the borrower.

TRAERFEFERIREIEDH The following table analyses gross advances to customers by
geographical area.

2018 & 2017 £
12A31H 12 A31H
At At
31 December 31 December
2018 2017

REERMET Gross advances to customers
— BB - Hong Kong 105,025,978 95,759,022
—r - China 7,442,961 8,229,210
—BFg - Macau 14,456,832 13,200,459
—Efh - Others 1,702,316 2,073,293

128,628,087 119,261,984
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B21MMFEEEERBRZEMEESEEE

HREE (&)
(Z2) 77

EFERBBR—BIEREFRENL R

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.11Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk

exposure (Continued)

(b)  Industry sectors

Gross advances to customers by industry sector classified

according to the usage of loans

2018 2017
EEBERANER Loans for use in Hong Kong
ITHEsR Industrial, commercial and financial
— ¥R - Property development 5,411,554 3,927,651
—EKE - Property investment 15,930,681 14,933,223
— R E - Financial concerns 5,229,101 3,814,050
—RELALD — Stockbrokers 1,711,512 2,141,027
—fEBETER — Wholesale and retail trade 6,584,127 7,202,373
— RIS - Manufacturing 1,702,636 1,900,894
— B BB R - Transport and transport equipment 3,691,151 3,932,189
—REEE - Recreational activities 103,057 96,881
—AMBHL — Information technology 70,890 68,986
— A - Others 3,537,199 4,114,396
43,971,908 42,131,670
EA Individuals

—BE [EERHES]
[AZREES
K [HEEHEEZ

— Loans for the purchase of flats in
Home Ownership Scheme, Private
Sector Participation Scheme and

242

BFER Tenants Purchase Scheme 632,804 687,074
—BEEMEFEDEER — Loans for the purchase of other

residential properties 26,609,223 22,988,102

—EHFER — Credit card advances 3,721,632 3,613,411

—Efh - Others 12,927,451 12,308,030

43,891,110 39,596,617

EEAFERNER Loans for use in Hong Kong 87,863,018 81,728,287

ZEZmE (5(1)) Trade finance (Note (1)) 9,265,660 8,766,204

EBBAIMERNER (FX2) Loans for use outside Hong Kong
(Note (2)) 31,499,400 28,767,493
128,628,087 119,261,984
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(1) LR ZESRERSERESERE
HZ BRI MO B AT EED « HAM
BEONBRE UhEmBEIRESCE

Eo
A °

THREEZESBREER(BERMN
RITER AR ([ RFIRTT]) ZIBIMRITH
BARETZE SR E )4 R{E306,245,000
#7(2017 412 31 H : 476,119,000
TO) D HERIERSUIMERNERIET °

@ HEBFRENMEBNERBERTEESP
BEFBAIMERZER

3.3 WHEMR

MG R T s 5 _ R R R ERE (LT 5| 2
BE  ABEMRBEERERIMNFR ZEERER °

BERRFGZMZRARYBESES - AREERE
REEgRMENRERRZESRESEERT
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B BELRERMEFMRE - LAHEA - 5
B ERREEZSRABRRERARTHERR
FRBMBRHEREZKFEAR - EHATFARER
M BAKBEARRIEFEEEEEE-VE
RRERBREEE  EREBRAREZEGNE
EEFERME -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LA FTh751)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.11Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk
exposure (Continued)

(b)  Industry sectors (Continued)

Note:

(1) Trade finance shown above represents loans covering finance of
imports to Hong Kong, exports and re-exports from Hong Kong
and merchandising trade classified with reference to the relevant
guidelines issued by the HKMA.

Trade finance loans not involving Hong Kong (including trade
finance extended by the overseas subsidiary banks of Dah Sing
Bank, Limited (“DSB”)) totalling HK$306,245,000 (31 December
2017: HK$476,119,000) are classified under Loans for use outside
Hong Kong.

) Loans for use outside Hong Kong include loans extended to
customers located in Hong Kong with the finance used outside
Hong Kong.

3.3 Market risk

Market risk is the risk of losses in assets, liabilities and off-balance

sheet positions arising from movements in market rates and prices.

Market risk exposure for different types of transactions is managed
within various risk limits and guidelines approved by the Board, the
RMCC and the TIRC under the authority delegated from the Board.
Risk limits are set at the portfolio level as well as by products and
by different types of risks. The risk limits comprise a combination
of notional, stop-loss, sensitivity and value-at-risk (“VaR”) controls.
All trading positions are subject to daily mark-to-market valuation.
The Risk Management and Control Department (“RMCD”) within the
GRD, as an independent risk management and control unit, identifies,
measures, monitors and controls the risk exposures against approved
limits and initiates specific actions to ensure positions are managed
within an acceptable level. Any exceptions have to be reviewed and
sanctioned by the appropriate level of management of TIRC, RMCC or
the Board as stipulated in the relevant policies and procedures.
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(FF) THRREE %

ERMERRER AEEERZEER
BRRM DA ET SRR RIEHITHS
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Market risk (Continued)

Banco Comercial de Macau, S.A. (“BCM”) and Dah Sing Bank (China)
Limited (“DSB China”), which are subsidiaries of DSB, run their
treasury functions locally under their own set of limits and policies
and within the overall market risk controls set by DSB. The RMCD of
DSB oversees and controls the market risk arising from the treasury
operations of BCM and DSB China.

The Group applies different risk management policies and procedures
in respect of the market risk arising from its trading and banking
books.

3.8.1 Market risk arising from the trading book

The following descriptions relate to DSB and BCM.

In the Group’s trading book, market risk is associated with trading
positions in foreign exchange, debt securities, equity securities and
derivatives.

(@) Market risk measurement technique

In the management of market risk, the Group measures market
risks using various techniques commonly used by the industry
and control market risk exposures within established risk limits.
The major measurement techniques used to measure and
control market risk are outlined below.

(i) Value at risk

The Group applies a VaR methodology, which is a
statistically based estimate, to measure the potential loss
of its trading portfolio from adverse market movements. It
expresses as the maximum amount the Group might lose
given a certain level of confidence, which for the Group
is 99% for a one day holding period. There is therefore a
specified statistical probability that actual loss could be
greater than the VaR estimate. Hence, the use of VaR does
not prevent losses outside the VaR limits in the event of

extreme market movements.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Si8 3.3 Market risk (Continued)
3.3.1 Market risk arising from the trading book (Continued)

Market risk measurement technique (Continued)

() TEERERE @

15 A b BUEE B R R B A
(MAEBME A —R) BEEAERE
R - MZREREBETMERR 2R
mE - mERARRERBEE—(EEF
BHZ HERRNRE £ EE
SEREETT AR E -

AEEFEZEDBEAARER 2MSE
fREEAR  FHEERTSRERRE
BE 7 BRNE o FrE BRI R iR =
TUHERAREEEASER -

EmiSEREEAAER 2 Ti5RE
EEGIEN—EERE £ RHE
BECZEERMEEERERED
EmSEBSERE RS EESEY
Y WELTEEH - RAREER
ERIGRERRIETISRRREL
ERR R R S LT R o AN
B FREHR S /EE 2 TSR E
EHH{E42,887,000/ 0 (20174 :
2,014,000/ 7T) °

(i) Value at risk (Continued)

The VaR model assumes a certain “holding period” (one
day in the case of the Group) until positions can be closed.
It is calculated based on the current mark-to-market value
of the positions, the historical correlation and volatilities
of the market risk factors over an observation period of
one calendar year using a method known as historical
simulation approach.

The VaR model is continuously validated by back-testing
the VaR results for trading positions. All back-testing
exceptions are investigated and back-testing results are
reported to senior management.

As VaR constitutes an integral part of the Group’s market
risk control regime, VaR limits are established and
reviewed by the Board and its delegated committees
at least annually for all trading positions and allocated
to business units. Actual exposures, including VaR,
are monitored against limits on a daily basis by RMCD.
Average daily VaR for the Group for all trading activities
during the year was HK$2,887,000 (2017: HK$2,014,000).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(@

(b)

BZ2018F12H31H

3.3 Market risk (Continued)

3.3.1 Market risk arising from the trading book (Continued)

Market risk measurement technique (Continued)
(i)  Stress tests

Stress tests provide an indication of the potential size of
losses that could arise in extreme conditions. The stress
tests carried out by RMCD include: risk factor stress
testing, where stress movements are applied to each risk
category; and scenario stress testing, which includes
applying possible stress events to specific positions or
portfolios. Besides, the expected shortfall of the trading
portfolio is measured to evaluate the expected size of
extreme trading loss beyond a specified confidence level
and over a longer holding period. In addition, reverse-
stress tests are performed as a useful tool to evaluate the
maximum size of market stress that the Group can endure
before hitting the prescribed tolerable levels.

The results of the stress tests are reviewed by the Board

and its delegated committees regularly.

VaR summary of trading portfolio

HZE2017F12 A31H

IH12{@A 1E121E A
12 months to 31 December 2018 12 months to 31 December 2017
F 1 &S 543 15 R RIE
Average High Low Average High Low
AN [ fix Foreign exchange risk 2,360 3,170 1,510 1,514 2,781 1,096
RSN Interest rate risk 1,429 3,769 744 1,332 2,259 660
= E All risks 2,887 4,592 1,906 2,014 3,139 1,429
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Market risk (Continued)
3.3.2 Market risk arising from the banking book

In the Group’s banking book, market risk is predominantly associated
with positions in debt and equity securities.

(@)  Market risk measurement technique

Within the risk management framework and policies established
by the Board and its delegated committees, various limits,
guidelines and management action triggers are established to
control the exposures of the Group’s banking book activities
to foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and price risk. In
particular, position and sensitivity limits and price triggers are
in place to control the price risk of the investment securities.
In addition, sensitivity analysis and stress testing (including
reverse-stress testing) covering shocks and shifts in interest
rates on the Group’s on-and off-balance sheet positions
and credit spreads on the Group’s investment securities are
regularly performed to gauge the market risk inherent in the
Group’s banking book portfolios and manage it against the
established control measures.

VaR methodology is not used to measure and control the market
risk of the banking book.

(b)  Sensitivity analysis of non-trading portfolio
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group has limited net foreign exchange exposure
(except for USD, Macau Pataca (“MOP”) and Renminbi
(“RMB”)) as foreign exchange positions and foreign
currency balances arising from customer transactions are
normally matched against other customer transactions or
transactions with the market. Foreign exchange exposure
of the non-trading portfolio in respect of MOP and RMB
arise mainly from the operation of overseas subsidiaries
in Macau and Mainland China. The net exposure positions
including the trading and non-trading portfolios, both by
individual currency and in aggregate, are managed by
the Treasury Division of the Group on a daily basis within
established foreign exchange limits.

Long-term foreign currency funding, to the extent that this
is used to fund Hong Kong dollar assets, or vice versa,
is normally matched using foreign exchange forward
contracts to reduce exposure to foreign exchange risk.
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(LAS¥F7TA1%51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. BXEBERE@m 3.
5 B K ()
332 FHRITRZ H5EE (&)

(Z) HFEEBER MG ZGEESIT
(%)

3.3

(i) SMERR (5

©K2018% 12 5318 » B HibE
HRIF MBI ARKEZ(E 100
EEE - AFEE2RBERF R
#51%4015,000,00078 7T (2017 £ : 1%
7N6,000,000/87T) * FEXERKRE
ARBEEER 2 IMEW R KRN RE A
REBER 2 INEEE -

MR - W T H 2 SUR FF 2

BT ARBHE 100 EEE - AFE
Z BRI s K Agzn iR 2> 15,000,000
7878 (2017 4 : J34>6,000,000 47T ) ©

(-

REBRMBAUGFERBRITERSR
MAEERBERAFNEESE
RZ(EEREFM) ([(EEBERTF
Y ABRMEERERZES—
B gBNBEME - MERERTIH
RGNS MEREHTERE
ARRBE M LIFWNRE 2 B o Fh
REEERRME - MXERAISH
RGNS MEREMT A 2K
EEERBRR - AREFHIRITR
AR R EZ A XEE o Bt
a0 BEFFHEBBMARERNZEHE
BEMEHANEFE R RMER
FMEARTHR -EFEREENR
BEEEZEe ([EENBETES
B ) BLAl BeRE 2 ERTHRERACK
FREBE KB BISEAOTAEN R
ATHEEMNRE o FE -

RIerSEBER AT 2018F F 1)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

3.3 Market risk (Continued)

3.3.2 Market risk arising from the banking book (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis of non-trading portfolio (Continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2018, if HK$ had weakened by 100 basis
points against RMB with all other variables held constant,
the profit after tax for the year and equity would have been
HK$15 million higher (2017: HK$6 million higher), mainly
as a result that the foreign exchange gain on translation of
RMB denominated financial assets outweighed the foreign
exchange losses on translation of RMB denominated
financial liabilities.

Conversely, if HK$ had strengthened by 100 basis points
against RMB with all other variables held constant, the
profit after tax for the year and equity would have been
HK$15 million lower (2017: HK$6 million lower).

(i)  Interest rate risk

The framework adopted by the Group to measure interest
rate risk exposures arising from its banking book positions
is consistent with the guidelines set out by the HKMA in its
Supervisory Policy Manual (“SPM”) on Interest Rate Risk
Management. From an earnings perspective, interest rate
risk is the risk that the net income arising from future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. From an economic value
perspective, interest rate risk is the risk that the economic
value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group takes on
interest rate risk from both perspectives in the banking
book. As such, the interest margins or net interest income
and the economic value of the capital may increase or
decrease as a result of such changes or in the event that
unexpected movements arise. The Board and the Asset
and Liability Management Committee (“ALCQO”) set limits
on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that
may be undertaken and monitor the interest rate impacts
through scenario analysis and stress testing regularly.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LA FThz51)7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Market risk (Continued)
3.3.2 Market risk arising from the banking book (Continued)

(b)  Sensitivity analysis of non-trading portfolio (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2018, if HK$ and US$ market interest
rates had been 200 basis points higher with other
variables held constant, the profit after tax over the next
12 months and the equity would have been HK$17 million
higher (2017: HK$6 million lower) and HK$837 million
lower (2017: HK$975 million lower) respectively.

The method and assumptions used in the above sensitivity
analysis on foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk are on
the same basis for both 2017 and 2018.

In addition to foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk, the
Group’s investments in debt securities and equity securities
are also exposed to other price risks. Consequently, the value
of such investments could change significantly depending on
a variety of factors including liquidity risk, market sentiment
and other events that might affect individual or portfolios of

exposures.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 Market risk (Continued)
3.3.3 Currency risk

The table below summarises the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities as well as off-balance sheet net notional positions and credit
commitments translated into equivalent HK$ amounts, categorised by

currency.
B ESH sk AR¥ Hitr &%
20181278311 At 31 December 2018 HKD usb MOP RMB Others Total
BE Assets
Be RIERTHER Cash and balances with banks 8,058,448 2,355,056 565,141 4,106,518 2,150,236 17,235,399
ERT1E12(HAR Placements with banks maturing
B fales s between one and twelve months 5,790,124 1,200,752 344,512 2,484,508 609,532 10,429,428
HEEERENES Trading securities 7,621,184 - - - - 7,621,184
NATEHEREEE Financial assets at fair value
STABRMERAE through profit or loss 318,593 1,336,641 - 24,336 - 1,679,570
ITESBTA Derivative financial instruments 18,270 698,811 - 650 9,312 727,043
XBEFREER Advances and other accounts 103,020,863 17,347,648 8,720,962 7,077,860 1,537,890 137,705,223
DYNTEREEESERDN Financial assets at fair value through
HzAlhanes2E other comprehensive income 10,876,140 32,927,430 37,112 78,082 385,999 44,304,763
INERRATI RN SREAE Financial assets at amortised cost 926,659 5,814,845 1,940,984 580,297 - 9,262,785
SREESH Total financial assets 136,630,281 61,681,183 11,608,711 14,352,251 4,692,969 228,965,395
8% Liabilities
RITHER Deposits from banks 264,455 3,413,997 - 114,721 4383 3,797,556
fTASRIA Derivative financial instruments 25,519 396,477 = 433 50,844 473,273
FEEERGENERE Trading liabilities 5,758,954 - - - - 5758954
XEEH Deposits from customers 113,184,124 30,017,988 9,603,656 12,523,234 7,080,759 172,409,761
BERTNERE Certificates of deposit issued 5,517,708 1,017,368 = = = 6,535,076
BB Subordinated notes - 5449,082 = = = 5,449,082
H B A kR Other accounts and accruals 7,484,486  1,585027 1,046,015 83,978 42,265 10,241,771
SREEA Total financial liabilities 132,235,246 41,879,939 10,649,671 12,722,366 7,178,251 204,665,473
EEABRAKETE Net on-balance sheet positions 4,395,035 19,801,244 959,040 1,629,885  (2,485282) 24,299,922
BESBRIMERERTFE" Off-balance sheet net notional
positions* 14,210,049  (16,507,108) (158,970) (146,760) 2,723,351 120,562
EEAE Credit commitments 65,328,144 6,936,317 2,135,146 2,249,814 194,683 76,844,104
* BERBBERINFE R FREETZEANBEASE * Off-balance sheet net notional positions represent the net notional
INEZ B E R 2 INESRITET ANEZRF amounts of foreign currency derivative financial instruments which
56 o are principally used to reduce the Group’s exposure to currency

movements.
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(LAS®EF AL/~ ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Market risk (Continued)

3.3.3 Currency risk (Continued)

B e il ARE Hify At
2017512 A318 At 31 December 2017 HKD usb MOP RMB Others Total
BE Assets
Re RERTHER Cash and balances with banks 6,652,891 7,072,499 481,047 4,147,914 460,680 18,815,031
ERT1Z12AR Placements with banks maturing
HIEBaER between one and twelve months 5,171,346 6,412,393 24,272 2,006,667 - 13,614,678
BEEEMENES Trading securities 8,917,222 361,220 - 12 - 9278454
DT E 2 AELE) Financial assets at fair value
SABRENSREE through profit or loss 48,078 1,014,331 - - - 1,062,409
TEERIA Derivative financial instruments 20,104 791,237 - 643 85,983 897,967
XBEFREER Advances and other accounts 94,046,086 17,464,390 7,390,501 7,587,967 1,821,603 128,310,547
A HEES Available-for-sale securities 5,959,954 32,458,687 636 70,953 76,152 38,566,382
BEIBES Held-to-maturity securities TIT4TT 2827713 2,179,817 592,013 45,759 6,362,779
SREEAT Total financial assets 121,533,158 68,402,470 10,076,273 14,406,169 2490177 216,908,247
B Liabilities
FAER Deposits from banks 183,691 1,861,941 - 209174 2,585 2,277,391
fTASRIA Derivative financial instruments 27,637 643,710 - 319 11,118 682,784
HEEERZNEE Trading liabilities 8,668,508 - - - - 8,668,508
REER Deposits from customers 112,570,461 20,199,858 9,062,965 13,082,034 6,166,402 161,081,720
BEINERE Certificates of deposit issued 6,558,602 625,104 - - - 7183706
BEREK Subordinated notes - 5/487,366 - - - 5,487,366
HitfRE LB Other accounts and accruals 5,063,804 1,248,261 1,191,286 350,458 87,019 8,140,828
cRBEAT Total financial liabilities 133,272,703 30,066,240 10,254,251 13,661,985 6,267,124 193,522,303
BEARRAHE TR Net on-balance sheet positions (11,739,545) 38,336,230 (177,978) 744184 (3,776,947) 23,385,944
BEEBRIGREZEFE" Off-balance sheet net notional
positions* 31,647,521 (35,477,687) - 199,668 3,740,525 110,027
[EE&E Credit commitments 69,049,742 4,754,368 665,648 2,056,376 146,596 76,672,730
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Market risk (Continued)
3.3.4 Interest rate risk

The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate
risks. Included in the table are the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual
repricing or maturity dates.

3EANL 1)L
3f8A BE E5E
HHUT Over Over SENE FitE
3 months 3 months 1 year Over  Non-interest it

18512831 A At 31 December 2018 or less to 1 year to 5 years 5 years Bearing Total
&E Assets
BeRERINES Cash and balances with banks 15,625,848 - - - 1,609,551 17,235,399
ERT1Z12EAR Placements with banks maturing between

5| BRER one and twelve months 5,147,918 5,281,510 - - - 10,429,428
BIEBERENES Trading securities 1,684,793 5,715,679 20,712 - - 7,621,184
NWATE2EHED Financial assets at fair value

TABRNEREE through profit or loss 327,483 - - - 1,352,087 1,679,570
fEERIA Derivative financial instruments - - - - 727,043 727,043
BESHRAMERR Advances and other accounts 101,004,650 9,384,711 12,478,745 8,123,154 6,623,963 137,705,223
WATE:E BEEGH AL Financial assets at fair value through

EENRNEREE other comprehensive income 4,679,007 8,395,912 19,632,427 9,090,709 2,506,618 44,304,763
BSU AR S REE Financial assets at amortised cost 1,067,285 2,532,676 5,641,635 7819 13,370 9,262,785
SREEAT Total financial assets 129,827,074 31,310,488 37,773,519 17,221,682 12,832,632 228,965,395
8f Liabilities
GicaLE Deposits from banks 2,072,809 665,536 822,234 - 236,977 3,797,556
fEEBIA Derivative financial instruments - - - - 473,013 473,013
EEERAMER Trading liabilties 4,077,451 1,471,633 9,870 - - 5,758,054
BPEH Deposits from customers 136,531,634 26,268,947 2,784,995 113,866 6,710,319 172,409,761
BETNEE Certificates of deposit issued 4,335,736 1,552,299 647,041 - - 6,535,076
RERR Subordinated notes 1,760,547 - 3,688,535 - - 5,449,082
HthiRA R Other accounts and accruals 15,522 - - - 10,226,249 10,241,771
SREEAT Total financial liabilities 148,993,699 29,958,415 7,952,675 113,866 17,646,818 204,665,473
NESBERAT (REHR) Total interest sensitivity gap (unadjusted)*  (19,166,625) 1,352,073 29,820,844 17,107,816
HEfEIEAN T2 Effect of interest rate derivative contracts 9,601,352 2,062,360 (2,258,058 (9,405,654)
NESRERA (£%) Total interest sensitivity gap (adjusted)* (9,565,273) 3414433 27,562,786 7,702,162
* RECARN EHEEBNREERBBRRRNEEM * Unadjusted interest sensitivity gap is determined based on positions of

BENFRESET - KABNEBREEEA
BURE 2= @R i E AT EV A AT A TEA K8RK
R into to mitigate interest rate risk.

on-balance sheet assets and liabilities. Adjusted interest sensitivity gap
takes into account the effect of interest rate derivative contracts entered

252  KFELREEBRADF 2018FFR



3. BXEBERE@m
3.3 WmiZEE @)

3.34 FIXEEE &)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Market risk (Continued)

3.3.4 Interest rate risk (Continued)

B 5k M ot
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A1%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3EANE 1EE
3{&A E1E E5%
FUT Over Over SENF &
3 months 3 months 1 year Over  Non-interest At

017412318 At 31 December 2017 or less to 1 year to 5 years 5 years Bearing Total
BE Assets
R RERTHEE Cash and balances with banks 17,882,891 - - - 932,140 18,815,031
ERT1E128RR Placements with banks maturing between

B ale ong and twelve months 6,048,545 6,666,133 - - - 13,614,678
BIEEERENES Trading securities 3,162,696 5,662,478 12,380 - 440,900 9,078,454
NATEEAER Financial assets at fair value through

TAERNEHAE profit or loss 324,918 3,939 215,437 - 518,115 1,062,409
fEEBIE Derivative financial instruments - - - - 897,967 897,967
REEFAR AR Advances and other accounts 101,999,949 7,412,185 9,701,725 1,934,467 7262271 128310547
ROERS Available-for-sale securities 5,315,262 3,890,992 21,735,765 7,159,666 464,697 38,566,382
BERHEA Held-to-maturity securities 2,500,814 2,524,265 1,314,252 23448 - 6,362,779
SREAERH Total financial assets 138,135,075 26,159,942 32,979,559 9,117,581 10,516,090 216,908,247
af Liabilties
HkER Deposits from hanks 1,679,038 - 586,035 - 12,318 2,277,391
i Derivative financial instruments - - - - 682,784 682,784
HEEERRMER Trading liabilities 7,198,678 1,449,608 20,222 - - 8,668,508
BFEH Deposits from customers 134,015,049 19,288,144 989,207 - 6,789,320 161,081,720
ERINERE Certificates of deposit issued 4,157 875 1486,218 1,539,613 - - 7,183,706
hEER Subordinated notes - - 5,487,366 - - 5,487,366
HfniA RER Other accounts and accruals - - - - 8,140,828 8,140,828
SEBEA Total financial liabilities 147,050,640 22,223,970 8,622,443 - 15,625,250 193,522,303
HEgRERAG (RIEAZ) Total interest sensitivity gap (unadjusted)* (8,915,565) 3,935,972 24,357,116 9,117,581
MEfTETARHZ®E Effect of interest rate derivative contracts 4,054,355 1,505,421 1,414,431 (6,974,207)
HEHRER A (SHE) Total interest sensitivity gap (adjusted)’ (4,861,210) 5,441,393 25,771,547 2,143,374
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to fund increases in
assets or meet its payment obligations associated with its financial
liabilities when they fall due without incurring unacceptable loss.

3.4.1 Liquidity risk management process

The Group manages its liquidity on a prudent basis with the objective
to comply with the statutory standard and to ensure that there is an
adequate liquidity and funding capacity to meet normal business
operations and to withstand a prolonged period of liquidity stress
of not less than a month. The Group has adopted the Liquidity
Maintenance Ratio (“LMR”) and the Core Funding Ratio (“CFR”)
as a regulatory standard specified by the HKMA for reporting on
the Group’s liquidity position. During the period, the Group had
maintained a sufficiently high LMR well above the statutory minimum
of 25% and a sufficiently high CFR to ensure that the Group can fund
its activities with sufficiently stable sources of funding.

Moreover, the Group has maintained a sound liquidity risk
management framework in accordance with the requirements set
forth in the SPM LM-1 on “Regulatory Framework for Supervision of
Liquidity Risk” and the SPM module LM-2 on “Sound Systems and
Controls for Liquidity Risk Management” revised by the HKMA in July
and November 2016 respectively. The SPM LM-1 is to provide the
approach adopted by the HKMA for supervising and assessing the
liquidity risk of banks while the SPM LM-2 is developed to implement
the liquidity sound principles formulated by the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision (“Basel Committee”) to strengthen the liquidity
risk management standards of banks.



3. BXEBERE@m
3.4 REBESES @
341 REETEEEEESF &)

mBERREREEREEETSHAEZBRRIE

REIE  BUHREASENEERAEEEZE
SEERDMRARER AEENEERAEE
BZEeEfRIAKEZERRERNES R
Bt MEFBRKEIER  UARH— R BRERD
BEAFBLE OB EREIHHERAN 2
mEERERE AR  AREHEERR
EEFEEENRBNMEERE  ARFERTENR
BEENRREBRNAAEMESNTR - BE
MARBESRRPUERRZAEERE  MARE
BREZNAEGAREAFTEREZEREED
R A - TRETTRENIED T RE R - B
ERRRRERARSERRZEERS - XA
BRNERETFTARRE B ER# T KA E SR
BR - BEMBRBERESEEGRZION

AEEREERBEYIZHEARBENE SRR
BRTEPERRAEENES ZEAREN A%
BERBRTERERTHREBENERESH
BREFHREBCEERABEZFY - EARHIN
HERET  TeRNERRTRAEFRKAGIET
B ENHEAEXRSER - AEBTHERITREM S
TERA e

EEREWZTRER 2R MAE MR
BT KRERDHHEEZFERMESERA -
—EHR—EAKRES - WERERNEESTZS
SREERABBEZENEHA - S AKEBER
R ZEeREENAENARIME - TR
HERMEEBEERBERINAR - BRARIE
EAERRAREPIIERERERER) 2B
EITR - RBUEETNRILEENRIERZF
HEMERR - RIRBUEEFTAZEEBRESFE
ERnmEEERRERAREMSRBIE AR
1EARBREN - HEZEHESREREEN
MEARAERETSREME -

B H5 Rk B et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)
3.4.1 Liquidity risk management process (Continued)

Liquidity risk management is governed by the policy and framework
approved by the Board, which delegates to the Group’s ALCO to
oversee liquidity risk management. The ALCO regularly reviews the
Group’s loan and deposit mix and changes, funding requirements and
projections, and monitors a set of liquidity risk metrics, including the
LMR, CFR and maturity mismatch on an ongoing basis. Appropriate
limits or triggers on these risk metrics are set and sufficient liquid
assets are held to ensure that the Group can meet all short-term
funding requirements. The Treasury Division is responsible for the
day-to-day management of funding and liquidity position while
the RMCD is responsible for the measurement and monitoring
of liquidity risk exposures on a daily and monthly basis, and also
conducting liquidity analysis and stress testing. The Financial Control
Division handles regulatory reporting in relation to liquidity risk, and
coordinates the regular forecast of loans and deposits, and LMR,
budget and analysis relating to liquidity and funding management.

The Group places considerable importance to establish a diversified
and stable funding. While customer deposits form the primary portion
of the Group’s funding, certificates of deposit and medium term notes
are issued at opportune time in order to lengthen the funding maturity
and optimise asset and liability maturities. Short-term interbank
deposits are taken on a limited basis with the aim of maintaining the
presence in the market and the Group is a net lender to the interbank

market.

The monitoring and reporting take the forms of cash flow
measurements and projections for different time horizons, including
the next day, week and month, which are key periods for liquidity
management. The starting point for those projections is an analysis
of the contractual maturity of the financial assets and liabilities as
well as the expected maturity of these assets and liabilities based
on historical observations. The cash flow projections also take into
account the historical behaviour of off-balance sheet items, including
undrawn lending commitments and contingent liabilities such as
standby letters of credit and guarantees. A liquidity cushion is held to
withstand unexpected shortfall in net cash flow. Eligible securities in
the cushion are mainly in high credit quality and have sufficient market
depth that can be realised within 1 month. Debt securities held are
marked to the market on daily basis to ensure their market liquidity.
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REB D8

Internal categorisation

BERZRE

Cash to be recognised

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)
3.4.1 Liquidity risk management process (Continued)

EEREL
Eligibility criteria

EEER

Asset classes

FAHL 1EAR
Level 1 Within 1 month
FE2H 1EAR
Level 2 Within 1 month

B ZRERRIOTIMAEEMETZ
BEBES

Debt securities issued by government,

0% K 20% 2 EfpES

0% and 20% risk
multilateral development banks and weighted
public sector entities

LB EBITZERZS EERIRAA-SUAE
Debt securities issued by non-financial Credit rating with A-or

corporate entities above
BN | 22 BT A FR AR Size of the liquidity cushion
(BE8#T)
(in HK$ million)
A& 5 4R Internal categorisation 2018 2017
F1H Level 1 18,920 15,870
B2k Level 2 11,127 10,230
ANEETEHETR RIS - 815 AR TE AR The Group performs stress testing regularly, which includes an

B - — RIS ROt e ME R E 77 AR
ERBUERNERB 2 THERTOEELE
AEBRY —RINBEFERER  BRELOHK
SR RS XA EH )RR ERN R HIRA
BBz ABETHER - AEECHEZSEE
T8l - FFOIEENREN R 2 REE MR EZB N
Tiﬁ?ﬁﬁi\iﬁf\iz%if(@wﬂiﬁ T 9B 19 7 52
FEERERBDERREERECEE) - &
ﬁLﬂ;;ﬁ%-S‘H‘J.?rt&z'J\t¢§@%§§*3*2+¥ULA
BREDAREZREN - REIRZRZWA
FRAETRERE >RTZ£E$7M‘EJEIJFWE '
MAREME=FT2RXFRE - AEEBZHER
ﬂﬁéfbﬁ&xr'\ M T AEREREE AR LA

ENEFRE - AEEZTETARHREZ RIME
8 “’J&ﬂ R AEBEZTETERGAREZR

SNERKIRAEAL - RBAEFHETET AR
SHFZERRLIGES - ERm cEFHREE
ZIEERIRERE

RIerSEBER AT 2018F F 1)

institution-specific crisis scenario, a general market crisis scenario and
a combination of these crisis scenarios in order to assess the potential
impact on its liquidity position under stressed market conditions. The
Group maintains a set of early warning indicators, including qualitative
and quantitative factors and involving both internal and market
indicators that help in identifying any emerging risk at early stage. The
Group has formulated a contingency plan that sets out strategies for
dealing with liquidity problems and the procedures for making up cash
flow deficits (e.g. conducting repo transactions or liquidation of assets
held for liquidity risk management purpose) in emergency situations.
An annual drill test is conducted and the contingency plan is reviewed
at least annually to ensure it remains sound and effective. Intragroup
transactions are conducted on arm’s length basis and are treated the
same way as other third party transactions for the purpose of cash
flow projection under normal scenario. Subsidiaries of the Group are
required to manage their liquidity positions to meet their needs under
both normal and stressed conditions. Most of the Group’s derivative
transactions are exchange rate contracts and interest rate contracts.
Under the terms of our collateral arrangements with derivative
counterparties, collateral movements are not linked with the credit
ratings of the Group.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

342 FRIHZH 3.4.2 Maturity analysis
TR AL B iR #)3| EA H i The table below analyses the Group’s assets and liabilities into
&R AER B (QD@FH)Z%IJ%%,HH(SE fBrEE relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the
BfE - end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date or, where
applicable, the earliest callable date.
1AL 3fEAKL
[E3fEAIUT EE 1E0L
PHEE  1fREAT  Smonthsor Over B5E
Repayable Upto lessbutover Imonths  Over1 year SENE HHA ait
018512531 At 31 December 2018 on demand 1 month 1 month to1year to5years  Over5years Indefinite Total
gE Assets
ReRESARER  Cashand balances with banks 2,835,057 14,400,342 - = = = - 17,235,399
FHT1Z12[EAR Placements with banks maturing
HEhER between one and twelve months - - 5,230,841 5,198,587 - - - 10429428
RIEEEREMES  Trading securities - 44,965 1,830,827 5,715,679 2,713 - - 7,621,184
AT Financial assets at fair value
SABEHEHEE  through profitorloss - 208,732 118,751 - - - 1,352,087 1,679,570
fEERTE Derivative financial instruments - 87,175 48,757 136,351 117,324 337,436 - 727,043
EREARAMEE Advances and other accounts 7,167,138 23,521,821 12,306,513 16,724,530 35,701,699 39,711,836 1,971,680 137,705,223
S8\ Financial assets at fair value through
ZH2ANENEHEE  other comprehensive income - 2,432,105 1,492,047 8,435,173 20,348,111 9,090,709 2,506,618 44,304,763
WESHATIEHEREE Financial assets at amortised cost - 379,556 687,729 2,532,675 5,641,636 7819 13370 9,262,785
N Investment in an associate - - - - - - 3,620,597 3,620,507
LRfEHEERE Investments in jointly controlled
entities - - - - - - 87,691 87,691
EE Goodwill - - - - - - 874,603 874,603
BYEE Intangible assets - - - - - - 80927 80,927
AEREMETEE  Premisesand other fixed assets - - - - - - 2,083,070 2,083,070
REmE Investment properties - - - - - - 1,426,106 1,426,106
S Current income tax assets - - - 4,452 - - - 4,452
ElEiEEE Deferred income tax assets - - - - 158,637 - - 158,637
EEAH Total assets 10602195 41074700 20724465 74T 619088420 49447800 14016749 237301478
af Liabilities
Rt Deposits from banks 241,545 1,207,258 865,493 660,892 822,368 - - 3,797,556
fESMIA Derivative financial instruments - 131,755 63,923 156,670 108,405 12,520 - 473,213
HERERENAR Trading liabilities - 1,457,043 2,820,408 1,471,633 9,870 - - 5,758,954
RFEH Deposits from customers 65,701,227 34,797,006 42,767,725 26,245,002 2,784,935 113,866 - 172,409,761
BEANGHE Certificates of deposit issued - 1,704,221 1,073,732 3,110,082 647,041 - - 6,535,076
kIEEE Subordinated notes - 1,760,548 - - 3,688,534 - - 5,449,082
AR RER Other accounts and accruals 122,588 3,821,489 564,069 1,564,442 1,286,106 1,411,217 1,471,800 10,241,711
MEtEaR Current income tax liabiliies - - - 598,855 - - - 598,855
EithEaE Deferred income tax iabilftes - - - - 44,702 - - 44,702
B8R Total liabilities 66,065,360 44,879,320 48,155,350 33,807,576 9,391,961 1,537,663 1,471,800 205,309,030
EREEEE Net liquidity gap (5463165) (3804618 (6430885 4939871 52506159 7GI013T 12544040 31992448
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)
3.4.2 Maturity analysis (Continued)

1{EANE SEANE

B3EAZNT EE 185k
PeEEE  1ERAMT  3monthsor Over 35%

Repayable Upto  lessbut over Smonths  Over1 year SEE EHERS i
017%12F31H At 31 December 2017 on demand 1 month 1 month to 1 year fo 5 years Over  years Indefinite Total
BE Assets
REREROHER Cash and balances with banks 2,058,846 16,016,007 540,178 - - - - 18,815,031
FEHRTIZ12[EAR  Placements with banks maturing

B between one and twelve months - 97,177 6,841,659 6,675,842 - - - 13,614,678
BEEEEEMES  Trading securiies - 2594763 554,397 5,652,032 36,362 - 440,900 9278454
DATEHEEASS  Financial assets at fair value

SHABZNEREE  through profitorloss - 207,137 117,781 3939 215437 375,187 142,928 1062409
iR Derivative financial instruments - 259,049 164,185 169,303 95,286 210,144 - 897,967
R REMER Advances and other accounts 71523,112 19,106,000 10,837,571 16,609,323 34,584,693 36,516,604 3,133,184 128,310,547
ARHERS Available-for-sale securities - 2,107,988 2,882,169 3,890,992 22,060,871 7,159,666 464,696 38,566,362
REEES Held-to-maturity securities - 1,512,316 988,497 2,524,266 1,314,252 23,448 - 6,362,779
BEATRE Investment in an associate - - - - - - 4,134,651 4134651
AAEHEERE Investments in joinly controlled

entities - - - - - - 81,157 81,157

5 Goodwil - - - - - - 874,603 874,603
BYEE Intangible assets - - - - - - 80,927 80927
TERAMETEE  Premises and other fixed assets - - - - - - 2,156,620 2,156,620
TENE Investment properties - - - - - - 1,219,840 1,219,840
MEtEEE Current income tax assets - - - 137 - - - 137
EtHEAE Deferred income tax assets - = s - 81492 - - 81492
AEA Total assets 9,782,018 41,900,437 22,926,437 35,525,834 58,388,393 44,285,049 12729506 225,537,674
8k Liabiliies
P Deposits from banks 45,977 450,519 1,202,023 - 578,872 - - 2277391
fESRTA Derivative financial instruments - 196,414 150,127 150,604 148,339 37,300 - 662,784
BEEEEENAE  Trading liabiities - 589,376 6,609,302 1,449,608 20,222 - - 8,668,508
RPEH Deposits from customers 67,665,945 32,338,726 40,799,886 19,288,078 989,085 - - 161,081,720
BRSNS Certificates of deposit isstied - 849,938 2,062,267 1,976,889 2,094,612 - - 7,183,706
R Subordinated notes - - - - 5,487,366 - - 5,487,366
AR RER Qther accounts and accruals 163,820 1,963,195 722,868 874,939 626,515 - 3,789,491 8,140,628
kT Current income tax liabifies - - - 459,179 - - - 459,179
EiEhEak Deferred income tax liabifies - - - - 119,789 - - 119,789
EEH Total liabilties 67,875,742 36,388,168 51746473 24199207 10,064,800 37,300 3780491 194,101,271
BRgHER Net liquidty gap (58,093,724) 5512200 (28820036 11326537 48323593 44247749 8040015 31436403
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3. HERKBERE@m 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 HREBELES @ 3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

3.4.2 Z/RH 7T () 3.4.2 Maturity analysis (Continued)
RBEHRBERERARNBEEHEEERLTEARN In respect of certificates of deposit held for investment purpose
BFRRB AR  RENZH BRI Z RISREIR and included in total assets as at the end of the reporting period,
DITFIREAT the relevant balance, analysed based on the remaining period to

contractual maturity is shown as follows:

1AL 3EANL
(ERLEEEDE EE 180

HAEE  1EAIUT  3months or Over E5%
Repayable Upto  lessbut over 3months  Over1 year SENE EIEBRH it
on demand 1 month 1 month to1 year to5years  Over5years Indefinite Total
20185127318 At 31 December 2018
FREBEH: Certificates of deposit held
included in:
AT B2 EHEY Financial assets at fair
FTARBEENE value through other
MemAE comprehensive income - 199,956 - 215,853 13,949 = = 429758
DB EARIAG Rk Financial assets at
SREE amortised cost - 299,895 222,759 409,640 193,838 - - 1,126,132
017412318 At 31 December 2017
FREpan: Certificates of deposit held
included in:

A ERS Available-for-sale securities - - - 1,363,762 - - - 1,363,762
RENEBES Held-to-maturity securities - 100,000 - 499,032 146,881 - - 746,813
& 7 B B EHARR K 2R g0 AR O A0 2 2R 00 S AL 3 &2 The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and
HEEREE+HEE - HRNETHEBRZLER interest rates of assets and liabilities are fundamental to the
T\EEEE’UHHBE&T\W*EEU CHIRITME - TR management of the Group. It is unusual for banks to be completely
REEIERL N iR - TEENFERAIfERE R matched, as businesses transacted are often of uncertain term
AMge Liﬁ@iblﬂgﬂ,ﬂﬁt% o and of different types. An unmatched position potentially enhances

profitability, but also increases the risk of losses.
EENEEMNIHARISGENKNAEREEBHZ The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at
MEBRNEN  ERHEERESES REAF an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as they mature are
EREXSHMAEREBNEERR - important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its

exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.
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AEE-RIEME=STSREFRAHAEAZED
RE&E®  BNERNERERERTARRED
REBESTRELREENSE -BRRZEE
EERIHRKILABABRES - FLARNE
HEEZEEAENARENSNESRARNER
BREREHFK -

343 BEX B HZ RMBERE T

TRIRAEERFENTECR BB EANEE - 07
EeRAERAEZRRMTESRTIAGE 22
B BRBERRZANIPEARARREBEE L
BE - RAFIRZBEAANARMBERER -
MAKEKERFT 2 ARRRRAAR S AEEEHR
MRS E SRR

o MEPTATER : BN ZINEHE - HME
HE  RZMRHINEHHE

e FEATAR: MXEH EHMNXE
K BN HFREE - MR REAM
MEEH K

o ERMITAETAR : A -

o SNEFTETA : EEISNE - SNERE ;
o FIEFTATE  FEBHRRAEEAE

= R
. EEMITETR  EREHIMEH -
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)
3.4.2 Maturity analysis (Continued)

Liquidity requirements to support calls under guarantees and
standby letters of credit are considerably less than the amount of the
commitment because the Group does not generally expect the third
parties to fully draw funds under the agreement. The total outstanding
contractual amount of commitments to extend credit does not
necessarily represent future cash requirements, as many of these

commitments will expire or terminate without being funded.

3.4.3 Undiscounted cash flows by contractual maturities

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Group under
non-derivative financial liabilities, derivative financial liabilities that
will be settled on a net basis and derivative financial instruments that
will be settled on gross basis by remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period. The amounts disclosed in the table
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the Group
manages the inherent liquidity risk based on expected undiscounted
cash inflows.

The Group’s derivatives that normally will be settled on a net basis
include:

o Foreign exchange derivatives: OTC currency options, currency
futures, exchange-traded currency options;

° Interest rate derivatives: interest rate swaps, forward rate
agreements, OTC interest rate options, interest rate futures and
other interest rate contracts; and

° Equity derivatives: equity options.

The Group’s derivatives that will be settled on a gross basis include:

° Foreign exchange derivatives: currency forward, currency
swaps;
° Interest rate derivatives: interest rate swaps and cross currency

interest rate swaps; and
° Credit derivatives: credit default swaps.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

3.4.3 Undiscounted cash flows by contractual maturities

(Continued)
1fEAULE EANRL
BARIUT BE 1H0E
1fAZAT 3 months or Over B5E
Upto less but over 3months  Over 1 year 5N E &5t
201812318 At 31 December 2018 1 month 1 month to 1 year to5years  Over5 years Total
FTETARER Non-derivative cash flow
af Liabilities
ROFH Deposits from banks 1,454,055 872,197 667,035 822,664 = 3,815,951
EFEH Deposits from customers 100,786,666 43,580,975 26,690,849 3,081,414 144,996 174,284,900
FEEERRNER Trading liabilities 1,458,500 2,828,500 1,480,402 10,238 - 5,777,640
BRINGRE Certificates of deposit issued 1,731,200 1,106,699 3,181,665 670,407 = 6,689,971
f&(EfRE Subordinated notes 1,807,667 57,067 141,242 3,944,398 - 5950374
A& fE Other liabilities 3,763,261 466,282 659,678 592,375 159,455 5,641,051
BERE Total liabilities
(R#F1H8A) (contractual maturity dates) 111,001,349 48,911,720 32,820,871 9,121,496 304,451 202,159,887
fIETIRARER Derivative cash flow
BEREETESRTE Derivative financial instruments
settled on net basis 25,953 281,251 1,294,200 968,461 - 2,569,865
ROBEETESRTIE Derivative financial instruments
settled on a gross basis
iojuef e Total outflow 38,074,115 || 12,200,786 || 22,793,990 2,575,916 1,009,851 || 76,654,658
mARE Total inflow (38,011,675) | | (12,101,404) || (22,923,348) || (2,701,086) || (1,052,610) || (76,790,123)
62,440 99,382 (129,358) (125,170) (42,759) (135,465)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

3.4.3 Undiscounted cash flows by contractual maturities

202

(Continued)
1EAMEE  3EAME
3fEAFIAT ZE 1€ML E
1AL T 3 months or Over B5E
Upto less but over 3months  Over 1 year 5ENLE At
2017512A318 At 31 December 2017 1 month 1 month to 1 year to5years  Over 5 years Total
FTETARSR Non-derivative cash flow
AfE Liabilities
RITHFR Deposits from banks 497,583 1,199,612 6,956 585,076 - 2,289,227
EFEH Deposits from customers 100,207,176 41,468,438 19,590,300 1,084,506 - 162,440,420
FEEERRNERE Trading liabilities 589,500 6,619,127 1,455,349 20,283 - 8,684,259
BREINERE Certificates of deposit issued 672,719 2,508,622 2336735 2,160,500 - 7678576
#EREH Subordinated notes 45,637 57,914 186,762 5,939,817 - 6,280,130
A& Other liabilities 1,860,440 403,555 380,986 597,431 47,804 3,290,216
BERE Total liabilities
(BHFHA) (contractual maturity dates) 103,963,055 52,257,268 23,957,088 10,387,613 47,804 190,612,828
TETERER Derivative cash flow
BEREETESRTE Derivative financial instruments
settled on net basis (19,658) (20,383) (26,063) (16,598) (721) (83,423)
REBEETESRTE Derivative financial instruments
settled on a gross basis
o e Total outflow 45,656,870 || 28,890,070 || 12,301,692 2,369,387 728917 || 89,946,936
mARE Total inflow (45,714,184) | | (28,839,295) || (12,331,812) || (2,144,294) (596,160) | | (89,625,745)
(57,314) 50,775 (30,120) 225,093 132,757 321,191
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)
3.4.4 Off-balance sheet items

Included in the table below are the fo